
BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. APO PROSPECTUS 2020 |  1

A D D I T I O N A L 
P U B L I C  O F F E R 
O F  O R D I N A R Y 
S H A R E S  ( A P O )                                              
P R O S P E C T U S

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
S

 L
IM

IT
E

D



2 |  BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. APO PROSPECTUS 2020



BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. APO PROSPECTUS 2020 |  3

I N V I T A T I O N  B Y  P R O S P E C T U S  B Y

Registered Office: 15 St. Lucia Way, Kingston 5
Tel No: 876-926-2681 • Email: questions@barita.com • Website: www.barita.com

of up to 173,733,220 New Ordinary Shares (with the ability to upsize by inviting offers for an additional 
86,866,610 New Ordinary Shares In the capital of Barita Investments Limited (the “Company” or “Barita”)

New Ordinary Shares allotted to each investor pool and subscription price per New Ordinary Share for each 
investor pool

D A T E D  T H E  3 0 T H  D A Y  O F  J U LY  2 0 2 0

INVESTMENTS LIMITED

I N V I T I N G  O F F E R S  F O R  T H E  S U B S C R I P T I O N

A copy of this Prospectus was delivered to the Registrar of Companies for registration pursuant to section 40 (2) 
of the Companies Act and was so registered on the 31st day of July 2020. The Registrar of Companies accepts 
no responsibility whatsoever for the contents of this Prospectus.

A copy of this Prospectus was delivered to the Financial Services Commission for registration pursuant to section 
26 of the Securities Act and was so registered on August 4, 2020. The Financial Services Commission has 
neither approved the issue of this Prospectus nor has the Commission passed upon the accuracy or adequacy 
of this Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence.

The offering is being made in Jamaica as a public offering of securities in accordance with the Companies Act, 
and the Securities Act in each case of Jamaica. These securities may be offered to, purchased or otherwise 
acquired by prospective investors organized or resident in Jamaica without restriction. This offering is not 
being made in any jurisdiction in which the offer to sell these securities to, or a solicitation of an offer to buy 
these securities from, any person would violate the securities or other relevant laws of such jurisdiction. No 
person is authorized to provide information or make any representation whatsoever in connection with this 
Prospectus, which is not contained in this Prospectus.
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Unless stated otherwise, terms used in this Prospectus shall have the meanings attributed to them in 
Section 2 - Definitions of this Prospectus.

Ordinary Shares of the Company are listed on the JSE (as defined herein) and prospective investors are 
invited and encouraged to view all Trade Information relating to the Company published on the JSE’s 
website at www.jamstockex.com.

Investors are also invited to view the 2019 Annual Report for the Company at www.barita.com.

Copies of the Audited Financial Statements for the Company for Financial Year ended September 30, 2019; 
and Unaudited Financial Statements for the Company for the 6-Months ended March 31, 2020 appear in 
this Prospectus as Appendices 2 and 3 respectively.

The signatures of the Directors of the Company appear in Section 20 – Signatures of Directors of the 
Company of this Prospectus. The Directors of the Company are individually and collectively responsible 
for the contents of this Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge and belief of such Directors, the 
information contained in this Prospectus is factually correct and true and no information has been omitted 
that would make any statement in this Prospectus misleading or that is likely to otherwise materially affect 
its interpretation.

This Prospectus is issued by the Company to the public in Jamaica only and is not to be construed as 
making an invitation or offer to persons outside of Jamaica to subscribe for any New Ordinary Shares or 
other securities.

I M P O R T A N T  N O T I C E

T O  P R O S P E C T I V E 

I N V E S T O R S

http://www.jamstockex.com
http://www.barita.com
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The Application Form and instructions for online applications to be used by all Applicants (as defined 
herein) is provided at Appendix 1 of this Prospectus together with notes on how to complete the Form. 
The Invitation will open at 9.00 a.m. on the Opening Date and will close at 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date, 
subject to the right of the Company to: 

(a) close the Invitation at any time after 9:00 a.m. on the Opening Date, once the Invitation is fully subscribed, 
or

(b) extend the period during which the Invitation shall remain open for any reason, provided that such 
period does not extend beyond the expiration of forty (40) days after the publication of this Prospectus 
for the purposes of section 48 of the Companies Act. In the case of the extension of such period or an 
early closing, notice will be posted on the website of the JSE at www.jamstockex.com and the Company’s 
website at www.barita.com.

The below timetable is indicative and will be implemented on a best efforts basis, with the Directors of the 
Company however reserving the right to change the dates that the Invitation opens and closes based on 
market conditions and other relevant factors as determined by the Company, subject always to statutory 
and regulatory obligations.

T I M E T A B L E  O F  T H E 

I N V I T A T I O N  &  K E Y  D A T E S

http://www.jamstockex.com
http://www.barita.com
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DEAR PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS:

Barita Investments Limited empathizes with each of you as we deal with the challenges posed to individuals, 
families, businesses, and the Jamaican community by the COVID 19 pandemic; we hope you are all safe 
and healthy. At the time of this letter, the rate of new cases is on the decline, discussions on the reopening 
of the economy and the tourism sector are gaining traction and so we trust that the worst is now behind us.

Barita as a business continues to successfully navigate the challenges of the pandemic through our 
disciplined approach to risk and liquidity management, a robust business continuity plan, but also on the 
strength of our balance sheet, acknowledging the J$10.3 billion in fresh equity capital raised in 2019 from 
our two successful rights issues and one issuance of preference shares. Our prudence has translated into 
Barita continuing to reflect best in class capital and liquidity ratios as seen in our financial results for the 6- 
Months ended March 31, 2020. Capital to Total Assets stood at 28.2% relative to the regulatory minimum 
of 6.0%, indicative of our significant capacity to withstand the shocks of the COVID 19 pandemic.

While the COVID 19 pandemic created a natural interruption, Barita remains on a promising trajectory of 
growth. The profit outturn for the 6-Months ended March 31, 2020 represents Barita’s highest net profit 
performance for this period in its history. For the 6-Month Financial Year 2020 (“6-Month FY 2020”), the 
Group reported net profits of $1.0 billion which represented a 95.9% increase over net profits of $516.7 
million for the corresponding period ended March 31, 2019 (“6-Month FY 2019”). Net profit for 6-Month FY 
2020 translated to earnings per share (EPS) of $1.24, relative to a restated $0.68 per share for 6-Month 
FY 2019. On a 12-Month trailing basis, net profits of J$2.2 billion were generated, resulting in a return on 
average equity of 19.9%. During the first half of Financial Year 2020 we have seen growth across our core 
business lines, reflecting an expanding customer base, a focus on efficiency and the results of our efforts 
to grow and diversify revenues.

The easing of business activity during the pandemic has afforded us time to diligently assess our success 
and growth over the first half of the Financial Year and we expect to pick up where we left off once restrictions 
on business activities are relaxed. Our successes have led to a recognition that our plans to expand our 
operating capacity, need to be accelerated to ensure that Barita can, without pause, accommodate the 
increasing demand for its products and services and continue on its path of industry leadership. We have 
decided that the timing is right for us to expand our shareholder base and give a wider group of equity 

M E S S A G E  F R O M  T H E  C H A I R M A N 

T O  P R O S P E C T I V E  I N V E S T O R S
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investors the opportunity to participate in the continued profitable growth of the Company, as we seek to 
raise additional capital to increase our operating capacity in alignment with current business performance 
and trajectory.

We are therefore pleased to extend this Invitation to potential new and Existing Shareholders, to 
participate in this exciting growth journey.

Prospective investors are invited and encouraged to view all Trade Information relating to the Company 
published on the JSE’s website at www.jamstockex.com.

HOW TO MAKE AN APPLICATION FOR NEW ORDINARY SHARES

Those investors who are interested in subscribing for New Ordinary Shares should read this Prospectus 
in its entirety inclusive of the Risk Exposures detailed at Section 14, the Trade Information relating to the 
Company published on the JSE’s website and then complete and sign the Application Form set out in the 
Appendices.

Prospective investors are invited and encouraged to view all Trade Information relating to the Company 
published on the JSE’s website at www.jamstockex.com.

Best regards,

_________________________
Mark Myers
Chairman, Barita Investments Limited

http://www.jamstockex.com. 
http://www.jamstockex.com. 
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DISCLAIMER

Neither the JSE, FSC (as defined herein) nor any governmental agency or regulatory authority in Jamaica 
or elsewhere has made any determination on the accuracy or adequacy of this Prospectus.

The Directors of the Company (as defined herein) have collectively reviewed and approved this Prospectus 
and they collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given 
herein and confirm that, having made all reasonable enquiries, and to the best of their knowledge and 
belief:

(a) the information is true and accurate in all material respects and is not misleading in any material 
respect;

(b) any opinions, predictions or intentions expressed herein on the part of the Company are honestly 
held or made and are not deliberately misleading in any material respect;

(c) that insofar as reasonably possible, all proper inquiries have been made to ascertain and to 
      verify the foregoing; and
(d) this Prospectus does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or fail to state a 
      material fact necessary in order to make the statements herein, in light of the circumstances 
      under which they are made, not misleading.

By submitting an Application, each Applicant acknowledges and agrees that:

(a) they have received and have been afforded a meaningful opportunity to review all additional 
information considered by such Applicant to be necessary to verify the accuracy of the information 
contained in this Prospectus;

(b) they have not relied on the Company nor any persons affiliated with the Company or the legal or 
other professional advisor(s) to the Company in connection with their investigation of the accuracy 
of such information or their investment decision; and

(c) no person has been authorized to give information or to make any representation concerning 
the Company or the Invitation comprised in this Prospectus or the New Ordinary Shares as may 
be issued pursuant to this Prospectus or to provide information or to make any representation 
whatsoever in connection with this Prospectus (other than as contained in this Prospectus, and 
information given by duly authorized officers and employees of the Company in connection 
with the Applicant’s verification of the information contained in this Prospectus) and that, if given 
or made, such other information or representation should not be relied upon as having been 
authorized by the Company or any affiliate. 

Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor the offering, sale or allotment of any New Ordinary Shares 
hereunder shall under any circumstances imply that there has been no change in the business, results of 

S E C T I O N  1 :  D I S C L A I M E R  &  A D V I S O R Y  O N  F O R W A R D - L O O K I N G  S T A T E M E N T S
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operations, financial condition or prospects of the Company since the date of this Prospectus.

This Prospectus is not a recommendation by the Company that prospective Applicants should submit 
Applications for New Ordinary Shares. In making an investment decision, prospective Applicants are 
expected to make their own assessment of the Company and the terms of the Invitation herein, including 
the merits and risks involved.

No representation or warranty, expressed or implied, is made by any affiliate of the Company, the 
Arranger or by the legal or other professional advisors to the Arranger or the Company as to the 
accuracy or completeness of the information set forth herein including, without limitation, information 
with respect to the Company and nothing contained in this Prospectus is, or shall be relied upon, as a 
promise or representation by them, whether as to the past or future. The Arranger and their legal and other 
professional advisors have not independently verified any such information and assume no responsibility 
for its accuracy or completeness.

This Prospectus contains summaries believed by the Directors to be accurate with respect to certain 
terms of certain documents, but reference should be made to the actual documents (copies of which will 
be available to prospective Applicants upon request made to the Company) for complete information 
with respect thereto, and all such summaries are qualified in their entirety by such complete information. 
Prospective Applicants are not entitled to rely on parts of information contained in this Prospectus to the 
exclusion of other parts of this Prospectus.

Each prospective Applicant should consult with its own advisors as to the legal, tax, business, financial 
and related aspects of subscribing for the New Ordinary Shares in this Invitation. Notwithstanding the 
inclusion in this Prospectus of such information with respect thereto, which the Directors believe to be 
accurate, neither the Arranger nor their legal or other professional advisors nor the Company, or any of 
their respective representatives, is making any representation or providing any advice to any Applicant or 
any other person regarding legal, tax, business, financial and related aspects of any person’s subscription 
for the New Ordinary Shares in this Invitation. 

This Prospectus is intended for use in Jamaica only, and is not to be construed as extending an invitation to 
persons outside of Jamaica to subscribe for any of the New Ordinary Shares. The distribution or publication 
of this Prospectus and the Invitation for subscription for the New Ordinary Shares outside of Jamaica is 
prohibited by law. The Company requires that anyone who receives this Prospectus shall inform himself/
herself about, and observe, such restrictions. This Prospectus does not constitute, and may not be used for 
or in connection with, any offer to, or solicitation by, anyone in any jurisdiction other than Jamaica.
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ADVISORY ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Save for the historical financial information relating to the Company presented by the Latest Audited 
Accounts, certain material in this Prospectus or referred to herein may contain Forward-Looking Statements 
including, but not limited to, statements of expectations, future plans or future prospects, and financial 
projections. Forward-Looking Statements are statements that are not about historical facts and speak only 
as of the date they are made. Although the Board of Directors of the Company believes that in making 
any such statements its expectations are based on reasonable assumptions, such statements may be 
influenced by factors that could cause actual outcomes and results to be different or materially different 
from those projected. Prospective investors in the Company are cautioned not to place undue reliance 
on these Forward-Looking Statements, which speak only as of the dates on which they have been made. 
Future events or circumstances could cause actual results to differ or differ materially from historical or 
anticipated results.

Forward-Looking Statements are typically identified by words such as “believe”, “expect”, “foresee”, 
“forecast”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate”, “goal”, “plan”, “project” and similar expressions of future or 
conditional verbs such as “will”, “may”, “should”, “could” or “would”. When used in this Prospectus, such 
words and similar expressions, as they relate to the Company and its business, or actual or intended 
business relationships, are intended to identify those Forward-Looking Statements. By their very nature, 
Forward-Looking Statements require the maker thereof to make assumptions and are subject to numerous 
inherent risks and uncertainties, which give rise to the possibility that (i) such predictions, forecasts, 
projections, expectations or conclusions as contained in such statements may not prove to be accurate, (ii) 
these assumptions may not be correct and (iii) these Forward-Looking Statements may not be achieved.

Forward-Looking Statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties. Once this Prospectus has 
been signed by, or on behalf of, the Company, the Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly 
or revise any of the Forward-Looking Statements in light of new information or future events, including 
changes in the Company’s financial or regulatory position, or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated 
events (subject to any legal or regulatory requirements for such disclosure to be made). There are important 
factors that could cause actual results to differ or differ materially from those in the Forward-Looking 
Statements, certain of which are beyond the Company’s control. These factors include, without limitation, 
economic, social and other conditions prevailing both within and outside of Jamaica.

All phases of our business are subject to important uncertainties, risks and other influences, certain of 
which factors are beyond the Company’s control. Any one of these factors, or a combination of them, could 
cause actual results to differ materially from those in Forward-Looking Statements. These factors include, 
without limitation, the following: 

• economic, social and other conditions in any jurisdiction in which the Company may invest or operate, 
including actual rates of economic growth in such economies, local, regional or global instability, 
interest rate or exchange rate volatility;
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• adverse climatic events and natural disasters;

• the Company’s ability to gain access to capital financing at an acceptable cost, or business opportunities 
that meet the Company’s investment criteria;

• changes in regulatory policy adversely affecting the business model expected to be employed by the 
Company;

• any other factor(s) negatively impacting on the realization of the assumptions on which the Company’s 
financial projections are based; and/or

• other factors identified in this Prospectus.

We caution that the foregoing list of risk factors is not exhaustive and other factors not set out above could 
also adversely affect our results. Prospective Applicants should carefully consider the foregoing factors 
and other factors set forth in Section 14 “Risk Exposure” before making an investment decision. When 
relying on our Forward-Looking Statements to make decisions with respect to the Company, Applicants 
and others should carefully consider the foregoing factors and other uncertainties and potential events. 
Once this Prospectus has been signed by or on behalf of the Company, the Company undertakes no 
obligation to update publicly or revise any of the Forward-Looking Statements in light of new information or 
future events, including changes in the Company’s anticipated financial or actual or anticipated regulatory 
position, or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.



BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. APO PROSPECTUS 2020 |  15

S E C T I O N  2 :

D E F I N I T I O N S
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S E C T I O N  2 :  D E F I N I T I O N S
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S E C T I O N  3 :  S U M M A R Y 

O F  K E Y  I N F O R M A T I O N
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The following summary information is derived from and should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified 
in its entirety by, the full text of this Prospectus, including the Appendices and the Trade Information 
published on the JSE’s website.

Potential investors are advised to read carefully this entire Prospectus and the Trade Information published 
on the JSE’s website, before making an investment decision about the transactions herein. Each recipient’s 
attention is specifically drawn to the Disclaimer & Advisory on Forward-Looking Statements in Section 1, 
and the Risk Exposure in Section 14 of this Prospectus for purposes of determining whether or not to apply/
subscribe for any New Ordinary Shares.

If you have any questions arising out of this document or if you require any explanations, you should 
consult your stockbroker, licensed investment advisor, attorney-at-law, accountant or other professional 
advisor.

TABLE 3.1 

S E C T I O N  3 :  S U M M A R Y  O F  K E Y  I N F O R M A T I O N
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TABLE 3.1 CONTINUED
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USE OF PROCEEDS:

The gross proceeds from the Invitation, assuming that it is fully subscribed, will be J$9,000,000,000.00 of 
which approximately J$153,000,000.00 is expected to be used to pay transaction costs. The net proceeds 
from the Invitation is expected to be J$8,847,000,000.00.

The Company is experiencing accelerated client growth and balance sheet; the use of proceeds is to 
enhance our operating capacity and capabilities to accommodate this trend into the future.

The Company intends to use the proceeds from the sale of its New Ordinary Shares for the following:

TABLE 3.1 CONTINUED
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Details on expenses related to this Invitation, which will be paid from the proceeds of the Invitation, are 
contained in Section 16 - Statutory and General Information.

TABLE 3.2
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S E C T I O N  4 :  P R O F E S S I O N A L 

A D V I S O R S  &  S E R V I C E  P R O V I D E R S 

T O  T H E  I N V I T A T I O N
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S E C T I O N  5 :

T H E  I N V I T A T I O N
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The Company invites the public in Jamaica to subscribe for up to 173,733,220 New Ordinary 
Shares in the capital of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of this Prospectus. The 
New Ordinary Shares will, upon issue, rank pari passu in all respect with the Company’s Existing 
Ordinary Shares.

S E C T I O N  5 :  T H E  I N V I T A T I O N
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All the Non-Reserved Shares are priced at the Invitation Price of $52.00 per New Ordinary Share payable 
in full on Application. Each New Ordinary Share forming the Reserved Shares are priced as follows: (i) 
Small Investors’ Pool at J$49.00; (ii) Hotel-workers, Farmers & Civil Servants’ Pool at J$49.75; and (iii) 
Cornerstone Investor, Barita Clients, Existing Shareholders and Key Investors’ Pool at J$52.00. Reserved 
Share Applicants are the persons (referred to herein) who are entitled to subscribe for Reserved Shares. 
The Invitation will be with respect to up to 173,733,220 New Ordinary Shares, but the Directors reserve the 
right to elect to upsize the number of New Ordinary Shares made available for subscription by no more 
than 86,866,610 additional New Ordinary Shares in the event that the Invitation is oversubscribed.

The Reserved Shares are initially reserved for priority Application from and subscription by Reserved 
Share Applicants at the abovementioned prices.

If any of the Reserved Shares comprising any of reserved pools are not fully subscribed for by the Reserved 
Share Applicants comprised within the respective pools (hereinbefore described), such Reserved Shares 
will be allocated, and made available, to the Non-Reserved Share Pool and form part of the New Ordinary 
Shares available for allotment to Non-Reserved Share Applicants at the Price applicable to the Non-
Reserved Share Applicants.

The Application List will open at 9.00 a.m. on August 26, 2020 (the “Opening Date”) and will close on 
September 16, 2020 at 4.00 p.m. or such other date as may be fixed by the Board, (the “Closing Date”) 
subject to the Company’s right to close the Application List at any time without notice, if Applications have 
been received for the full amount of the New Ordinary Shares the subject of the Invitation. Applications are 
due within the period commencing on the Opening Date and ending on the Closing Date.

Subject to the provisions in this Prospectus, the Company reserves the right to extend the period during 
which the Invitation will remain open. Allocations may be on a prorated basis, six (6) days after the Invitation 
is closed, and an announcement will be made informing of the allocation of New Ordinary Shares to 
successful Applicants.

Applications should be made on the original of the Application Form set out at Appendix 1 of this Prospectus 
and can be downloaded from the websites of the JSE at www.jamstockex.com and the Company at www.
barita.com. Applications submitted prior to the Opening Date will be received, but not processed until the 
Opening Date, and will be deemed to have been received at the commencement of the Invitation. 

The Invitation will close at 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date subject to the right of the Company to: (a) close 
the Invitation at any time after it opens at 9:00 a.m. on the Opening Date once the Invitation is fully 
subscribed; or (b) extend the period during which the Invitation will remain open for any reason, provided 
that such period does not extend beyond the expiration of 40 days after the publication of this Prospectus 
for the purposes of section 48 of the Companies Act. In the case of the extension of such period or an early 
closing, notice will be posted on the website of the JSE at www.jamstockex.com and/or on the Company’s 
website at www.barita.com.

http://www.jamstockex.com
http://www.barita.com
http://www.barita.com
http://www.jamstockex.com
http://www.barita.com
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Each Application for New Ordinary Shares must be for a minimum of 300 New Ordinary Shares and 
amounts above this shall be in multiples of 100 New Ordinary Shares. The procedure for applying for New 
Ordinary Shares and the Terms and Conditions of the Invitation are set out in Section 18 of this Prospectus 
and on the Application Form.

Completed Application Forms must be received by 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date. Each Application Form 
must be accompanied/supported by payment for the full amount on subscription by an Approved Payment 
Method and delivered to any one of the locations listed in Appendix 4 of this Prospectus titled “List of 
Locations for Lead Broker & Selling Agents”.

Upon the issue of the New Ordinary Shares, they shall be converted to additional ordinary stock units. It 
is the intention of the Company to apply to the JSE to list the New Ordinary Shares as are issued pursuant 
to this Prospectus on the Main Market of the JSE after the close of the Invitation. However, please note 
that this is a statement of intent and not a guarantee that the New Ordinary Shares will be so listed. The 
Company cannot guarantee that any of the New Ordinary Shares will be admitted to the listing. 

The Committed Subscriber has agreed with the Company and commits to purchase New Ordinary Shares 
in the Invitation in accordance with the Committed Subscription.
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S E C T I O N  6 :  I N F O R M A T I O N 

A B O U T  T H E  C O M PA N Y
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Barita Investments Limited, is a publicly traded company on the JSE, 76.5% owned by Cornerstone 
Financial Holdings Limited (“Cornerstone”). Founded by Rita Humphries-Lewin in 1977, the Company has 
the distinction of being one of the oldest stock-broking companies in Jamaica. The Company is licensed by 
the FSC as a Securities Dealer, is a member dealer of the JSE and is a Primary Dealer and Cambio Dealer 
for the Bank of Jamaica (“BOJ”).

Barita, home of one of Jamaica’s top performing equity funds, has a legacy of excellence, and is recognized 
as established in relation to middle market retail segment products and for Unit Trust performance.

Products and services include:

•  C A M B I O  T R A D I N G

•  F I X E D  I N C O M E  T R A D I N G

•  S T O C K  B R O K E R A G E

•  P O O L E D  F U N D S  M A N A G E M E N T

•  S T R U C T U R E D  P R O D U C T S

•  R E T I R E M E N T  P L A N N I N G

•  W E A LT H  M A N A G E M E N T

•  I N V E S T M E N T  B A N K I N G

Through its subsidiary, Barita Unit Trusts Management Company Limited (“BUTM”), Barita currently offers 
six (6) unit trust products spanning fixed income, equities and real estate.

Barita serves its clients island-wide through its Head Office in Kingston and branches in Mandeville and 
Montego Bay. Barita handles over J$181.0 billion dollars of funds as reported in the Audited Financial 
Statements as at September 30, 2019, with a team of 131 members across its operations island-wide.

S E C T I O N  6 :  I N F O R M A T I O N  A B O U T  T H E  C O M PA N Y
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S E C T I O N  7 :  S H A R E 

C A P I T A L  S T R U C T U R E
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The share capital of the Company is divided as follows:

Shareholdings in the Company as at the date of this Prospectus are as follows:

Shareholdings of Ordinary Shares in the event the Invitation is fully subscribed 
by Applicants will be as follows:

S E C T I O N  7 :  S H A R E  C A P I T A L  S T R U C T U R E
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Shareholdings of Ordinary Shares in the event the Invitation is upsized will be as follows:
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TOP 10 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
As at June 30, 2020 the holders on the register with the ten largest holdings of Existing Ordinary Shares 
are as follows:

(a) Pre-Additional Public Offering
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(b) Proposed holdings post-Additional Public Offering (assuming all New Ordinary Shares are  
      subscribed for in full)
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(c) Proposed holdings post-Additional Public Offering (assuming the Invitation is upsized and all New 
      Ordinary Shares, including after upsizing of the Invitation, are subscribed for in full)
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S E C T I O N  8 : 

D I V I D E N D  P O L I C Y
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The Company believes in paying out a reasonable amount of its earnings to its shareholders while ensuring 
that the Company retains a sufficient amount of its earnings to fund its strategic plans and objectives for its 
future growth and expansion in addition to maintaining robust capital adequacy ratios.

The record of dividends declared and paid on the Company’s Existing Ordinary Shares is as follows 
(information for financial years 2014-2019 is in respect of the ordinary shares of the Company):

S E C T I O N  8 :  D I V I D E N D  P O L I C Y
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S E C T I O N  9 :  T H E  B O A R D  O F 

D I R E C T O R S  O F  T H E  C O M PA N Y
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M A R K  M Y E R S ,  C H A I R M A N 
An astute businessman, Mark is the Managing Director of Restaurants 
of Jamaica Ltd. Mark holds a B.Sc. degree in Operations, Transportation 
and Distribution Management from Syracuse University’s School 
of Management. A believer in contributing to the development of 
his country, he has served on several boards to include the Bank 
of Jamaica, Jamaica Trade and Investment Ltd. and the Jamaica 
Observer Ltd.

PA U L  S I M P S O N ,  D E P U T Y  C H A I R M A N 
Paul is the Founder, President and CEO of Cornerstone. He is an 
Investment Banker with over 13 years’ experience having worked in the 
Caribbean, the United States and Europe in various roles. He holds a 
double major in Computer Science and Geology and an MBA from the 
University of the West Indies. He has served on various government, 
private and charity boards including the Youth Arm of UNESCO, YMCA 
and the Jamaica Tourist Board where he was the Chairman of the 
Finance and Audit Committee.

J A M E S  G O D F R E Y,  D I R E C T O R 
James is the Co-Founder and Managing Director of S&G Road Surfacing 
Materials Ltd. With over 30 years entrepreneurial experience, James 
has built the entity into one of Jamaica’s leading asphalt manufacturing 
and road work solutions companies. Since its inception, S&G Road 
Surfacing Materials Ltd.’s portfolio of completed projects includes 
parking lots, driveways, multipurpose courts, roadways, roundabouts 
and related infrastructure projects in partnership with the National 
Works Agency, Gore Development Ltd. and China Harbour Engineering 
Corporation.

D U N C A N  S T E W A R T,  D I R E C T O R  |  C H A I R M A N  - 
I N V E S T M E N T  C O M M I T T E E 
Duncan is the General Manager of Stewart’s Motors Ltd. and he is also 
involved in leading related family businesses, Stewart’s Auto Sales 
Ltd. and its affiliated companies, Stewart’s Auto Paints Ltd., Tropic 
Island Trading Company Ltd. and Silver Star Motors Ltd. Duncan is 
also a director of the Automobile Dealers Association and the Richard 
and Diana Stewart Foundation. Currently, he is a sponsor of the family 
charity, Kind Hearts, which is run by his children and their cousins.

S E C T I O N  9 :  T H E  B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S  O F  T H E  C O M PA N Y
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C A R L  D O M V I L L E ,  D I R E C T O R  |  C H A I R M A N  - 
A U D I T  C O M M I T T E E 
Carl is the former Chief Operating Officer and Group Treasurer of the 
Seprod Group of Companies. A Chartered Accountant, he currently 
serves as a Director of Radio Jamaica Ltd. (RJR); Chairman of The 
Gleaner Company Ltd. and is also a Trustee of the Seprod et al 
Superannuation Scheme. He is also a former President of the Jamaica 
Cooperative Credit Union League Ltd.

P H I L L I P  L E E ,  D I R E C T O R
Phillip is Group Managing Director for the companies owned and 
operated by the Lee family. These include Labels & Boxes Ltd. and 
Rotoflex Jamaica Ltd. which are the leading manufacturers of labels 
and packaging materials in Jamaica. Phillip has over 30 years of 
experience in the industry and his companies supply many of the largest 
Jamaican manufacturers, including GraceKennedy Ltd., Red Stripe 
and Salada Foods Jamaica Ltd. He has been involved in numerous 
successful packaging projects for these companies and continues to 
be consulted by the owners of major brands for his expertise.

J A S O N  C H A M B E R S ,  D I R E C T O R 
Jason has over 18 years of experience, spanning the range of 
securities trading, investment and treasury management, corporate 
finance, and corporate banking. Most recently, Jason held the position 
of Vice President of Investment Management at the GK Capital 
Management Ltd., a member of the GraceKennedy Group. Jason also 
headed the Corporate Banking Unit within First Global Bank Ltd. and 
was also a member of the senior management teams of the securities 
dealing subsidiaries of Guardian Holdings. Jason is a graduate of the 
University of the West Indies, where he obtained degrees in Economics 
and Business Administration.

M A T T H E W  H O G A R T H ,  D I R E C T O R
Matthew is a Partner at MH&CO, a law firm specializing in the areas 
of banking, finance, mergers and acquisitions, corporate structuring 
and governance, taxation, trusts, real estate and business advisory. 
He has over 16 years of legal experience and brings significant 
expertise in corporate governance given his current roles as Chairman 
of the Corporate Governance Committees of both the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange Ltd. and Carreras Ltd. Matthew is called to the Bar in New 
York, Jamaica, the BVI, Barbados, and Saint Lucia.
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R O B E R T  D R U M M O N D ,  D I R E C T O R
Robert is a business executive and management consultant with over 
30 years of experience leading and advising organizations through 
major strategic transformations. He has held executive appointments 
at prominent companies in Jamaica and the US, including First Global 
Financial Services Limited, NIKE, American Express and ITT Sheraton. 
As a strategy implementation specialist, he has contributed significantly 
through his research and publications including “Managing Resistance 
to Change” and “Organizational Turnarounds”. He holds an MBA from 
Harvard Business School.

R I T A  H U M P H R I E S - L E W I N ,  D I R E C T O R
Rita has over 45 years’ experience in financial services and is the 
Founder and Former Chairman of Barita. The 1st female Chairman 
of a stock exchange in the Caribbean, she led the JSE in 1984 and 
again in 1995-2000. She spearheaded the establishment of the JCSD 
in 1998 and the development of electronic trading on the JSE in 2000. 
For her contribution to the financial industry she received The Order 
of Distinction Commander by the Government of Jamaica. She was 
honoured with a Doctor of Education in Leadership by Mico University 
and won the Business Lifetime Achievement Award at the Gleaner 
Honour Awards in 2016.
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S E C T I O N  1 0 :  T H E  M A N A G E M E N T 

O F  T H E  C O M PA N Y
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W E L D O N  M A D D A N  C F A ,  C H I E F  O P E R A T I N G  O F F I C E R
Weldon has over 18 years of banking experience at senior executive 
levels with Citigroup with assignments in Canada, UK and Poland. He 
has held CFO responsibilities for Online Marketing, Citi Partners and 
the Customer Contact Leveraging business units at Citi Cards. His 
work experience spans marketing, risk and operations. He is a former 
Secretary for the Jamaica Bankers Association and former Chairman of 
the Jamaica Institute of Financial Services. Weldon received a B.Sc. in 
Engineering from Boston University, an MBA in Finance from Columbia 
Business School and earned his Chartered Financial Analyst designation 
in 2007.

G A V I N  J O R D A N ,  C H I E F  F I N A N C I A L  O F F I C E R
Prior to Cornerstone, Gavin was the CFO for GraceKennedy Foods 
(USA) and Divisional CFO, GK Foods. Gavin was also Finance Director 
and Company Secretary of Carreras and CFO of First Global Bank Ltd, 
where he was ultimately responsible for the day to day operations of 
the accounting and financial reporting functions. Gavin holds a B.Sc. in 
Accounting and Economics from the University of the West Indies, an 
MSc. in Financial Management from the University of London, and is also 
a CPA. He is a member of the American Institute of the Certified Public 
Accountants and the Colorado State Board of Accountancy.

E X E C U T I V E  S U P P O R T  F R O M  T H E  PA R E N T  C O M PA N Y  ( C O R N E R S T O N E 

U N I T E D  H O L D I N G S  J A M A I C A  L I M I T E D )

S E C T I O N  1 0 :  T H E  M A N A G E M E N T  O F  T H E  C O M PA N Y

J A S O N  C H A M B E R S ,  C H I E F  I N V E S T M E N T  O F F I C E R 
Jason has over 18 years of experience, spanning the range of 
securities trading, investment and treasury management, corporate 
finance, and corporate banking. Most recently, Jason held the position 
of Vice President of Investment Management at the GK Capital 
Management Ltd., a member of the GraceKennedy Group. Jason also 
headed the Corporate Banking Unit within First Global Bank Ltd. and 
was also a member of the senior management teams of the securities 
dealing subsidiaries of Guardian Holdings. Jason is a graduate of the 
University of the West Indies, where he obtained degrees in Economics 
and Business Administration.
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D A N E  B R O D B E R ,  C F A ,  C A I A ,  F R M ,  M B A , 
C H I E F  R I S K  O F F I C E R 
Dane has over 16 years of experience in the financial industry with 
extensive experience in Market Risk, Strategy and Business Intelligence. 
Dane was Regional Director, Market Risk Management at Scotiabank, with 
responsibility for the governance of market risk exposures throughout 
the English-Speaking Caribbean. Dane earned undergraduate degrees 
in Mechanical Engineering and Economics & Business from Lafayette 
College and an MBA from the University of New Orleans. He earned the 
CFA Charter in 2006, the Financial Risk Manager designation in 2007, 
and the Chartered Alternative Investments Analyst designation in 2019.

M A L I N D O  W A L L A C E ,  G R O U P  L E G A L  C O U N S E L  & 
C H I E F  C O M P L I A N C E  O F F I C E R
Prior to joining Cornerstone, Malindo held several key roles at 
GraceKennedy Ltd., including Legal Officer (Group), Senior Manager, 
Treasury and Corporate Finance, and Treasury Manager before 
that. She is credited with the establishment of the Asset and Liability 
Committee for GraceKennedy Ltd. in 2010. Prior to that, Malindo was at 
UDC as Investment Manager and spent four years with Capital Options 
Limited as Corporate Finance Manager. Malindo has extensive banking 
experience with NCB as well as Capital and Credit Merchant Bank. 
Malindo holds a B.Sc. in Management and Accounts from the U.W.I 
and an M.B.A. in Finance from Manchester Business School. She also 
attained her Bachelor of Law from the University of London and her 
Legal Education Certificate from the Norman Manley Law School.

PA U L A  B A R C L A Y,  G E N E R A L  M A N A G E R
Prior to joining Cornerstone, Paula held several roles at the 
GraceKennedy Group including, Group Treasurer Managing Director 
of First Global Leasing as well as General Manager, Chief Credit Risk 
Officer, SVP for Personal and Business Banking and VP of Corporate 
Banking at First Global Bank. At First Global Financial Services Ltd. 
she served in the capacity of VP for Pension Fund Management and 
VP for Business Development. She also served on various boards and 
committees at the GraceKennedy Group. Paula holds an MBA from 
Barry University and has completed The Leadership Journey at The 
Wharton Business School.

T H E  B A R I T A  L E A D E R S H I P  T E A M
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S O N I A  O W E N S ,  H E A D  -  T R E A S U R Y  A N D 
F I N A N C I A L  I N S T I T U T I O N S
Sonia joined Barita Investments in 1984 and held several positions over 
the years including Trading and Investments Manager, culminating in her 
most recent promotion to Head, Treasury & Financial Institutions. She 
holds a B.Sc. in Banking and Finance from the University of the West 
Indies, has attended several professional training courses with JIM, JIB, 
Cl Financial and Euro Finance and has completed an MBA at Edinburgh 
Business School.

M I C H E L E  M C R A E ,  H E A D  -  I N F O R M A T I O N 
T E C H N O L O G Y 
Michele joined Barita Investments Ltd. in 1992 as a Systems & Software 
Consultant. In November 2013, she was appointed as Manager of 
Software Development. Michele holds a B.Sc. in Management Studies 
from the University of the West Indies and a Master of Science Degree in 
Computer Based Management & Information Systems.

A N M A R I E  W A L K E R  C A T O ,  G R O U P  F I N A N C I A L 
C O N T R O L L E R
Anmarie has spent much of her life cultivating expertise across multiple 
areas of finance and accounting. Today she stands as our Group Financial 
Controller, having also held the positions of Assistant Vice President, 
Finance at Proven Wealth Limited, Senior Manager – Financial Control 
at First Global Bank Limited (FGB) and so many more. A highly-qualified 
businesswoman, Annmarie holds a B.Sc. in Accounting and Management 
Studies from UWI, an MBA from Florida International University (FIU) and 
is an ACCA-certified Chartered Accountant.

R A M O N  S M A L L - F E R G U S O N ,  V I C E  P R E S I D E N T  - 
A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  &  R E S E A R C H 
Ramon joined Cornerstone from the Jamaica National Group where 
he was Chief Investment Strategist and Head of Research at the 
Group’s investment subsidiary. His professional background spans the 
areas of Investment Research, Treasury & Portfolio Management and 
Investment Banking. Ramon has earned Chartered Financial Analyst 
(CFA®), Chartered Alternative Investment Analyst (CAIA), and Certified 
Financial Risk Manager (FRM®) designations, He also holds a Bachelor 
of Business Administration (BBA), Finance & Marketing (Hons) from the 
University of Technology, Jamaica.
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S T E P H A N I E  M U R D O C K ,  S E N I O R  H U M A N 
R E S O U R C E S  E X E C U T I V E 
Stephanie joins us from the National Export Import Bank of Jamaica Ltd 
where she was General Manager, Corporate Services with responsibility 
for HR, Administration, Procurement and IT. She was the Director, HR 
Management at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs & Foreign Trade. With 20 
years’ experience in the areas of HR, Change Management, Leadership 
Development and Industrial Relations, Stephanie pursued undergraduate 
& graduate degrees at the University of the West Indies and Post Graduate 
Certification in Public Policy from Peking University, China. She also has 
the Project Management Professional (PMP) designation.

J U D I T H  N A J A I R ,  V I C E  P R E S I D E N T  -  O P E R A T I O N S
Prior to joining Cornerstone Group, Judith spent 9 years with CIBC 
First Caribbean International Bank serving in the regional capacities 
of Senior Manager Payments & Trade Services and Manager Treasury 
Operations. Prior to that she held several roles at NCB Capital 
Markets which included Regional Manager – Distribution & Wealth 
Management, Regional Manager – Client Relations, Customer Service 
Manager and Operations Manager. Judith’s experience also includes 
Mayberry Investments Ltd. in the capacity of Financial Analyst; She 
holds an (EMBA) from the University of the West Indies (UWI) and a 
B.Sc.

T E R I S E  K E T T L E ,  V I C E  P R E S I D E N T -  I N V E S T M E N T 
B A N K I N G
Terise joined Barita from Sagicor Bank Jamaica Ltd. where she held 
the position of AVP – Corporate Banking and has over 13 years of 
experience in banking. During her tenure at Sagicor, she led several 
syndicated transactions including the largest syndicated transaction 
in Jamaica in 2017. She started her career as an external auditor at 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Terise holds an MBA specializing in Banking 
and Finance from the University of the West Indies and a B.Sc. in 
Management Studies and Accounting. She has also completed several 
post graduate certifications including Project Management, Portfolio 
Management, Credit Risk Management, and Complex Accounting for 
Corporations.
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S E C T I O N  1 1 :

A U D I T O R ’ S  R E P O R T
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Prospective investors are invited to view the Latest Audited Financial Statements, for the Auditor’s Report on 
the website of the Jamaica Stock Exchange at www.jamstockex.com and at Appendix 2 herein.

S E C T I O N  1 1 :  A U D I T O R ’ S  R E P O R T

http://www.jamstockex.com
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S E C T I O N  1 2 :  P R E S E N T A T I O N  O F 

C U R R E N T  &  H I S T O R I C A L  F I N A N C I A L 

D A T A
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The Company’s Latest Audited Accounts and Latest Unaudited Accounts for the 6-Months ended March 
31, 2020 are annexed in Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 respectively. Additionally, prospective Investors may 
also view the Latest Audited Accounts and the Latest Unaudited Accounts for the 6-Months ended March 
31, 2020 concerning the Company on the website of the Jamaica Stock Exchange at www.jamstockex.
com. This Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with the unaudited consolidated financial statements 
for the Company for the 9-Months ended June 30th, 2020, which are soon to be published on or around 
August 15, 2020.

The following is a presentation of the key financial data (in JMD) for the Company for each financial year 
in the 5-Year period September 30, 2015 to September 30, 2019.

S E C T I O N  1 2 :  P R E S E N T A T I O N  O F  C U R R E N T  &  H I S T O R I C A L  6 - M O N T H S 
F I N A N C I A L  D A T A

http://www.jamstockex.com
http://www.jamstockex.com
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A U D I T E D  K E Y  F I N A N C I A L  D A T A  F O R  T H E  5 -Y E A R  P E R I O D  S E P T E M B E R  3 0 , 
2 0 1 5  T O  S E P T E M B E R  3 0 ,  2 0 1 9
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S E C T I O N  1 3 :  M A N A G E M E N T 

D I S C U S S I O N  &  A N A LY S I S
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I N T R O D U C T I O N
COVID 19 is likely to remain the dominant theme throughout 2020 and possibly into 2021 because of the 
economic implications from the curtailment measures implemented to contain the spread of the virus. In the 
intervening period until a vaccine or a credible treatment is found, social distancing measures of varying 
degrees will likely remain in place, thereby limiting the return to full potential in some economic sectors 
such as tourism, leisure and hospitality. Our expectation is that many new and innovative services will 
emerge to circumvent the limitations imposed by social distancing and consequently changing the logic of 
economic enterprise into a ‘new normal’. Our view is that given the unprecedented global monetary and 
fiscal policy measures internationally, and Jamaica’s fairly strong economic context entering this crisis, 
opportunities will arise for companies that are well capitalized and have the experienced management 
acumen to execute on opportunities that will arise in the ‘new normal’. 

M A R K E T  R E V I E W
COVID 19 has disrupted both global and local financial markets since the first cluster of infections were 
announced in China in December 20191, and the first reported infection in the USA in January 20202. 
Coming into January 2020, the Chicago Board Options Exchange (CBOE) Volatility Index (VIX) was at a 
low of 14 and remained at that low level up to late February, when the market started to pick up on the 
fears of COVID 19 after the first case was reported in the USA. By March 16th the VIX peaked at 82.69, 
which was the highest value in the history of the index, thereby exceeding the previous peak value of 
80.7% that was reported during the 2008 Great Recession.3 The heightened fear in the markets coincided 
with a major “sell-off” in the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index (S&P 500) on March 23rd: The S&P 500 sold 
down to 2237, from its peak of 3257 coming into 2020, thereby representing a 31.3% reduction.4 The Dow 
Jones Industrial Average (DJIA) was similarly impacted, having declined from its January 2020 peak by 
35.6% to the March 23rd low.5 While a fair amount of uncertainty remains in respect of COVID 19, that is, 
whether a new wave of infections could arise that may induce further lockdown measures, both the S&P 
500 and DJIA have pared their losses from the March 23rd lows; both are now down year to date (July 
17th), -0.19% and -7.60% respectively.6 

1 Source: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/situation-reports/20200121-sitrep-1-2019-ncov.pdf?sfvrsn=20a99c10_4

2 Source: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6922e1.htm

3 Source: https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/VIXCLS

4 Source: https://www.wsj.com/market-data/quotes/index/SPX/advanced-chart

5 Source: https://www.wsj.com/market-data/quotes/index/SPX/advanced-chart

6 Source: https://www.wsj.com/market-data/quotes/index/DJIA

S E C T I O N  1 3 :  M A N A G E M E N T  D I S C U S S I O N  &  A N A LY S I S
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The recovery in risky asset markets is largely attributable to the broad range of fiscal and monetary policy 
measures that were introduced globally to help both households and businesses survive the economic 
fallout.7 The US Federal Reserve (FED) and US Treasury measures have reduced the volatility in the market 
as evidenced by the VIX: the VIX has been on a steady downward trajectory since the peak in March 
2020, currently at 25.68 (July 17th 2020) but still at just below twice its level in January 2020.8

COVID 19 has also caused record unemployment in the USA because of the engineered shutdown of 
the economy. At the peak of the crisis more than 30 million Americans were without jobs, temporarily 
or permanently.9 Those job losses have been mainly in the travel, leisure, hospitality and restaurant 
industries.10 The policy responses globally to the labour market and broader economic crisis were swift 
and broad: Germany is spending almost 13.3% of 2019 GDP, the USA is spending over 9.1% of 2019 GDP 
and the United Kingdom is spending 4.8% of 2019 GDP, to help their economies to rebound from the 
COVID 19 induced crisis.11 The US appears to be reaping some success from these measures, including 
the Paycheck Protection Program which have resulted in the unemployment rate declining to 11.1% in June, 
down from 13.3% in May, although still 7.4% higher than the June 2019 unemployment figures.12 

Locally, the Jamaican Government is spending in excess of J$25 billion to help businesses and displaced 
employees.13 Notwithstanding, COVID 19 is expected to cost the Government over J$120 billion in revenues 
or just over 5.1% of GDP14; the International Monetary Fund’s (IMF) forecast is a 5.6% contraction in GDP for 
2020 and a 3.2% rebound in 2021.15 For 2020, we anticipate that inflation could be recorded closer to the 
upper bound of the BOJ’s targeted 4 – 6% range.16 

F I X E D  I N C O M E  M A R K E T
To combat the effects of COVID 19, monetary policy is expected to remain accommodative. That is, interest 
rates are expected to remain close to zero both in Jamaica and in the USA until the Central Banks of 
both countries are convinced that the economic risks from COVID 19 are under control. The only caveat, 
however, is whether the disruptions and displacement that COVID 19 has caused will lead to some short-
term inflation spike that could result in an increase in interest rates.17  

7 Source: Capital Economics (April 2020): “We Think the Recovery in Risky Assets has Further to Go” 

                       https://research.cdn-1.capitaleconomics.com/c742a1/we-think-the-recovery-in-risky-assets-has-further-to-go.pdf

8 Source: https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/VIXCLS

9 Source: https://www.politico.com/news/2020/04/30/coronavirus-unemployment-claims-numbers-225603

10 Source: https://www.bls.gov/

11 Source: https://www.bruegel.org/publications/datasets/covid-national-dataset/

12 Source: https://www.bruegel.org/publications/datasets/covid-national-dataset/

13 Source: https://mof.gov.jm/mof-media/media-centre/press/2633-fiscal-stimulus-response-to-the-covid-19.html

14 Source: http://jamaica-gleaner.com/article/news/20200513/big-budget-cuts-finance-minister-tables-revised-estimates-amid-covid-crunch

15 Source: https://www.imf.org/en/Countries/JAM

16 Source: Barita Investments Limited

17 Source: Barita Investments Limited

https://research.cdn-1.capitaleconomics.com/c742a1/we-think-the-recovery-in-risky-assets-has-further
https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/VIXCLS
https://www.politico.com/news/2020/04/30/coronavirus-unemployment-claims-numbers-225603
https://www.bls.gov/
https://www.bruegel.org/publications/datasets/covid-national-dataset/
https://www.bruegel.org/publications/datasets/covid-national-dataset/
https://mof.gov.jm/mof-media/media-centre/press/2633-fiscal-stimulus-response-to-the-covid-19.html
http://jamaica-gleaner.com/article/news/20200513/big-budget-cuts-finance-minister-tables-revised-est
https://www.imf.org/en/Countries/JAM
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Interest rates have remained stable despite the disruptions in the market to date. The 90-day T-Bill average 
yield in January 2020 was 1.25%, and that has fallen to 1.09% in July 2020; similarly, the 180-day T-Bill 
rate was 1.45% in January 2020 and that is now 1.22% in July 2020.18

The JAMANS also featured in the “sell-off” of emerging market debt: at the height of the panic in March, 
the JAMAN 2028s and 2045s bid yields were at 7.48% and 8.45%, respectively; those yields have fallen 
off significantly; currently, the JAMAN 2028 trades at a bid yield of 4.07% and the JAMAN 2045s at 5.70%, 
as at July 17th. As the fiscal situation improves globally, particularly in emerging markets, and general 
global economic conditions improve, then going forward bond yields are likely to come down further as 
international investors become less fearful of emerging markets debt. We could therefore see some further 
price appreciation.19

F O R E I G N  E X C H A N G E  M A R K E T
The sudden stop in inflows of USD from tourism and to a lesser extent remittances, because of the COVID 
19 containment measures, have led to some pressure on the JMD. Since January 2020, the JMD has 
depreciated by 10.2% relative to the USD. Despite the slide in the exchange rate, the BOJ remains consistent 
with its philosophy that the exchange rate must be market determined. It must also be noted that net 
international reserves (NIR) remain at record highs at US$2.94 billion, or the equivalent of 38.15 weeks 
of goods and services imports. Therefore, the slide in the exchange rate doesn’t reflect an inadequate 
amount of USD that are potentially available to the Jamaican market.20

The BOJ also introduced a swap facility to help with price discovery and ‘smoothing’ in the foreign 
exchange (FX) rate, by reducing unnecessary volatility through the contractual assurance that FX will 
be available at specified contract future dates. As at July 17, 2020 US$73 million was outstanding under 
the FX Swap Arrangement.21 Our expectation is that as the local financial markets deepen this facility 
will evolve to include more participants and possibly larger contract sizes, thereby contributing to more 
stability in the FX rate. 

L O C A L  E Q U I T I E S
As at July 17, 2020 the JSE main index was down by 26.3%, which contrasts with other markets 
internationally, including the S&P 500 and DJIA, which have retraced almost all their losses.22 The decline 
in the main index is on average daily volume of approximately 32.8 million units, year to date.23 To put that 
into perspective, the average daily volume on the JSE main index in 2019 was 7.69 million, which means 
that 4.2 times more volume of stocks continue to be traded on the JSE in 2020.24  

18 Source: Bank of Jamaica

19 Source: Barita Investments Limited Internal Research

20 Source: Bank of Jamaica

21 Source: Bank of Jamaica

22 Source: https://www.jamstockex.com/

23 Source: https://www.jamstockex.com/

24 Source: https://www.jamstockex.com/

https://www.jamstockex.com/
https://www.jamstockex.com/
https://www.jamstockex.com/
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What is also interesting to note is that during March 2020, when a significant amount of panic selling took 
place, there were 23,501 transactions with a total volume of 1.08 billion on the JSE, compared to 5,678 with 
a volume of 290 million in March 2019.25 Yet, the value of transactions in March 2020 was J$6.4 billion, 
compared to J$6.2 billion in March 2019.26 This suggests that much of the sell-off was among retail clients, 
which implies institutional support remains for local equities.27

The institutional support for local equities could be interpreted as the local asset managers finding the 
ongoing economic reform measures to be credible and Jamaica’s current economic position relatively 
strong to withstand and recover from the COVID 19 induced crisis. Notwithstanding, our expectation is 
for 2020 to be a down year for businesses locally given that tourism is likely to resume at below normal 
operating levels and internationally, consumer demand might remain weak. Those factors will limit 
possible earnings from exports and remittance inflows.28 Consequently, the GOJ’s successful application 
for the IMF’s Rapid Financing Instrument of US$520 million, the current record levels of NIR, the GOJ’s 
ability to find fiscal resources to spend on COVID 19 within the existing budget (albeit at the expense 
of reduced capital expenditures) may provide some reassurance to asset managers that Jamaica may 
rebound stronger than in previous crises.29 We also must note that the debt/GDP ratio was under 90% 
relative to the 2007-2009 crisis when it was close to 130% which allows the Government more policy 
space and fiscal resources to manage the economic fallout from COVID 19, which it otherwise never had 
in the 2007/2009 global financial recession.30 Against this background, opportunities may arise among 
strong companies locally that have the capitalization to get through this crisis period. 

B A R I T A’ S  F I N A N C I A L  P E R F O R M A N C E
For 6-Month FY 2020, the Group reported net profits of $1.0 billion which represented a 95.9% increase 
over net profits of $516.7 million for the corresponding period ended March 31, 2019. The profit outturn for 
6-Month FY 2020 also represents Barita’s highest net profit performance for this period in its history. Net 
profit for 6-Month FY 2020 translated to earnings per share (EPS) of $1.24, relative to a restated $0.68 
per share for 6-Month FY 2019. On a 12 months’ trailing basis, net profits of J$2.2 billion were generated, 
resulting in a return on average equity of 19.9%.

For the last several quarters, we have been conservative in our management of the market and liquidity 
risk exposures of the Company’s on and off book portfolios. Our prudent approach has translated into 
Barita continuing to reflect best in class capital and liquidity ratios for the period end. Capital to Total 
Assets stood at 28.2% relative to the regulatory minimum of 6.0%, indicative of very low leverage in the 

25 Source: https://www.jamstockex.com/

26 Source: https://www.jamstockex.com/

27 Source: https://www.jamstockex.com/

28 Source: Barita Investments Limited

29 Source: https://jis.gov.jm/jamaica-gets-us520-million-under-imf-rapid-financing-instrument/

30 Source: Ministry of Finance and Public Service

https://www.jamstockex.com/
https://www.jamstockex.com/
https://www.jamstockex.com/
https://jis.gov.jm/jamaica-gets-us520-million-under-imf-rapid-financing-instrument/
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business and significant capacity to withstand shocks. The Company’s Capital to Risk Weighted Assets 
Ratio31 as reported to the FSC as at the period ended March 31, 2020 was 41.1%, significantly above the 
regulatory minimum of 10.0%. With respect to liquidity management, our holdings in cash and near cash 
assets have been robust over the last several periods but we have further improved our liquidity profile 
during the second quarter. The Company’s concentration in cash/near cash securities grew from $9.7 
billion or 21% of Total Assets in December 201932 to $17.3 billion or 36% of Total Assets by March 2020. Our 
strong liquidity position is a keystone indicator of the capacity of the business to be resilient in the coming 
quarters and represents assurance that there is significant ‘dry powder’ in place for material portfolio 
adjustments to be made.

During the first half of FY 2020 we have continued to see growth across our core business lines, reflecting 
an expanding customer base, a focus on efficiency and the results of our efforts to grow and diversify 
revenues. This performance was influenced largely by the continued positive effects of Barita’s post-
acquisition strategy, which has been underpinned by increased capitalization, the addition of talent and 
the establishment of new business lines. 

O P E R A T I N G  P E R F O R M A N C E
Barita produced Net Operating Revenue of $2.3 billion for 6-Month FY 2020 which represents a $1.1 billion 
(94.6%) increase versus the comparable period in FY 2019. Barita’s revenue base during the period was 
influenced by:

• NET INTEREST INCOME: Net Interest Income recorded a $283.7 million (110.6%) increase Year-Over-
Year for 6-Month FY 2020 to $540.1 million. The rise in Net Interest Income was driven for the first half 
of the year by our strategy of continued measured growth in our fixed income and credit portfolios as 
we rebalance our funding structure in the context of our capital raising efforts in FY 2019.

• NON-INTEREST INCOME: Non-Interest Income grew by 90.1% or $817.6 million to $1.7 billion relative 
to $907.3 million reported for 6-Month FY 2019. The growth in Non-Interest Income was fairly evenly 
distributed across all our major revenue drivers in this segment. Non-Interest Income as a percentage 
of Net Revenues was 76.2% during the period, reflecting reduced reliance on Net Interest Income and 
the Group’s focus on revenue diversification.

Gain on Investment Activities & FX Trading: This business segment relates to the management 
of our Cambio and proprietary trading portfolio, which closed the period registering a 103% or 
$486 million increase to $957.8 million when compared with $471.8 million reported for the same 
period in the prior financial year. This was largely driven by realized securities trading gains 
of $547.2 million, and FX trading income of $111.5 million. Unrealized securities trading income 
totaled $303.9 million for 6-Month FY 2020.

31 Capital to Risk Weighted Asset ratio is a ratio of the Company’s regulatory capital (total equity – fair value reserves)/ total assets adjusted for inherent levels of risk. 

                       The ratio is a prudential measure prescribed by the FSC.

32 A copy of the Company’s unaudited results for the three-month period ending December 31, 2019 can be found on the website of the Jamaica Stock Exchange at 

                       https://www.jamstockex.com/?tag=bil&category_name=quarterly-financial-statements

https://www.jamstockex.com/?tag=bil&category_name=quarterly-financial-statements


62 |  BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. APO PROSPECTUS 2020

Fees & Commission Income: Fees and Commission Income rose by 83.7% to $760.4 million 
for 6-Month FY 2020 relative to the prior period’s result of $414 million. The rise in Fee and 
Commission Income during the period was primarily driven by the Group’s continued growth 
in Assets Under Management coupled with income from our Investment Banking business line.

FX Translation Gains:  We continue to focus on dynamic management of the Group’s FX exposure. 
Our local currency depreciated by $2.82 or 2.1%33 against the USD to close 6-Month FY 2020 
at $135.39 as per the BOJ Weighted Average Selling Rate. The Group’s FX translation loss 
was $4.9 million when compared to the losses of $196.6 million recorded in the corresponding 
period prior year. 

• OPERATING EXPENSES: Non-Interest Expenses for 6-Month FY 2020 showed a rise of 106.6% or 
$494.8 million versus the corresponding period prior year to $958.4 million. The rise principally reflects 
increases in staff costs, administrative expenses and Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”) associated with 
our investment portfolio. Staff costs showed a $129.2 million (52.7%) rise to $345.3 million resulting 
from our recruiting efforts, which we have seen as necessary to continue our transformational growth. 
Administrative expenses have risen period over period by $303.7 million (141.2%) to $518.9 million 
reflecting increases in areas such as marketing, business development, and facilities improvements. 
The ECL charge rose by $71.8 million (321.6%) to $94.2 million reflecting increases in the size of the 
Company’s balance sheet over the period. The Company’s Efficiency Ratio for 6-Month FY 2020 was 
42.3% versus 39.8% in 6-Month FY 2019.

B A L A N C E  S H E E T  H I G H L I G H T S

• TOTAL ASSETS: Due largely to a $17.3 billion growth in marketable securities (to include securities 
noted as pledged assets in the Financial Statements) and reverse repurchase agreements to $38.4 
billion, Barita’s on-book asset base rose by $21 billion (75.8%) to $48.7 billion as at March 2020 versus 
$27.7 billion as at March 2019.

• TOTAL LIABILITIES: To fund the increase in Total Assets, our Total Liabilities line rose by 72.3% or 
$14.4 billion to $34.3 billion when compared with March 2019, resulting largely from a 48.8% increase 
in repo liabilities to $26.5 billion.

• SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY: The equity base of the Group grew significantly, rising by 84.8% or $6.6 
billion Year-Over-Year to close the reporting period at $14.4 billion. The growth in Shareholders’ Equity 
is largely a result of the following:

The issuance of $1.0 billion in non-cumulative, non-redeemable preference shares during the 
third quarter of FY 2019. This qualifies as Tier-1 capital for the Group;

The injection of $5.2 billion in additional equity in the Group, arising from the non-renounceable 

33 This data is published daily by the BOJ on their website: boj.org.jm

-

-

http://boj.org.jm
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rights issue which was successfully closed in September 2019; and

An increase in Retained Earnings. 

B A R I T A  I N V E S T M E N T S  L I M I T E D  -  O U T L O O K
For most of the quarter ended March 2020, the local financial markets were a picture of continuity 
reflecting strong investor, consumer and business confidence underpinned by stability in monetary and 
fiscal policy. Global financial markets likewise were also characterized by low interest rates and elevated 
equity prices in key developed markets. However, towards the end of the quarter, the rapid spread 
of COVID 19 throughout the globe dampened investor confidence due to fears that the disease could 
have a crippling effect on global trade and commerce. Locally, restrictions imposed on businesses and 
movement of people aimed at preventing the spread of the virus have affected the operations of many 
service-based companies within the tourism, remittance, bauxite, and food services industries. Investor 
fear was manifested in a sharp “sell-off” in risk assets (such as equities, emerging market debt and certain 
commodities) and a flight to quality and safe haven assets.

The current state of affairs has triggered heavy monetary and fiscal policy reactions from central banks 
and governments around the world as they attempt to cushion the impact of the effects of the virus on 
their economies and by extension people’s lives and livelihoods. Locally, the BOJ has taken several steps 
to support the financial sector, through active interventions in the money and foreign exchange markets 
to shore up market liquidity. The Government of Jamaica has also launched a raft of tax measures valued 
at approximately $15 billion and direct fiscal stimulus of $16 billion, both of which are aimed at assisting 
individuals and businesses during this period. The US Federal Reserve has cut its benchmark interest rate 
twice since the beginning of the spread of the virus in the United States from a range of 1.50-1.75% down 
to 0.00-0.25%. This was complemented by the announcement of a US$700 billion quantitative easing 
program aimed at defending the US economy from the effects of COVID 19. On the fiscal front, the US 
Government passed three relief packages totaling nearly US$2.8 trillion aimed at addressing the effects 
of COVID 19 and easing the economic fallout of the virus. The legislation includes a number of measures 
focused on attempting to ease the impact of the virus on Americans whose jobs, businesses and health are 
affected by the virus. The US Government is expected to pursue another round of fiscal stimulus, which the 
market anticipates could be within range of US$1.5 billion. 

In light of the pandemic, the International Monetary Fund (“IMF”) revised its global growth outlook for 2020 
to -3.00% which it describes as “much worse” than the global growth experience during the 2008/2009 
financial crisis. The IMF also revised its growth forecast for Jamaica to -5.60%. The forecasted global 
downturn in 2020 is anticipated by the IMF to be followed by a 5.80% rebound in global growth in FY 2021 
as the effects of the virus begin to abate. Unexpectedly, remittances into Jamaica have surprised to the 
upside with cumulative inflows over the March – June period registering a 5.5% increase.34 We believe this 

34 Source: COVID-19 Economic Recovery Task Force (Final Report, June 2020)

-
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positive trend should continue given that the labour market is reopening in the US and another round of 
fiscal stimulus is likely. However, Jamaica is likely to continue feeling the economic drag from the sharp 
fallout in tourism, which itself is likely to take some time before returning to its pre-COVID 19 level. The BOJ 
has however emphasized that it anticipates that the various monetary tools at their disposal to facilitate 
foreign exchange liquidity in the market coupled with the country’s pool of NIR, should allow them to 
effectively off-set this transitory fallout in the FX market during this period.

While we anticipate that the crisis will present challenges for financial markets including the financial 
sector, Barita’s strategy will continue to be focused on sound liquidity and capital management, even as 
we ensure that we are well positioned to seek out value creating opportunities that we believe the current 
crisis will eventually unearth.

Importantly for us during this unprecedented period is the safety of our team members and customers, 
which have seen us begin to further leverage technology to reduce person to person contact. Looking 
ahead to the rest of the year, armed with strong liquidity and capital buffers, we will continue to cautiously 
manage the Company’s resources in the context of the risks that are emerging resulting from this crisis 
towards preserving shareholder value.
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The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of risks.

In addition to other information set forth in this Prospectus, prospective investors should, before subscribing 
for New Ordinary Shares, carefully consider the risks described below. These risks are not the only ones 
facing prospective investors. Additional risks not presently known to the Directors or that the Directors 
may presently consider to be immaterial may also impair the Company’s operations.

This Prospectus also contains Forward-Looking Statements that involve risks and uncertainties. The 
Company’s actual results could differ materially from those anticipated as a result of certain factors, 
including the risks faced by the Company described below and elsewhere in this Prospectus.

P R I M A R Y  R I S K  F A C T O R S
By its nature, the Company’s activities are principally Equities Trading, Fixed Income Trading, Unit Trusts, 
Pension Fund Management, Asset Management, Investment Banking and FX Trading. The Company’s 
activities therefore expose it to a variety of financial risks: Credit Risk, Liquidity Risk, Market Risk, as well as 
operational and other non-financial risks. The aim is therefore, to achieve an appropriate balance between 
risk and return and control potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance.

The Company’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyze these risks, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable 
and up-to-date information systems.

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 
framework. Included in this framework are the functions performed by the Management Investment 
Committee (MIC) of the Company. The MIC oversees the Company’s compliance with the financial risk 
management policies and procedures approved by the Board and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company.

In addition to this, the Board of Directors has established the Audit and Finance Committee, which is 
responsible for assisting the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for:

• The implementation of the risk management framework in accordance with the Enterprise Risk 
Management Policy and recommendation of risk appetites and limit frameworks to the Board for 
approval;

• The integrity of the Company’s Financial Statements;
• The Company’s policies, programs and procedures to ensure compliance with the relevant legal and 

regulatory requirements, the Company’s Code of Ethics and Conduct and other relevant standards 
and best practices;

• The Company’s efforts to comply with legal obligations arising from material agreements and 
undertakings;

• The qualifications and independence of the Company’s external auditors; and
• The performance of the Company’s internal audit function and its external auditors.

S E C T I O N  1 4 :  R I S K  E X P O S U R E
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T H E  K E Y  R I S K S  T O  W H I C H  T H E  C O M PA N Y  I S  E X P O S E D  A N D  T H E  M A N N E R 
I N  W H I C H  I T  M A N A G E S  T H E M  A R E  A S  F O L L O W S :

M A R K E T  R I S K :  Market Risk is the risk of loss due to changes in market prices and rates (including 
interest rates, credit spreads, equity prices, and FX rates), the correlations among them, and their levels 
of volatility.

Market Risk is monitored through the Management and Board Investment Committees. Various exposures 
are monitored daily and controlled through Board approved limits; which control the individual and 
aggregate impact of the various Market Risk factors on earnings and capital. This is supported by extensive 
research and continuous monitoring of the price movement and fundamental factors affecting financial 
assets on the local and international markets.

L I Q U I D I T Y  R I S K :  Liquidity Risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations arising from its financial liabilities or other cash requirements. Liquidity Risk may also result 
from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at, or close to, its fair value. The Company’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations when due under 
both normal and stressed conditions.

T H E  C O M PA N Y ’ S  L I Q U I D I T Y  M A N A G E M E N T  P R O C E S S  I N C L U D E S :

• Forecasting cash inflows and outflows by currency to anticipate emerging liquidity needs and 
conducting regular stress tests to assess the vulnerabilities inherent in its balance sheet structure and 
the adequacy of liquidity resources under stressed conditions;

• Maintaining a pool of highly liquid, unencumbered assets that can be readily sold, or pledged to 
secure borrowings under stressed conditions;

• Managing the structure of its funding relative to its liquidity position to ensure that it is sufficiently 
diversified by term and type of client;

• Maintaining, testing and updating its contingency funding plan, which outlines the necessary responses 
to varying levels and stages of stressed conditions; and

• Proactively identifying, building and securing alternative sources of funding to ensure the adequacy of 
its contingency options and position itself to take advantage of material opportunities. 

C R E D I T  R I S K :  Credit Risk is the risk of default by, or material decline in credit worthiness of, an 
obligor. Credit Risk may be disaggregated into three (3) types of risks:

Default (Counterparty) Risk
The possibility that the issuer/borrower will fail to meet its payment obligations or other contractual 
covenants. Technical default may occur due to the issuer’s/borrower’s violation of other agreed terms (e.g. 
failure to maintain a certain financial ratio at/above a pre-determined level).

Credit Spread Risk
Measured by the amount of yield differential above the return on a benchmark, default-free security (e.g. 
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T- Bills) demanded by investors to compensate for buying the riskier security. The risk is that the riskier 
security might offer a lower than required premium.

Downgrade Risk
Risk that a bond will be reclassified as a riskier security by a credit rating agency (e.g. Standard & Poor’s). 
A downgrade in the rating of a security usually leads to a fall in its market price.

To control Credit Risk exposure, the Company manages the minimum credit quality, asset class and 
concentration of all issuers/borrowers in its portfolio and continuously monitors the financial status of 
each obligor.

O P E R A T I O N A L  R I S K :  Operational Risk is the risk arising from execution of an enterprise’s business 
functions and particularly the risk of loss resulting from internal processes, people and systems, or from 
external events such as:

Internal Fraud
Misappropriation of assets, tax evasion, intentional mismarking of positions and bribery

External Fraud
Theft of information, hacking damage, third-party theft and forgery

Employment Practices and Workplace Safety
Discrimination, workers compensation, employee health and safety

Clients, Products, & Business Practices
Market manipulation, antitrust activities, improper trades, product defects, fiduciary breaches and account 
churning

Damage to Physical Assets:
Natural disasters, terrorism and vandalism

Business Disruption & Systems Failures:
Utility disruptions, software failures and hardware failures

Execution, Delivery, & Process Management:
Data entry errors, accounting errors, failed mandatory reporting and negligent loss of clients’ assets 

The Company has established frameworks to capture, prioritize, manage, track and report on the most 
important operational and other non-financial risk exposures. This is complemented by the tracking of key 
risk indicators to identify emerging risks. Due to the nature of the Company the most material among these 
are Systems, Process, People and Customer Risks. 
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Systems: Systems Risk refers to the likelihood of vulnerabilities related to the information technology 
(IT) environment including security, data governance and integrity, reliability and necessary 
supporting infrastructure to handle business requirements. These are inherent in the technology-
driven nature of Barita’s business.

Robust technology planning and development processes ensure that technological capabilities 
are adequate to support the strategic requirements of the organization. This is supported by the 
continuous and proactive evaluation and updating of the security environment to minimize exposure 
to cyber-attacks and other current and potential IT security exposures. Employees and customers 
are consistently sensitized to ensure they understand current and evolving IT security risks, and to 
reinforce the desired behaviours.

Processes: The risk associated with processes refers to the exposure to control weaknesses in 
various processes and that policies and procedures may be less than effective in embedding and 
establishing the required governance, limits, controls and practices for the execution of tasks.

Barita mitigates this risk through its Enterprise Risk Management Framework and policies and 
procedures that establish the governance, authority levels, and required controls for various process 
and operations, and prescribes a framework for identifying and managing the various inherent 
risks. This is complemented by continuous review of the various processes to improve efficiency, 
strengthen controls and manage residual risks.

People: People Risk refers to the likelihood that Barita does not adequately attract, retain and 
develop employees with the requisite knowledge and aptitude to meet the strategic needs of the 
organization and fill key roles as they emerge or become vacant. People Risk also refers to the 
likelihood that the culture does not sufficiently instill the desired level of performance and conduct.

Barita is focused on building its talent pool to support its growth. There is a focus on ensuring 
the development of resources to fill key current roles, should they become vacant; as well as to 
fill roles that will emerge in the future. The people strategy is supported by building a culture of 
high performance and accountability; this is also embedded within its appraisal and compensation 
structure.

Customer: Customer Risk refers to possible reduction in customer engagement and loyalty, changes 
in customers’ behavior and their perception of Barita; as well as risks that Barita sells products to 
customers that may not be suited to their circumstances.

Barita mitigates this risk through the various customer feedback mechanisms embedded in its 
marketing strategy and customer service delivery. Customer circumstances and risk appetites are 
established at initiation and through ongoing interaction, with investment recommendations with 
respect to risk and return profiles supported by the research team. 
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C O M P L I A N C E  R I S K :  Compliance Risk is the possibility of internal, regulatory, statutory or legal 
non-compliance and associated risks from engagement with third parties.

The Company seeks to comply with all relevant legal and statutory requirements and is supported by 
strong institutional governance and management to ensure a culture of compliance and ethical conduct.

S T R A T E G I C  R I S K :  Strategic Risk refers to the possibility that strategic choices may be adversely 
affected by changes in the business and competitive environment and could cause other material 
risk exposures. This includes the impact of changes resulting from strategic choices throughout the 
organization, new products and initiatives that do not meet desired objectives, and robustness of the 
supporting governance and performance management environment to ensure effectiveness.

Barita and its affiliates have a robust process for strategy formulation and execution. This includes 
processes surrounding the identification of opportunities in the context of the competitive environment, 
current and prospective market developments, and lifestyle trends. The strategy is approved by the Board 
and ownership and accountability for strategy implementation is supported by communication of the 
strategy to all employees and the alignment of strategy to individual objectives through key performance 
indicators. Major risks associated with the strategy are also continuously monitored through selected key 
risk indicators which are subject to review at least on a quarterly basis. Implementation is also closely 
monitored and managed at the Barita and Cornerstone Executive levels, with quarterly updates provided 
to the Board.

R E P U T A T I O N A L  R I S K :  Reputational Risk is the exposure to negative perception, whether true or 
not, of the Company/Group by regulators, service providers, customers, employees, brokers, shareholders, 
and other key stakeholders, which may impair the performance, risk profile and strategic objectives of the 
Company.

Barita manages its Reputational Risk through its Code of Conduct, governance practices, risk management 
programs, and policies and procedures. This Risk is a key consideration in the strategy formulation process 
and in its day to day operations.

O T H E R  R I S K  F A C T O R S

R E G U L A T O R Y  U N C E R T A I N T I E S :  Changes in approach by regulators of companies in the 
Group in relation to existing regulatory requirements or the introduction of new regulations, may affect the 
Company’s operations and its profitability.

T A X A T I O N  U N C E R T A I N T I E S : The tax structure which provides one of the advantages of 
investing in the Company (to Applicants who are resident in Jamaica or other CARICOM states that are 
parties to the CARICOM Double Taxation Treaty), may be subject to change in the future, a factor over 
which the Company has no control.
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S H A R E  P R I C E  V O L A T I L I T Y :  The New Ordinary Shares, if listed on the JSE as intended, may 
experience significant volatility in price, which may extend beyond the short term and which may be 
dependent on the Company’s performance, investors’ confidence and other factors over which the 
Company has no control.

F O R E I G N  E X C H A N G E  R I S K :  Investors in the New Ordinary Shares shall assume and bear the 
full FX rate risk. An investor’s investment, if made in USD, may be eroded, in JMD terms, if the JMD was to 
revalue against the USD.

I S S U E  O F  A D D I T I O N A L  S H A R E S :  The Directors of the Company may hereafter authorize the 
issue of additional ordinary shares in the Company. Such shares, once issued, may rank pari passu with 
the Existing Ordinary Shares and may be listed on the JSE or on any other stock exchange(s). Additional 
shares so issued could affect the market price of the New Ordinary Shares currently being made available 
for subscription.

PA Y M E N T  O F  D I V I D E N D S :  The payment of dividends on the New Ordinary Shares will be 
primarily dependent on the Company’s future profitability and will be at the discretion of the Directors. 
In addition, the Company may pay dividends in either JMD or USD, at the sole discretion of the Directors. 
While shareholders may indicate to the Company their preferred currency of payment of dividends by 
making an election at the time of applying for New Ordinary Shares, the Directors retain the right to 
make, and shall make, the final determination as to the currency of payment of such dividends as may be 
declared from time to time, in respect of the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

M A C R O - E C O N O M I C  P O L I C I E S :  Changes in fiscal and monetary policies by the Government of 
Jamaica may create opportunities as well as challenges for the Company.

N E W  A C C O U N T I N G  R U L E S  O R  S T A N D A R D S :  The Company may become subject to new 
accounting rules or standards that differ from those that are presently applicable. Such new accounting 
rules or standards could require changes in the way the Company reports its financial position, operating 
results or cash flows. Such changes could be applied retrospectively.

R I S K S  A S S O C I A T E D  W I T H  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  C O N D I T I O N S :  The Company’s financial 
results may be adversely affected by international risks, such as:
• international political and economic conditions;
• changes in government regulations in various countries;
• trade barriers; and
• adverse tax consequences.

The list of risks mentioned in this Section are not to be taken as being exhaustive of all the possible risks 
that may affect the Company and its business.
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PA R T Y  T R A N S A C T I O N S
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The Company’s related party transactions are disclosed in the Notes to its Latest Audited Accounts 
annexed in Appendix 2.

S E C T I O N  1 5 :  R E L A T E D  PA R T Y  T R A N S A C T I O N S
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The Company is a company duly incorporated under the Companies Act and a securities dealer licensed 
by the FSC. The Company is also the holder of a Cambio Licence and a Primary Dealer Licence. Statutory 
Information required to be set out in this Prospectus by section 41 and the Third Schedule to the Companies 
Act and other general information are follows:

1. The Company was incorporated on September 2, 1977 and its registered office is at 15 St. Lucia Way, 
Kingston 5, St. Andrew.

2. The Company has no founders, management or deferred shares.

3. The Articles contain the following provisions with respect to the remuneration of the Directors.Article 
71 - “The directors’ fees for their services as Directors shall from time to time be fixed by the Directors, 
and shall be included in the Audited Accounts of the Company which is laid before the Annual General 
Meeting for approval by the shareholders. The directors may also be paid travelling, hotel and other 
expenses properly incurred by them in attending and returning from meetings of the directors or any 
committee of the directors or general meetings of the Company or in connection with the business of 
the Company.”

4. The Opening Date is Wednesday August 26, 2020 and the Closing Date is Wednesday September 
16, 2020. The Company reserves the right to: (i) close the Application List at any time without notice 
if Applications have been received prior to the Closing Date for the full amount of the New Ordinary 
Shares available for subscription, provided that any such early closure of the Application List shall 
not occur prior to the end of a period of seven (7) days following the Opening Date. If the Company 
closes the Application List prior to the Closing Date the Company will provide notice of such closure 
via a press release and by posting a notice on the website of the Jamaica Stock Exchange at www.
jamstockex.com or (ii) extend such closing beyond the abovementioned date, with notice of such 
extension being given to Applicants via a press release to be issued by the Company as soon as 
reasonably practicable upon such extension being granted.

5. All Applicants will be required to pay in full, on Application, the Invitation Price per New Ordinary 
Share. No further sum will be payable on Allotment.

6. Up to 173,733,220 New Ordinary Shares are being made available for subscription by prospective 
investors.

7. The names and descriptions of the Directors of the Company are indicated in the Latest Audited 
Accounts.

8. The minimum amount required to be raised out of the proceeds of the Invitation to provide for the 
matters set out in paragraph 2 of Part 1 of the Third Schedule to the Companies Act (the “minimum 
subscription”) is J$ 1,125,000,000.00.

S E C T I O N  1 6 :  S T A T U T O R Y  &  G E N E R A L  I N F O R M A T I O N

http://www.jamstockex.com
http://www.jamstockex.com
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9. No person has, or is entitled to be given, any option to subscribe for any shares in, or debentures of 
the Company.

10. No previous invitations/offers with respect to shares in the Company have been made by the Company 
to the public other than, pursuant to:

(a) A Rights Issue executed in the latter part of 2019 for the allotment of 77,897,303 shares, each at a 
price of J$45.00 upsized to 116,845,955; and

(b) A Rights Issue executed in the early part of 2019 for the allotment of 262,280,484 shares, each at 
a price of J$15.50.

11. Details as to investments, bank loans and any other indebtedness of the Company (if any) are indicated 
in the Latest Audited Accounts.

12. No property has been or is proposed to be purchased or acquired by the Company, which is to be paid 
for wholly or partly out of the proceeds of the Invitation, as prescribed by paragraphs 6-9 (inclusive) of 
Part 1 of the Third Schedule of the Companies Act. 

13. The proceeds from the Invitation will be paid to the Company. The Company expects to pay the 
expenses of the Invitation out of the proceeds of the Invitation, and the Company estimates that such 
expenses will not exceed J$153.0 million (inclusive of brokerage fees, legal fees, marketing expenses, 
Companies Registrars’ fees, initial fees and GCT).

14. The Company paid a total of J$183.8 million over the last two (2) years in commissions relating to 
subscriptions made with respect to two (2) Rights Issues undertaken by the Company (mentioned 
above).

15. The name and addresses of the auditors to the Company are as set out in the Latest Audited Accounts.

16. This Prospectus is issued more than two (2) years after the date on which the Company was entitled 
to commence and actually commenced business. Accordingly, paragraph 13 of Part 1 of the Third 
Schedule does not apply.

17. As far as the Company is aware, the Company is not engaged in any material litigation, nor is it aware 
of any pending litigation.

18. The amount for goodwill, patent, or trademarks shown in the Latest Audited Accounts is nil.

19. No amount is currently recommended for distribution by way of dividend. The Company’s dividend 
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policy is described in Section 8 of this Prospectus.

20. No real property is currently proposed to be purchased or acquired by the Company and paid for 
wholly or partly out of the proceeds of this Invitation for the purposes of paragraphs 6 to 9 (inclusive) 
of Part 1 of the Third Schedule of the Companies Act.

21. Save as set out in paragraph 14 above, within the two (2) preceding years, no commissions have 
been paid, nor will any be payable to anyone for subscribing or agreeing to subscribe or procuring or 
agreeing to procure subscriptions for any shares or debentures of the Company. 

22.  The issue has not been underwritten however Cornerstone Financial Holdings Limited has agreed to 
the Committed Subscription as defined herein.

23. The following are the material contracts of the Company, other than contracts entered into the ordinary 
course of business:

24. BDO has given and has not withdrawn their consent to the issue of this Prospectus with the inclusion 
of the Latest Audited Accounts, and their name in the form and context in which it is included (a copy 
of which Consent is attached as Appendix 5). 

25. The names, description and addresses of the Directors are as follows:

• Lease Agreement dated June 15, 2019 with Jamaica Properties Limited; and

• Ernst & Young contract for outsourcing of business process re-engineering efforts dated June 30, 
2020.

D I R E C T O R O C C U PA T I O N A D D R E S S

Mark Myers

Paul Simpson

James Godfrey

Duncan Stewart

Phillip Lee

Carl Domville

Robert Drummond

Rita Humphries Lewin

Jason Chambers

Matthew Hogarth

Business Executive

Business Executive

Businessman

Business Executive

Businessman

Accountant

Management Consultant

Businesswoman

Investment Banker

Attorney-at-Law

2D Valentine Drive, Kingston 19

15 St. Lucia Way, Kingston 5

Lot 1, Dunsinane, Mandeville, Manchester

49 1/2 South Camp Road, Kingston 4

3 Norwood Avenue, Kingston 5

60 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5

60 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5

17 St. Lucia Way, Kingston 5

15 St. Lucia Way, Kingston 5

7 Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5
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Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the offices of Barita Investments Limited at 15 
St. Lucia Way, Kingston 5, between the hours of 9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. on Mondays to Fridays, up to and 
including the Closing Date (or the extended Closing Date as the case may be):

1. This Prospectus;
2. The Articles of Incorporation of the Company;
3. Copy of the Latest Audited Accounts for the Company for the year ended September 30, 2019;
4. Copy of the unaudited financial results for the 6-Months ended March 31, 2020 with respect to the 

Company; and
5. The Written Consent of the Auditors, BDO.

S E C T I O N  1 7 :  D O C U M E N T S  A V A I L A B L E  F O R  I N S P E C T I O N
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1. You may apply for New Ordinary Shares in the Invitation by (i) using the relevant Application Form 
included with this Prospectus, which is available for download on our website at www.barita.com and 
the JSE’s website at www.jamstockex.com or (ii) by way of BOSS, the Lead Broker’s online application 
portal, which can be accessed by logging on to www.baritaboss.com.

2. The Application Form must be accompanied by the following, which must be taken to any of the 
locations specified at Appendix 4 of this Prospectus on or before 4:00 p.m. on September 16, 2020:

a. For all individual Applicants copy of (i) valid identification (Driver’s License, Passport or  National
    ID) and (ii) Relevant ID, as applicable, in the case of Reserved Share Applicants.

b. Copy of Taxpayer Registration Number card for all Applicants resident in Jamaica.

c. Evidence of payment for the full amount of the Invitation Price payable for the New Ordinary Sh- 
    ares applied for, using an Approved Payment Method, along with a processing fee of J$172.50 
    where the Application is not submitted using BOSS.

3. Each Application for New Ordinary Shares must be for a minimum of 300 New Ordinary Shares, and 
Applications above this amount shall be in multiples of 100 New Ordinary Shares.

4. Payment for the full amount of the Invitation Price for the New Ordinary Shares applied for must be 
remitted to the Lead Broker or Selling Agent, as the case may be, to which the Application Form has 
been submitted.

5. An Approved Payment Method shall be any of the following:

a. Manager’s cheque payable to the Applicant’s Selling Agent for amounts less than J$1.0 million;

b. Cleared funds held in an equity/investment account in the Applicant’s name at Barita supported 
    by an authorization from the Applicant instructing Barita to transfer the payment to their Barita 
    JCSD account;

c. Transfer from the Applicant’s account held with the Applicant’s stockbroker;

d. Transfer in the Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) system to the Applicant’s Selling Agent; or

e. Transfer via the Automated Clearing House (ACH) to the Applicant’s Selling Agent.

A penalty of J$5,000.00 is imposed by commercial banks in Jamaica in respect of cheques (including 
manager’s cheques) tendered for payment in an amount greater than or equal to J$1,000,000.00.

S E C T I O N  1 8 :  A P P L I C A T I O N  P R O C E D U R E S  A N D  C O N D I T I O N S  O F  I N V I T A T I O N
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6. The Company reserves the right to (i) close the Application List at any time without prior notice if 
Applications have been received prior to the Closing Date for the full amount of the respective New 
Ordinary Shares available for subscription or (ii) extend such closing beyond the above-mentioned 
date. In either case the Company will provide notice as soon as reasonably practicable via a press 
release and/or by posting a notice on the website of the JSE at www.jamstockex.com and on the 
Company’s website at www.barita.com. In addition, the Company may elect, in its sole discretion, to 
reduce the number of New Ordinary Shares available for subscription, in which case the Company will 
issue a press release as soon as reasonably practicable upon such decision being made.

7. If you apply via BOSS, you should follow the instructions set out in Appendix 1. If you choose to apply 
using a paper Application Form, your duly completed and signed Application Form along with the 
required supporting documents should be delivered to the locations specified at Appendix 4 of this 
Prospectus on or before 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date. Your Application will be deemed incomplete if 
the required supporting documents are not included.

8. The Board, in their sole discretion, may accept (in whole or in part) or reject, in whole or in part, any 
Application to subscribe for New Ordinary Shares, even if the Application is received, validated and 
processed. Accordingly, the number of New Ordinary Shares allocated to you may be reduced.

9. Neither the submission of an Application Form by an Applicant nor its receipt by the Company will result 
in a binding contract between the Applicant and the Company. Only the allotment of New Ordinary 
Shares by the Registrar on behalf of the Company to an Applicant, (whether such new Ordinary 
Shares represent all or part of those specified by the Applicant in their Application Form), will result 
in a binding contract under which the Applicant will be deemed to have agreed to subscribe for the 
number of allotted New Ordinary Shares at the Invitation Price, subject to the Articles of Incorporation 
and the terms and conditions set out in this Prospectus.

10. Early Applications will be received, but not processed until the Opening Date. All early Applications 
will be treated as having been received at the same time, being 9:00 a.m. on the Opening Date. New 
Ordinary Shares will be allocated after close of the Application List when all the valid Applications 
are received.

11. With respect to the New Ordinary Shares, if the Invitation is oversubscribed, the Company may take 
any or a combination of the following actions:

a. Elect at any time prior to the closing of the Invitation or on the Closing Date, to upsize 
    by making up to 86,866,610 additional New Ordinary Shares available for subscription by 
    Applicants, bringing the maximum size of the Invitation to 260,599,830 New Ordinary Shares. 
    In the event that the Company exercises its discretion under this paragraph 11, it shall make 
    reference thereto in any announcement it issues, for the purposes of the closing of the 
    Invitation and the publication of the basis of allotment following the Closing Date. This is not a 
    guarantee that the Company will exercise the option to upsize.

http://www.jamstockex.com
http://www.barita.com
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b. Allot the New Ordinary Shares on a first come, first served basis, however, if the Invitation is 
    oversubscribed, the Company reserves the right to allot the New Ordinary Shares to 
    Applicants on a basis to be determined by it, in its sole discretion, including on a pro rata 
    basis. In this case, Applicants may be allotted fewer New Ordinary Shares than they applied 
    for.

12. At the Allotment date, any New Ordinary Shares reserved for each share pool comprising of the 
Reserves Shares, which are not fully taken up by Reserved Share Applicants after Allotment has 
been made with respect to Application Forms submitted and accepted for such share pools, shall be 
allocated to the Non-Reserved Share Pool and form part of the New Ordinary Shares available for 
Allotment to Non-Reserved Share Applicants.

13. Multiple Application Forms by the same Applicant shall be treated as a single Application for the 
purpose of allocation/allotment. For this purpose, Applicants will be regarded as being the same 
where it is either the same individual or corporate Applicant or, in the case of joint Applicants, the joint 
holders identified for each Application are the same. Application Forms submitted with joint holders 
must be signed by all the joint holders.

14. New Ordinary Shares will be allocated after close of the Application List when all the valid Applications 
are received. The Application List will close on September 16, 2020 at 4:00 p.m. but the Directors 
reserve the right to close the Application List earlier (provided that any such early closure of the 
Application List shall not occur prior to the end of a period of seven (7) days following the Opening 
Date) and may extend the Closing Date in certain circumstances, in either case upon giving prior 
notice. New Ordinary Shares will be allocated on a first come first serve basis. If the Invitation is 
oversubscribed the Company reserves the right to allot the New Ordinary Shares to Applicants on 
a basis to be determined by it, in its absolute discretion, including on a pro rata basis. In this case 
Applicants may be allotted fewer New Ordinary Shares than they applied for.

15. The Company will issue a letter of allotment in the name of the Applicant (or in the joint names of joint 
Applicants) for the class and number of New Ordinary Shares allotted to the Applicant with respect to 
each Application which is accepted in whole or in part. Each letter of allotment will be mailed through 
the post at the Applicant’s risk to the address of the Applicant (or of the primary Applicant) stated in 
the Application Form. The letters of allotment will be dispatched in the mail within ten (10) days after 
the Closing Date. No share certificates will be issued.

16. Letters of Allotment are not transferable or assignable.

17. Amounts to be refunded to Applicants whose Applications are not accepted in whole or in part will be 
refunded based on the instructions given in their Application. Refunds will be made via your preferred 
refund option within ten (10) days after the Closing Date. Where Applicants request that refunds be 
made electronically, the required details of the account to which refund payments are to be remitted 
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by that method must be provided in the Application Form. The Company does not accept the risk of 
loss with respect to delays in effecting refunds, provided it has initiated the refund using the instructions 
provided by the Applicant.

18. Upon the issue of the New Ordinary Shares, they shall be converted to ordinary stock units and it is the 
intention of the Company to have the issued New Ordinary Shares listed on the JSE. To this end, the 
Company intends to apply promptly after the close of the Invitation, for admission of the New Ordinary 
Shares to the Main Market of the JSE, to enable them to be listed in the same manner as the Existing 
Ordinary Shares are currently listed. This statement is not to be construed as a guarantee that the 
New Ordinary Shares will be listed.

19. This Invitation shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of Jamaica.
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The Board hereby confirms that, after due inquiry by us, in its opinion and to the best of its knowledge and 
belief, in the period between September 30, 2019 to the date of this Prospectus:

(a) The business of the Company has been satisfactorily maintained;

(b) There have not been any circumstances arising which have adversely affected the trading or the  
value of the assets of the Company;

(c) The current assets of the Company appear in the books at values which are realizable in the ord-
inary course of business;

(d) There are no contingent liabilities, which have arisen by reason of guarantees or indemnities giv- 
en by the Company; and

(e) There have been no significant changes affecting the financial position of the Company.

S E C T I O N  1 9 :  D I R E C T O R S ’  R E P O R T
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The Directors of the Company whose signatures appear below are individually and collectively 
responsible for the contents of the Prospectus and each has signed same pursuant to a resolution of 
the Directors of the Company authorizing the issue of this Prospectus as at the date first hereinbefore 
stated.

S E C T I O N  2 0 :  S I G N A T U R E S  O F  T H E  D I R E C T O R S  O F  T H E  C O M PA N Y
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A P P E N D I X  1

A P P L I C A T I O N  F O R M  &  B O S S  I N S T R U C T I O N S

B A R I T A  I N V E S T M E N T S  L I M I T E D 

A D D I T I O N A L  P U B L I C  O F F E R  O F 

N E W  O R D I N A R Y  S H A R E S

P L E A S E  R E A D  C A R E F U L LY  B E F O R E  C O M P L E T I N G  T H I S  A P P L I C A T I O N  F O R M

To: Barita Investments Limited

RE: Invitation for subscription in respect of 173,733,220 New Ordinary Shares (with the ability to upsize 
to 86,866,610 New Ordinary Shares) being offered pursuant to the Prospectus dated July 30, 2020 (the 
“Prospectus”). Please select Application Type (as per the description set out in the Prospectus):

I/we confirm that I/we have read and understood and hereby agree to be bound by the terms and 
conditions contained in the Prospectus, all of which are incorporated in this Application Form by reference. 
Capitalized words and expressions used herein shall bear the same meanings as are ascribed thereto in 
the Prospectus.

I/we hereby apply for ____________________ New Ordinary Shares in Barita Investments Limited, on  
and subject to the terms and conditions of the Invitation set out in the Prospectus, as follows:

• Small Investors at the price of J$49.00 each
• Hotel-workers, Farmers and Civil Servants, at the price of J$49.75 each
• Cornerstone Investor, Barita Clients, Existing Shareholders and Key Investors at the 
       price of J$52.00 each
• Non-Reserved Share Applicants at the price of J$52.00 each

Small Investors

Hotel-workers, Farmers and Civil Servants

Cornerstone Investor, Barita Clients, Existing Shareholders and Key Investors

Non-Reserved Share Applicants
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Title

D.O.B.

Identification Type

Telephone #

First Name

Date of Incorporation

Nationality

JCSD #

Middle Name

TRN / Registration Number

Occupation

Broker Code #

Surname/Company Name

I/we agree to make payment for the sum of J$___________________________.00 for my subscription 
plus the JCSD processing fee of J$172.50 (as applicable) using an Approved Payment Method as described 
in Section 18 of the Prospectus.

I/we agree to accept the above or any smaller number of New Ordinary Shares in respect of which this 
Application may be accepted, subject to the terms and conditions in the Prospectus and the Articles of 
Incorporation of Barita Investments Limited, by which I/we agree to be bound.

I/we request you to issue to me/us, and I/we irrevocably agree to accept, the number of New Ordinary 
Shares, which may be allocated and issued to me/us at the close of the Invitation upon the terms and 
conditions governing the Application as set forth in the Prospectus.

Instructions for completing Application Form: Please see below notes concerning the completion of this 
Application Form. All fields in this Application Form are relevant and must be completed as applicable. If 
you already have an account with the JCSD, please ensure that you indicate your JCSD Number. 

T O  B E  C O M P L E T E D  B Y  P R I M A R Y  H O L D E R  ( I N D I V I D U A L  O R  C O M PA N Y )
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Address:

Email:

SEAL

Signature (Individual)

Joint Account Holder 1

Director (Signature) Director/Secretary (Signature)

Title

D.O.B.

TRN #

First Name

Identification:

Occupation

Middle Name

Nationality:

Signature

Surname

Telephone #
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Joint Account Holder 2

Joint Account Holder 3

Title

Title

D.O.B.

D.O.B.

TRN #

TRN #

First Name

First Name

Identification:

Identification:

Occupation

Occupation

Middle Name

Middle Name

Nationality:

Nationality:

Signature

Signature

Surname

Surname

Telephone #

Telephone #
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R E F U N D  O P T I O N S
( P l e a s e  s e l e c t  p r e f e r r e d  o p t i o n )

Manager’s Cheque

RTGS/ACH

Refund Payment Instructions for RTGS/ACH

Bank Name

Branch Address

BIC/SWIFT

Beneficiary Name

Beneficiary Account Number

R E F U N D  D E T A I L S

S U B S C R I P T I O N  PA Y M E N T ( S )  J $

J$ Manager’s Cheque drawn on a 
local commercial bank payable to 
my Selling Agent

Debit/Transfer from my account #__________________
held with my Stockbroker via RTGS/ACH

Debit my Barita Equity Account #

 _____________________________

Transfer via RTGS/ACH to my 
Selling Agent

A P P R O V E D  PA Y M E N T  M E T H O D
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D I V I D E N D  M A N D A T E  O P T I O N
( P l e a s e  s e l e c t  p r e f e r r e d  o p t i o n )

Same as Refund Mandate

Alternative Dividend Mandate

Dividend Payment Instructions for RTGS/ACH

Bank Name

Branch Address

BIC/SWIFT

Beneficiary Name

Beneficiary Account Number

D I V I D E N D  M A N D A T E

N O T E S  O N  H O W  T O  C O M P L E T E  T H E  A P P L I C A T I O N  F O R M

1. If you are in doubt as to how to complete this Application Form, please consult your financial advisor 
or Selling Agent.

2. Applications must be for the minimum number of New Ordinary Shares specified in the Prospectus.

3. All completed Applications must be delivered to your Selling Agent for delivery by them to the JCSD 
on or before the Closing Date.

4. Primary Applicants must be at least 18 years old and be an eligible investor as defined in the Prospectus.

5. If you are applying jointly with any other person, you must complete the Joint Account Holder 
information section(s) and each joint holder must sign the Application Form at the place indicated.

6. All Applicants must attach copies of their Government issued identification as well as their TRN card 
(if ID provided is not a Jamaican Driver’s License displaying their TRN) and in the case of applicable 
Reserved Share Applicants, Relevant IDs must also be provided.
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T H I S  S E C T I O N  F O R  B R O K E R  U S E  O N LY

DATE APPLICATION RECEIVED: TIME RECEIVED:

RECEIVED BY:

PAYMENT METHOD:

SIGNATURE:

Cheque

RTGS/ACH

Internal Transfer

7. The New Ordinary Shares allotted to successful Applicants will be credited to their accounts at the 
JCSD.

8. Any refund due will be made to your account number provided on the Application Form or by a 
manager’s cheque.

9. Applicants must submit their completed Application Form to their Selling Agent along with payment for 
the specified number of New Ordinary Shares you have applied for by way of an Approved Payment 
Method.

10. Applicants submitting Applications through any authorised agent, collecting agent, or stockbroker 
must pay such selling agent, collecting agent, or stockbroker, who will submit their Application 
Form and make payment to Barita Investments Limited on the Applicant’s behalf. Note that Barita 
Investments Limited will not accept any responsibility for failure by any selling agent, collecting agent 
or stockbroker to submit Application Forms on a timely basis.
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B O S S  I N S T R U C T I O N S

H O W  T O  U S E

BOSS is a digital online securities solution tool that will allow Applicants to submit Applications for EPOs 
(Electronic Public Offerings).

SIGN UP

1. Visit our web address www.baritaboss.com
2. Sign up by clicking the “create an account” link
3. Enter your details (Name, email address, mobile number, create a password)
4. Read and agree to the Terms of Use
5. Click on the “create an account” button and you are done

APPLY NOW

1. Visit our web address www.baritaboss.com
2. Agree to the terms of the IPO Application Agreement
3. Select or search for the invitation or issue in which you wish to purchase shares
4. Click on the “Apply Now” button
5. Enter the amount you wish to invest in the invitation/issue
6. Select your share pool
7. Click on the “continue” button
8. Select the correct response to “Are you a Barita Client (Y/N)”
9. Follow the below to complete the Form based on your responses

a. Barita Clients are required to select the correct response to having a “Barita Online Account (Y/N)”

b. Enter your JCSD and Broker details

c. Complete the Application Form

If you have indicated that there are Joint Holders then please note that an email notice of the 
Application will be sent to the Joint Holders for them to confirm and apply their signature in order 
to complete submission of the Application.

d. Upload a copy of your Driver’s Licence or TRN

e. Sign electronic signature form or download form for signing and upload
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f. Enter payment verification information

g. Review your Application

h. Submit Application

i. You can view your Application at any time by clicking on the “sign in” button or “track my
             application” button
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A P P E N D I X  2

A U D I T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  F O R  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  Y E A R  E N D E D 
S E P T E M B E R  3 0 , 2 0 1 9
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Financial
Statements
30 September 2019
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 BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
 YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
         
 Note 2019              2018  
 $’000     $’000     
 
   Net interest income   650,999 422,288  

Fees and commission income   847,372 505,210  
Dividend income  30,670 31,779   

 Foreign exchange trading and translation gains   199,404 187,945 
 Gain on sale of investments   1,873,298 136,454  
 Other      378,031      20,987  
  

 Net operating revenue   3,979,774 1,304,663  
 
Operating Expenses    
 Staff costs 7 (   553,550) (   385,410)  
 Administration costs   (   896,738) (   375,566)  
 Impairment of financial assets  (     75,162)          -        
 
  8 (1,525,450) (   760,976)  
  
Profit before Taxation   2,454,324 543,687  
Taxation  9 (    741,543) (   180,446)  
 
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  10 1,712,781    363,241 
   
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: 
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss 
Realised gains on securities at FVOCI 
      /available for sale securities 9 600,202   759,108 
 
ECL adjustment on securities FVOCI  81,743   -       
 
Unrealised losses on securities at FVOCI 
     /available for sale securities 9 (  470,267)  (   435,360)  
 
Fair value gain on property, plant and equipment, net of taxes        18,333        -        
 
Total other comprehensive income     230,011     323,748 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  1,942,792    686,989  
 
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE  16        $2.42        $0.56 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Year ended 30 September 2019

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
       
  Capital  
 Share  Treasury Capital  Fair Value  Redemption    Retained 
 Capital Shares  Reserve  Reserve   Reserve      Earnings  Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

BALANCE AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 745,494 (   9,190)   93,133    604,884 220,127 1,121,464 2,775,912 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
Profit for the year -       -      -     -      -       363,241 363,241 
Other comprehensive income      -             -             -       323,748      -              -           323,748 

      -            -             -       323,748      -         363,241     686,989 
 
TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS 
Treasury shares sold       -          4,123           -       (      4,123)      -      -       -       
Gain from treasury shares       -           -         -            (    13,812)      -      13,812 -       
Dividends paid (Note 27)      -            -          -             -           -      (   133,763) (   133,763)  
Dividends proposed (Note 27)       -             -            -             -           -      (   263,067) (   263,067)  
       -          4,123       -      (    17,935)       -      (   383,018) (   396,830) 

 
BALANCE AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018 745,494 (    5,067)   93,133   910,697 220,127 1,101,687 3,066,071 
 
Effects of change in accounting policy 
 (IFRS 9 Financial instrument)        -             -            -      (  437,127)      -         435,039 (      2,088) 
 
BALANCE AT 1 OCTOBER 2018   745,494   (    5,067)   93,133   473,570 220,127 1,536,726 3,063,983  
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
Profit for the year -       -      -     -      -       1,712,781 1,712,781 
Other comprehensive income         -             -        18,333   211,678      -              -           230,011 

         -            -        18,333   211,678      -      1,712,781  1,942,792 
TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS 
Issue of shares, net of transaction cost        9,142,186     -           -        -           -      -       9,142,186  
Preference shares  1,000,000 -      -        -      -      -       1,000,000 
Treasury shares sold      -      (183,232)         -             -           -      -       (    183,232)   
Dividends paid (Note 27)      -            -          -             -           -      (   399,216) (    399,216)  
Dividends proposed (Note 27)          -            -           -             -           -      (   897,235) (    897,235)   
 10,142,186 (183,232)      -             -           -      (1,296,451)   8,662,503 
 
BALANCE AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 10,887,680 (188,299) 111,466   685,248 220,127 1,953,056 13,669,278

Year ended 30 September 2019

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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 BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
 YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019           
  
 Note 2019             2018  
 $’000     $’000     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
   Net profit   1,712,781 363,241 
   Items not affecting cash resources: 

Depreciation and amortization   33,076 58,830 
Effect of exchange gain on foreign balances  42,941 (   125,336) 
Impairment of available-for-sale investments  -       (          150)  
Unrealised gain on investment FVTPL  (    120,832) -       
Interest income  ( 1,532,154) (1,021,945) 
Interest expense  881,155 599,657 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   733 9,678 
Taxation expense  9      741,543    180,446
  1,759,243 64,421 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
Investment securities including pledged assets, net  (   8,929,521) (1,986,497) 
Securities purchased under resale agreements, net  (  10,728,531) (   516,199) 
Securities sold under repurchase agreements, net  10,448,911 2,048,852 
Receivables  (     305,109) 267,648 
Loans receivables, net   (     348,782) (     36,414) 
Payables       27,805 (     31,988) 
Related companies   (  1,484,235)        8,205
  
   9,560,219 (   181,972)  

Interest received  1,525,608 1,016,422 
Interest paid  (     870,481) (   612,652) 
Income tax paid   (     132,409) (   176,692) 
Cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  (  9,037,501)      45,106  
 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   18 (     122,199) (       3,879) 
Purchase of intangible asset 19 (       30,794) (     13,697)   
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment          12,501         -      
Cash used in investing activities   (     140,492) (     17,576)
    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:   
    Dividends paid  (     399,216) (    114,117)    

Issued ordinary shares   9,142,186 -      
    Treasury shares purchased    (     183,232) -      
    Issued preference shares    1,000,000          -      
 
Cash provided by/(used in) financing activities     9,559,738 (    114,117) 
 
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents              982         6,177  
 
Increase in net cash and equivalents       382,727 (      80,410) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year      333,374     413,784 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR    11     716,101     333,374

Year ended 30 September 2019

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
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 BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
 STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
 YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
         
 Note 2019              2018  
 $’000     $’000     
 
   Net interest income   602,295 378,463  

Fees and commission income   420,702 69,956  
Dividend income  1,126,045 26,768   

 Foreign exchange trading and translation gains   230,990 154,508 
 Gain on sale of investments   1,826,680 99,110  
 Other         5,365      17,698  
  

 Net operating revenue   4,212,077     746,503  
 
Operating Expenses    
 Staff costs 7 (   508,026) (   327,521)  
 Administration costs   (   857,371) (   339,640)  
 Impairment of financial assets   (     60,162)          -       

  8 (1,425,559) (   667,161)  
 
Profit before Taxation   2,786,518 79,342  
Taxation  9 (   471,302) (     58,924)  
 
Profit for the Year  10 2,315,216     20,418  
 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: 
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss   
Realised gains on securities at FVOCI 
  /available for sale securities 9 550,427     790,656 
 
Unrealised losses on securities at FVOCI  
  /available for sale securities 9 (   470,267) (   432,521)  
 
Fair value gain on property, plant and equipment, net of taxes  9     18,333         -       
 
ECL adjustment on securities FVOCI        71,628        -        
 
      170,121    358,135  
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   2,485,337    378,553  
 
 
 
 
  

Year ended 30 September 2019

Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income
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Year ended 30 September 2019

Statement of Financial Position
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Year ended 30 September 2019

Statement of Changes in Equity
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 

        
 Capital  
 Share  Capital  Fair Value  Redemption    Retained 

 Capital Reserve  Reserve Reserve      Earnings  Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

BALANCE AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2017  745,494 154,988   537,195 313,590    330,401   2,081,668 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   
Profit for the year       -      -       -      -      20,418      20,418  
Other comprehensive income          -            -        358,135      -                  -           358,135 

             -            -        358,135        -           20,418       378,553  
TRANSACTION WITH OWNERS  
Dividends paid (Note 27)             -           -           -            -      (   133,763) (    133,763) 
Dividends proposed (Note 27)             -           -             -            -      (   263,067) (    263,067) 
         -           -             -            -      (   396,830) (    396,830) 
   
BALANCE AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018   745,494  154,988    895,330 313,590 (     46,011) 2,063,391 
Effects of change in accounting policy (IFRS 9 
  Financial Instruments)          -            -      (  375,340)      -            386,609       11,269 
 
BALANCE AT 1 OCTOBER 2018   745,494  154,988      519,990 313,590    340,598   2,074,660 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   
Profit for the year       -      -       -      -      2,315,216   2,315,216  
Other comprehensive income          -        18,333   151,788      -                 -           170,121 

             -        18,333   151,788        -      2,315,216    2,485,337  
TRANSACTION WITH OWNERS  
Issue of shares, net of transaction cost (Note 27)      9,142,186           -           -            -      -         9,142,186 
Preference share   1,000,000 -      -       -      -      1,000,000 
Dividends paid (Note 27)             -           -           -            -      (   414,665) (    414,665) 
Dividends proposed (Note 27)                 -           -             -            -      (   897,235) (    897,235) 
 
  10,142,186       -             -            -      (1,311,900)   8,830,286 
   
BALANCE AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019  10,887,680  173,321    671,778 313,590 1,343,914 13,390,283 



114 |  BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. APO PROSPECTUS 2020

Page 14 
 BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
 YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019           
   
 Note  2019             2018  
 $’000     $’000     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
   Net profit   2,315,216 20,418 
   Items not affecting cash resources: 

Depreciation and amortization  32,913 57,682 
Effect of exchange gain on foreign balances  (         1,673) (     92,724) 
Unrealised gain on investment FVTPL  (     103,645) -       
Interest income  (  1,483,450) (   978,120) 
Interest expense  881,155 599,657 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   655 5,064  
Income tax expense  9      471,302      58,924 
  2,112,473 (    329,099) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
Marketable securities including pledged assets, net  (  8,754,160) (1,780,369)  
Securities purchased under resale agreements, net  (10,728,531) (   516,199) 
Securities sold under repurchase agreements, net  9,646,285 2,077,410 
Receivables  (     324,382) 267,648 
Loans receivables, net   (     348,782) (     36,414) 
Payables  87,396 (     24,588) 
Related companies, net   (  1,512,850) (       1,506) 
 
  (  9,822,551) (   343,117)  

Interest received  1,465,083 977,117 
Interest paid  (     870,481) (   612,652) 
Taxation paid   (       25,452) (     24,407) 
 
Cash used in operating activities  (  9,253,401) (       3,059)  

 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment   18 (    122,170) (       2,880) 
Purchase of intangible asset 19 (      30,794) (     13,697)  
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment         12,501         -      
Cash used in investing activities   (    140,463) (     16,577) 
 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:   
    Dividends paid  (    414,665) (    114,117) 
    Issued ordinary shares   9,142,186 -      
    Issued preference shares    1,000,000          -      
    Cash provided by/(used in) financing activities     9,727,521 (    114,117) 
 
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents   (            100)       4,346  
 
Increase in net cash and equivalents        333,557 (    129,407) 
Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year       247,178     376,585 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR    11      580,735     247,178
   

Year ended 30 September 2019

Statement of Cash Flows
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
               30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
    
1. IDENTIFICATION, REGULATION AND LICENCE:  
 

Barita Investments Limited (Barita, the company) is a limited liability company incorporated and 
domiciled in Jamaica. The registered office of the company is 15 St. Lucia Way, Kingston 5. 
 
The company is a licensed securities dealer and has primary dealer status from the Bank of Jamaica 
(BOJ). It is licensed under the Securities Act and regulated by the Financial Services Commission 
(FSC). The company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE). 
 
On 24 August 2018, Cornerstone Investments Holdings Limited acquired 75% of the equity in Barita 
Investments Limited financed via a private placement of a bond arranged by Sagicor investments 
Jamaica Limited and equity capital from Cornerstone Investments Holdings Limited shareholders.  
 
The principal activities of the company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Barita Unit Trusts 
Management Company Limited (BUTM) (collectively referred to as “the Group’) are stocks and 
securities brokerage, money market activities, cambio operations and funds management. 
 

2.         REPORTING CURRENCY: 
 

Items included in the financial statements of the group are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the group operates (‘the functional currency’).  These 
financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, which is considered the group’s functional 
and presentation currency. 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:   
 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.  Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated.  

 
(a) Basis of preparation  
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and have been prepared under the historical cost convention as 
modified by the revaluation of fair value through other comprehensive income and fair 
value through profit or loss investment securities, and certain items of property, plant and 
equipment. They are also prepared in accordance with requirements of the Jamaican 
Companies Act. 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the group’s accounting policies. Although these estimates are based on 
management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results could differ 
from these estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant for the financial statements are 
disclosed in Note 4. 

  
 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):   
 

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 
New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during 
the year 

 
Certain new standards and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards have 
been published that became effective during the current financial year. The group has 
assessed the relevance of all such new standards, interpretations and amendments and has 
concluded that the following new standards, interpretations and amendments are relevant 
to its operations 
 
In these financial statements, the group adopted IFRS 9, Financial Instruments and IFRS 15, 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers with a transitional date of 1 October 2018. These 
standards were applied on a retrospective basis, with certain exceptions. As permitted, the 
group did not restate its prior period comparative financial statements. 
 
The nature and the impact of the new standards and amendments is described below: 

IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’, (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018). IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 as at 1 January 2018. The group has not restated 
comparative information for 2018 for financial instruments in the scope of IFRS 9. 
Therefore, the comparative information for 2018 is reported under IAS 39 and is not 
comparable to the information presented for 2019.  

Changes to classification and measurement  
 

To determine their classification and measurement category, IFRS 9 requires all financial 
assets, except equity instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a combination 
of the entity’s business model for managing the assets and the instruments’ contractual 
cash flow characteristics. The IAS 39 measurement categories of financial assets (fair 
value through profit or loss (FVPL), available for sale (AFS), held-to-maturity and loans 
and receivables at amortised cost) have been replaced by: 

-  Amortised cost  
- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
- Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 

 
The accounting for financial liabilities remains largely the same as it was under IAS 39, 
except for the treatment of gains or losses arising from an entity’s own credit risk 
relating to liabilities designated at FVPL. Such movements are presented in OCI with no 
subsequent reclassification to the income statement. 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):   
 

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 
New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during 
the year (cont’d) 

 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (cont’d) 

 
Changes to the impairment calculation 

 
The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the group’s accounting for doubtful 
debt provision by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking 
expected credit loss (ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the company to record an allowance 
for ECLs for trade receivables. The allowance is based on the ECLs associated probability 
of default in the next twelve months, unless there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since origination. If the financial asset meets the definition of purchased or 
originated credit impaired (POCI), the allowance is based on the change in ECLs over the 
life of the asset.  

 
Lifetime ECL measurement applies if the credit risk of a financial asset at the reporting date 
has increased significantly since initial recognition and 12-month ECL measurement applies 
if it has not. An entity may determine that a financial asset’s credit risk has not increased 
significantly if the asset has low credit risk at the reporting date. However, lifetime ECL 
measurement always applies for short-term receivables without a significant financing 
component. 

 
Changes in accounting policies resulting from adoption will be applied retrospectively as at 
1 October 2018, but with no restatement of comparative information for prior years. 
Consequently, the group will recognize any adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial 
assets between IAS 39 and IFRS 9 in the opening retained earnings or other components of 
equity. Refer to note 28 for details.  

 
IFRS  15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

 
The group adopted IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers from 1 October 2018. 
The standard established a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much 
and when revenue is recognized. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, 
including IAS 18, Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty 
Programmes. 

 
The group will apply a five-step model to determine when to recognize revenue, and at 
what amount. The model specifies that revenue should be recognised when (or as) an entity 
transfers control of goods or services to a customer at the amount to which the entity 
expects to be entitled. Depending on whether certain criteria are met, revenue is 
recognised at a point in time, when control of goods or services is transferred to the 
customer; or over time, in a manner that best reflects the entity’s performance. 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):   
 

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 

New standards, amendments and interpretation that become effective during the year  
(cont’d) 

 
IFRS  15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (cont’d) 

 
Management has assessed that the main impact of this standard is in respect of fees and 
commission income. Based on review, IFRS 15 did not have a material impact on the timing 
and recognition of fees and commission income. 

 
IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration’ (effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). This IFRIC addresses foreign 
currency transactions or parts of transactions where there is consideration that is 
denominated or priced in a foreign currency. The interpretation provides guidance for 
when a single payment/receipt is made as well as for situations where multiple 
payments/receipts are made. The guidance aims to reduce diversity in practice. It does 
not apply when an entity measures the related asset, expense or income on initial 
recognition of the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability. Also, the interpretation 
need not be applied to income taxes, insurance contracts or reinsurance contracts. The 
group has assessed the impact of the amendment and concluded that there is no impact.  
 

New standards, amendments and interpretation not yet effective and not early adopted  
 

IFRIC 23’ Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’, (effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019). This interpretation clarifies how to apply the 
recognition and measurements requirements in IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over 
income tax treatments. In such a circumstance, an entity shall recognize and measure its 
current or deferred tax asset or liability applying the requirements in IAS 12 based on 
taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates 
determined in applying this interpretation. The group is currently assessing the impact of 
this amendment. 

 
IFRS 16, 'Leases', (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019). The standard primarily addresses the accounting for leases by lessees. The 
standard will result in almost all leases being recognised on the statement of financial 
position, as it removes the current distinction between operating and finance leases and 
requires recognition of an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability 
to pay rentals for virtually all lease contracts. An optional exemption exists for short 
term and low-value leases. The accounting by lessors will not significantly change.  
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):   
 

(b) Basis of consolidation  
 
 Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has control. The group controls an entity 

when the group is exposed to, or has right to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through power over the entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The subsidiary 
consolidated is Barita Unit Trusts Management Company Limited which is owned 100%. 

 
 Acquisitions from third parties 
 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group and 
are no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases. The group uses the 
acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the 
liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration 
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair value at the acquisition date.  On an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, the group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquirees either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests proportionate share of the acquirees net 
assets.  
 

 Acquisitions involving entities under common control  
 

 The predecessor method of accounting is used to account for acquisitions involving entities 
under common control, as such acquisitions are outside of the scope of IFRS 3. Under the 
predecessor method of accounting, the acquiring entity consolidates the results and net 
assets of the acquired entity either from the date of acquisition, or as if the acquisition had 
always taken place, and the current structure had always been in existence. In electing to 
utilize the latter option, the prior year’s comparatives are restated. 
 
In applying the predecessor method, the purchase consideration for the acquisition is 
eliminated against the book value of net assets acquired (adjusted for inconsistencies in 
accounting policies) with any resulting difference being dealt with as an adjustment to 
equity. There is no goodwill created, nor is there any negative goodwill recognized.  

 
 The group has elected to treat all such acquisitions as if the acquisition had taken place in 

previous years. 
 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the cost cannot be 
recovered. The accounting policies of the subsidiary are consistent with those adopted by 
the group.  
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):   

 
(c) Segment reporting  

 
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or 
services that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business 
segments.  Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting 
to the group’s chief operating decision maker. 

 
(d) Foreign currency translation  

 
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. 
 
Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated to Jamaican dollars using 
the closing rate as at the reporting date. 
 
Exchange differences arising from the settlement of transactions at rates different from 
those at the dates of the transactions and unrealized foreign exchange differences on 
unsettled foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are recognized in profit or loss.  
Translation differences on non-monetary financial instruments, such as equities classified 
as available-for-sale financial assets, are recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 

(e) Financial instruments  
 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset  in one entity 
and a financial liability or equity of another entity.  
 

  Policy applicable after 1 October 2018 
 
Financial assets  
 
(i) Classification 

 
From 1 October 2018, the group classifies its financial assets in the following 
measurement categories: 
 
 At fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss); and  
 At amortised cost 

 
The classification is based on the group’s business model for managing the financial 
assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 

 
For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses are recorded in profit or loss or 
OCI. 

 
The group will reclassify debt investments when and only when its business model 
for managing those assets changes.  
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

  Policy applicable after 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 
 
Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
(ii) Recognition and derecognition 

 
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the date at which the 
group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument, i.e. the 
date they originated. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the 
group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

 
(iii) Measurement  

 
At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in 
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial 
assets. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit 
or loss.  
 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirely when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 
 
Debt instruments  
 
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the group’s business 
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There 
are three measurement categories into which the group classifies its debt 
instruments: 
 
 Amortised cost – Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows 

where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are 
measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is 
included in finance income using the effective interest  rate method. Any gains 
or loss arising on derecognition is recognized directly in profit or loss and 
presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and 
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement 
of comprehensive income.  

 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements



122 |  BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. APO PROSPECTUS 2020

 
Page 22 

BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

  Policy applicable after 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 
 
Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
(iii) Measurement (cont’d) 

 
Debt instruments  
 
 FVOCI – Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for 

selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movement in the 
carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of 
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and 
losses which are recognized in profit or loss. When the financial  asset is 
derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognized in other gains/(losses). 
Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using 
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are 
presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment expenses are presented as 
separate line item in the statement of comprehensive income.  

 
 FVPL – Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are 

measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently 
measured at FVPL is recognized in profit or loss and presented net within other 
gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises. 

 
 Equity instruments  

 
The group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the 
group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity 
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair gains and losses 
to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such 
investments continue to be recognized in profit or loss when the group’s right to 
receive payment is established.  
 
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognized in gains/(losses) in 
the profit or loss statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of 
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported 
separately from other changes in fair value.  
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

  Policy applicable after 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 
 
Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
(iv) Impairment 

 
From 1 October 2018, the group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected 
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and 
FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk. 

 
  Policy applicable before 1 October 2018 

 
Financial assets  
 
(i) Classification  

 
The group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:  loans and 
receivables and available-for-sale.  The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the financial assets were acquired.  Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at every reporting date. 

 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market.  They arise principally through 
the provision of goods and services to customers (e.g. trade receivables) but also 
incorporate other types of contractual monetary asset.  

 
The group’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash 
and cash equivalents.    

 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost. 
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits with original maturity of three 
months or less, and bank overdraft. 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 
(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
  Policy applicable before 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 

 
Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
(i) Classification (cont’d) 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either 
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.  
Investments intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold 
in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, are classified as 
available-for-sale. 

 
(ii) Recognition and Measurement 
 

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date – 
the date on which the group commits to purchase or sell the asset.  Financial assets 
are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets 
not carried at fair value through profit or loss.  Financial assets are derecognized 
when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have 
been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership.  Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair 
value, with fair value gains or losses being recorded in other comprehensive 
income.  Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less provision for impairment. 

 
Translation differences and changes in the fair value of non-monetary securities 
classified as available for sale are recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 
When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the 
accumulated fair value adjustments previously recognized as other comprehensive 
income are recycled to profit or loss. 
 
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognized in profit or loss as 
part of other operating income when the group’s right to receive payments is 
established. 
 
The group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.   
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 
(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
  Policy applicable before 1 October 2018 (cont’d) 

 
Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
(ii) Recognition and Measurement (cont’d) 

 
For loans and receivables impairment provisions are recognized when there is 
objective evidence that the group will not collect all of the amounts due under the 
terms receivable.  The amount of the provision is the difference between the net 
carrying amount and the present value of the future expected cash flows associated 
with the impaired receivable. For trade receivables which are reported net, such 
provisions are recorded in a separate allowance account with the loss being 
recognized in profit or loss.  On confirmation that the trade receivable is 
uncollectible, it is written off against the associated allowance.  Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss. 
 
In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered as an 
indicator that the securities are impaired.  If any such evidence exists, the 
cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously 
recognized in profit or loss – is removed from other comprehensive income and 
recognized in profit or loss.  Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss on equity 
instruments are not reversed through profit or loss.   

 
  Financial liabilities  
 

The group’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  At 
the reporting date, the following items were classified as financial liabilities: securities sold 
under repurchase agreements, bank overdraft, due to related company and trade payables. 

 
(f) Revenue recognition  

   
  Interest income 

 
Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss for all interest bearing 
instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. Interest income 
includes coupons earned on fixed income investments and accrued discounts or premiums 
on treasury bills and other discounted instruments. 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 

(f) Revenue recognition (cont’d) 
   
  Fees and commission income  
 

Fees and commission income are recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been 
provided. Commission and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation 
of a transaction for a third party are recognized on completion of the underlying 
transaction. 

 
 Dividend income  

 
  Dividends are recognized when the right to receive payments is established.   
   

 Gain or loss on sale of investment  
 

Gain or loss on the disposal or maturity of investments, is determined by comparing sale 
proceeds with the carrying amount of the investment. The amount is recognized in profit or 
loss for the year. 

 
When investment securities are disposed of the related accumulated unrealised gains or 
losses included in the fair value reserve are recognized by recycling those gains or losses 
through other comprehensive income. 

 
 (g) Current and deferred income taxes  
 

Taxation expense in profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax charges.  
 

Current tax charges are based on taxable profits for the year, which differ from the profit 
before tax reported because taxable profits exclude items that are taxable or deductible in 
other years, and items that are never taxable or deductible.  The company’s liability for 
current tax is calculated at tax rates that have been enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax is the tax that is expected to be paid or recovered on differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax bases.  Deferred income 
tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements.  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 
 (g) Current and deferred income taxes (cont’d) 
 

Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except where it relates to items 
charged or credited to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case deferred tax is 
also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity. 

 
(h) Property plant and equipment 

  
Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at historical or deemed cost, 
less accumulated depreciation.  Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
The carrying amount of any replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are 
incurred. 

 
Freehold land and buildings are subsequently carried at fair value, based on periodic 
valuations by a professionally qualified valuer. These revaluations are made with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which 
would be determined using fair value at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair 
value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the capital reserve 
except to the extent that any decrease in value in excess of the credit balance on the 
capital reserve, or reversal of such a transaction, is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis at such rates as will write off the 
carrying value of the assets over the period of their expected useful lives.  Land is not 
depreciated.  The expected useful lives of the other property, plant and equipment are as 
follows: 
 
 Buildings      40 years 
 Office furniture, machines and equipment 10 years 
 Computer equipment        3 years 
 Motor vehicles         5 years 
 
Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference 
to their carrying amounts and are taken into account in determining profit or loss. 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
  

(h) Property plant and equipment (cont’d) 
  

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each reporting date. 

 
 (i)  Receivables  
 

Receivables are carried at anticipated realizable value less provision for impairment of 
these receivables. A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is 
objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to 
the original terms of the receivables.  

 
(j)  Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements  

 
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase (repurchase agreements) and securities 
purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repurchase agreements) are treated as 
collateralized financing transactions. 
 
The difference between the sale/purchase and repurchase/resale price is treated as 
interest and accrued over the life of the repurchase agreements using the effective yield 
method.  

 
Securities purchased under agreements to resell and sold under agreements to repurchase 
are carried on the statement of financial position at amortised cost. 

 
(k) Payables  

 
Payables are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. 

 
 (l)  Fiduciary activities  
 

The group commonly acts as a trustee and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the 
holding or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts and other institutions. These 
assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements as they are 
not assets of the group.  
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 
 (m) Employee benefits 
 

Defined contribution plans 
 
The group maintains a pension plan for its eligible employees and agents. The pension plan is 
a defined contribution plan, the assets of which are held in a separate trustee administered 
fund. The plan is generally funded by basic employee contributions of 5% of pensionable 
salary and voluntary contributions up to a maximum of an additional 5%. This is matched by 
the group, once the group’s contributions have been paid the group has no further payment 
obligations. The group contributions to the plan are charged to profit or loss in the year to 
which they relate.    

 
Other  
 
Other employee benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period are presented as current liabilities. 
 
Other employee benefits that are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period are presented as non-current liabilities and calculated using 
the projected unit credit method and then discounted using yields available on high quality 
corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating to the expected remaining period to 
settlement. 

 
 (n) Intangible assets  
 

Intangible asset which represents computer software is deemed to have a finite useful life of 
three years and is measured at cost, less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. 
 

(o)  Related party balances and transactions  
 

Parties are considered to be related if directly, or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries, the party controls, is controlled by or is under common control with the 
entity (this includes parents, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries) has significant influence 
over the entity or has joint control over the entity. Related party balance and transactions 
are disclosed for the following: 
 

  (i)  Enterprise and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in voting power 
of the group and /or having significant influence over the Group’s affairs and close 
members of the family of these individuals.  

 
  (ii)  Key management personnel, that is those persons having authority and responsibility 

for planning directing and controlling the activities of the group, including directors, 
officers and close members of the families of these individuals.  
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):    
 

(p) Impairment of non-current assets  
 

Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets are reviewed for impairment 
losses whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying 
amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the greater of an asset’s net 
selling price and value in use.  For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest level for which, there are separately identified cash flows.  Non-financial assets 
other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at each reporting date. 

 
(q) Dividend distribution  

 
Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the 
company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the 
company’s shareholders. 

 
Dividends for the year that are declared after the reporting date are dealt with in the 
subsequent events note. 

 
4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES: 
 

Judgement and estimates are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
(a) Critical judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies  

 
In the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, management has made the 
following judgement that could cause a significant impact on the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements. 

 
Determination of whether or not Barita Unit Trust Management Company Limited and the 
Group act as principal or agent in the management of various unit trusts. 

 
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, which was adopted by the group on 1 October 
2016, resulted in the group assessing its relationship (to determine whether it acts as 
principal or agent) with the various unit trusts which it manages. Consistent with the 
application guidance of IFRS 10, the group considered the following criteria in making 
determination. 

 
(i)   The scope of the fund manager’s authority; 
(ii)  The rights of others in management of the fund in particular the right to 

unilaterally remove the fund manager, without cause; 
(iii)  The group’s remuneration and exposure to variability of returns, in relation to its  
 holdings in the various unit trusts; and  
(iv) The group’s ability to use its power to affect the returns made by the units 

trusts. 
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D): 

 
(a) Critical judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

The group considered that all criteria had to be substantively met in order for the group to be 
considered a principal, thereby requiring consolidation of the unit trusts. 

 
The group concluded that criteria (i) and (iv) above were met. 

 
In assessing criterion (ii), the group concluded that Trustees of the unit trusts, Jamaica 
Central Securities Depository Trustee Services Limited (JCSDTS) under the Trust Deeds, had 
sufficient rights to remove them as fund managers. In assessing criterion (iii), the group also 
concluded that its remuneration for its services were consistent in nature and amount, for 
services of that nature and that, based on its holdings in the various unit trusts, the group 
was not exposed to variability of returns, as envisaged by the standard. 
 
Based on the conclusions arrived at in the previous paragraph, the group concluded that it 
was acting in the capacity of an agent for unit trusts and therefore also concluded that the 
unit trusts should not be consolidated in financial statements of the Group, or Barita Unit 
Trusts Management Company Limited, standing alone. 

 
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty  
 

The group makes certain estimates and assumptions regarding the future. The resulting 
accounting estimates will by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 
 
(i) Fair value estimation 
 

A number of assets and liabilities included in the group’s financial statements require 
measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value. 
 

The price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date 
The price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. 

 
The fair value measurement of the group’s financial and non-financial assets and 
liabilities utilises market observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used in 
determining fair value measurements are categorized into different levels based on 
how observable the inputs used in the valuation technique utilized are; the ‘fair value 
hierarchy:  
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D): 

 
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d) 

 
(i) Fair value estimation (cont’d) 

 
Level 1  Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

(unadjusted) 
 

Level 2       Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are   
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 
indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 

 
Level 3     Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data (that is, unobservable inputs).  
 

The classification of an item into the above level is based on the lowest level of the 
inputs used that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement of the item. 

 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets, such as available-for-
sale investments, is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date.  The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by the company is the current bid price.  
These instruments are included in level 1 and comprise equity instruments traded on 
the Jamaica Stock Exchange. 

 
The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are 
deemed to be/determined as follows: 
 

 The carrying values less any impairment provision of financial assets and 
liabilities with a maturity of less than one year are estimated to approximate 
their fair values due to the short term maturity of these instruments. These 
financial assets and liabilities are cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, 
trade payables, related company balances and unquoted investments. 

 
(ii) Income taxes  

 
Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are some 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The group recognizes assets and liabilities for 
possible tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will become 
recoverable or will become due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is 
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination 
is made. 
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D): 
 

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d) 
 

(iii) Expected maturity dates for financial assets and liabilities  
 

In disclosing its financial risk management, and considering its management of 
liquidity risk, the group discloses the expected maturity of its financial assets and 
financial liabilities. It is management’s experience that the contractual maturity of 
these assets and liabilities differ from the liquidation of these assets and liabilities, 
which makes the disclosure of expected maturity more meaningful to the users of the 
financial statements. The actual liquidation of the assets and liabilities may differ 
from management’s estimates.  
 

(iv) Depreciable assets 
 

Estimates of the useful life and the residual value of property, plant and equipment 
are required in order to apply an adequate rate of transferring the economic benefits 
embodied in these assets in the relevant periods.  The group applies a variety of 
methods in an effort to arrive at these estimates from which actual results may vary. 
Actual variations in estimated useful lives and residual values are reflected in profit 
or loss through impairment or adjusted depreciation provisions. 

 
 (v) Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance 
 

The measurement of the expected credit loss (ECL) allowance for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost is an area that requires the use of complex models and 
significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behavior (e.g. 
the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Significant  
judgement is also required  in applying the accounting requirements for measuring 
ECL, such as: 

 
 Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk; 
 Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL  
 Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for 

each type of product/market and the associated ECL; and  
 Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL. 

 
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT: 

 
The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, 
evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is 
core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in 
business. The group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and 
minimize potential adverse effects on group’s financial performance. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

The group’s risk management policies are designed to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 
monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information systems. 
The group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, 
products and emerging best practice.  

 
The group is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks: 

 
- Credit risk 
- Fair value or cash flow interest rate risk 
- Foreign exchange risk 
- Other market price, and 
- Liquidity risk 

 
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the group’s 
risk management framework. The Board, through the Asset and Liability Management Committee, 
Treasury Department, Audit Committee and Risk Manager, manages and monitors risks as follows: 

 
(i) Asset and Liability Management Committee 

 
This committee is responsible for monitoring the profile of the group’s assets and liabilities. 
This includes monitoring policies and procedures that are established to ensure that there is 
sufficient liquidity and that interest rate risk, currency risk and capital adequacy is also 
monitored.  
 

(ii) Treasury Department  
 
This department is responsible for monitoring the profile of the group’s assets and liabilities. 
It is also primarily responsible for managing the funding and liquidity risks of the group. It 
manages these risks by monitoring the statement of financial position and ensuring that 
business strategies are consistent with liquidity requirements measuring the capital adequacy 
for regulatory and business requirements and monitoring the composition of the assets and 
liabilities of the group. 
 

(iii) Audit Committee 
 

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the group’s risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks faced by the group. The Audit Committee is assisted in its 
oversight role by internal Audit, which is outsourced. Internal Audit undertakes both regular 
and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are 
reported to the Audit Committee.  
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager  
 

The Risk manager inspects the group’s operations by reviewing new ventures and projects, 
new lines of business, and new and existing products for risk exposure. The Risk Manager also 
ensures compliance with regulations and policies. Periodic reports are prepared by the Risk 
Manager and presented to senior management and the Board of Directors.  
 
The most important types of financial risk faced by the group are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk. Market risk includes currency risk and interest rate risk.  
 
(a) Credit risk  

 
The group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that its clients or 
counterparties will cause a financial loss for the group by failing to discharge their 
contractual obligations. Credit risk is a significant risk for the group business; 
management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. Credit exposure 
arise principally in lending and investment activities. The group structures the levels 
of credit risk it undertakes as documented below. The group’s and the company’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk equals the carrying amounts on the statements of 
financial position, for the financial assets which expose the group and company to 
credit risk. 

   
The overall objective of the group is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as 
possible without unduly affecting the group’s competitiveness and flexibility.  

 
 Concentration of credit risk  
 

There is no significant concentration of credit risk in the area of loans issued by the 
group. In addition to assessment of earnings and cash flows, management obtains 
collateral in the form of hypothecated securities sold under repurchase agreement, or 
units held in any of the trusts managed by BUTM. The group seeks to ensure that the 
value of hypothecated securities exceeds the loan amount.  
 
Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of the 
customers and other counter-parties to meet repayment obligations. These are 
monitored regularly to ensure payments are received in accordance with the agreed 
terms.  
 
The group measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum 
contractual period over which it is exposed to credit risk and not a longer period, 
even if contract extension or renewal is common practice. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Concentration of credit risk  
 
The gross carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets.  
 
The following tables contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial 
instruments for which it was concluded that an ECL allowance is required. The gross 
carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk on these assets and are due within one year.  
 
Loans receivables: 

                   The Group and the Company 
   2019       2018 

                                                               $’000        $’000  
Aging of loans receivables: 

             Current  751,846 414,334 
 Loss impairment        -      (   11,270) 
 
   751,846 403,064  

 
 Investment and cash  
 

The group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing mainly in liquid securities, 
with counterparties that have high credit quality, and Government of Jamaica and 
Bank of Jamaica securities. Accordingly, management does not expect any 
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. The concentration of credit risk 
associated with the group’s investments portfolio is shown below, under the heading, 
debt securities concentration.  

 
 Collateral and other credit enhancements  
 

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit 
risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of 
different types of collateral. 

 
 The main types of collateral are as follows: 
 

(i) For loans receivables – see above 
(ii) For securities purchased under resale agreements – GOJ or BOJ investment 

securities 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Concentration of credit risk (cont’d) 
 
   Collateral and other credit enhancements (cont’d) 
 

Management monitors the market value of collateral held and requests additional 
collateral in accordance with the underlying agreements when additional collateral is 
required.  

  
 Impairment  
 
 Significant increase in credit risk  
 

 Qualitative assessment – credit ratings are associated with ranges of default 
probabilities based on historical information. Rating outlooks, which are 
inherently forward-looking, are used to determine the probability of default to be 
applied to a specific security within its respective range. Issuer-specific default 
risk estimates incorporate forward-looking information directly. In calculating the 
probability of default, the group uses credit ratings along with rating outlooks 
from recognized rating agencies, as well as issuer-specific default risk estimates 
where available and appropriate. The ratings and risk estimates are mapped to an 
internal credit risk grading model in order to standardize across different rating 
systems and to clearly demarcate significant increase in credit risk over time.  

 
A qualitative assessment is done at initial recognition and subsequently at each 
statement of financial position date and where it is determined that there is a 
significant increase in the probability of default the security is categories as stage 
2 for the purpose of calculating the ECL. If the financial instrument is credit 
impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3. Purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are 
credit-impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime 
basis (Stage 3). 
 

 Quantitative assessment – Investment securities are considered to have 
experienced a significant increase in credit risk if it is more than 30 days past due 
on its contractual payments.  
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Impairment (cont’d) 
 
 Expected credit loss measurement  
 

IFRS 9 outlined a ‘three stage’ model for impairment based on changes in the credit 
quality since initial recognition as summarized below: 

 
 A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is 

classified in ‘Stage 1’. 
 

 If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is 
identified, the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed 
to be credit-impaired.  
 

 If the financial instrument is credit impaired, the financial instrument is then 
moved to ‘Stage 3’. 
 

 Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to 
the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events 
possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in stages 2 or 3 have their ECL 
measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis. 
 

 A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should 
consider forward-looking information. 
 

 Purchased or originated credit-impairment financial assets are those financial 
assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always 
measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3). 

 
The group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with debt 
investments. The ECL recognized by the group reflects an unbiased and probability 
weighted amounts that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, the 
time value money and reasonable and supportable information that is available 
without undue cost at the reporting date. The ECL is the product of the Probability of 
Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD).  

 
The PD presents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation, 
either over the next 12 months or over the remaining lifetime of the obligation.  

 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements



BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. APO PROSPECTUS 2020 |  139

 
 
 
 

Page 39 
 

BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Impairment (cont’d) 
 
 Expected credit loss measurement (cont’d) 
 

EAD is based on the amounts the group expects to be owed at the time of default, 
over the next 12 months or over the remaining lifetime.  

 
LGD represents the group’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. 
LGD is calculated on a 12 month or a lifetime basis, where 12 month LGD is the 
percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs in the next 12 months 
and lifetime LGD is a percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs 
over the remaining expected lifetime of the loan.  
 
All of the group’s debt investments at amortised cost and FVOCI are considered to 
have low credit risk and the loss allowance recognized during the period was 
therefore limited to 12 months expected losses. Management considers ‘low credit 
risk’ for bonds to be those with an investment grade or high yield credit rating with 
at least one major rating agency. Other instruments are considered to be low credit 
rating with at lease one major rating agency. Other instruments are considered to be 
low credit risk when they have a low risk of default and the issuer has a strong 
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.  
 
The loss allowance for debt investments at FVOCI is recognized in profit or loss and 
reduces the fair value loss otherwise recognized in OCI.  
 
The loss allowance for debt investments at FVOCI and at amortised cost as at 30 
September 2018 reconciles to the opening loss allowance on 1 October 2018 and to 
the closing loss allowance as at 30 September 2019 as follows: 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Impairment (cont’d) 
 
 Expected credit loss measurement (cont’d) 

 
               The Group 
   

  FVOCI Total  
   $’000 $’000 
 Closing loss allowance as at  
 30 September (calculated under IAS 39)   11,270 11,270 
 Amounts restated through opening  
      retained earnings   152,928 152,928 
 Opening loss allowance as at  
   1 October 2018 calculated under IFRS 9  164,198 164,198 
 Increase in loss allowance recognized in 
   the income statement during the year   123,070 123,070 
  
  287,268 287,268  
 
Impairment policy applied prior to 1 October 2018 
 
The main considerations for the impairment assessment for financial assets include the 
following: 
 
(i)  Whether any payments of principal or interest are overdue by more than 90 days 
 
(ii) Whether there are any known difficulties in the cash flows of counterparties or 

infringement of the original terms of the contract and  
 
(iii) Whether there is any significant or prolonged decline in the market value below cost. 
 
Based on the foregoing considerations, there were no financial assets which are exposed to 
credit risk, which were deemed to be impaired.  
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMNT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Impairment (cont’d) 
 

Debt securities concentration  
 

The following table summarises the group’s and company’s credit exposure for debt 
securities at their carrying amounts, as categorized by issuer: 

 
 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Government of Jamaica and  
Bank of Jamaica  15,474,749 9,966,450 15,474,749 9,479,074  
Financial Institutions 14,393,673 3,517,267 14,393,673 3,719,907  
Corporate and other bonds   3,700,330   1,979,587   3,623,800   1,746,777  

 
 33,568,752 15,463,304 33,492,222 14,945,758  

Accrued interest       219,681     213,745      219,370     201,612  
 
 33,788,433 15,677,049 33,711,592 15,147,370  
 
 
(b) Liquidity risk  

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group is unable to meet its payment obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due and is also unable to 
replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence may be the failure to meet 
obligations to repay investors and fulfil commitments to lend.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMNT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 
(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 
 Liquidity risk management process 
 

The group’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the group and 
monitored by the Treasury Department, includes: 

 
(i)  Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an 

assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of collateral which could 
be used to secure funding if required. 

  (ii)  Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can easily 
be liquated as protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow. 

 (iii)  Maintaining committed lines of credit  
 (iv)  Optimising cash returns on investments  

(v) Monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal and 
regulatory requirements  

(vi) Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities 
 

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for 
the next day, week and month, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The 
starting point for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the 
financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the financial assets. 

 
The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets 
and liabilities is fundamental to the management of the group. It is unusual for 
companies ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of 
uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position potentially enhances 
profitability, but can also increase the risk of loss. 
 
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace at an acceptable cost, 
interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the 
liquidity of the group and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.  
 

   Financial assets and liabilities cash flows 
 

The tables below present the undiscounted cash flows (both interest and principal cash 
flows) of the group’s and company’s financial liabilities based on contractual rights and 
obligations as well as expected maturity and also shows the undiscounted cash flows of 
the group’s and company’s financial assets based on expected maturity. The group and 
company expect that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date 
the group and company could be required to pay.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMNT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

 (b) Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 

 Financial assets and liabilities cash flows (cont’d) 
 

                                                  The Group                                                  
                                                      2019                                                      
  

    Within 1   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over  
    Month Months Months Years 5 years Total 
       $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Based on contractual 
    maturity  

Bank overdraft   71,819 -      -      -        -     71,819 
Due to related party  77,711 -      -      -        -     77,711 

 Securities sold under   
              repurchase agreements   11,965,068 9,279,438 4,080,814   -                 -       25,325,320 

Payables   1,739,686        -               -            -                -         1,739,686  
 
Total financial liabilities  13,854,284 9,279,438 4,080,814       -                -       27,214,536 
Based on expected  

               maturity – 
Total financial liabilities  11,965,068 9,279,438 4,080,814         -                -        25,325,320 

 
Total financial assets 11,243,486 2,998,846 1,393,212 40,504,935 11,896,987 68,037,466 

 
 The Group                                                      
                                                  2018                                                           
  

     Within 1     Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over  
    Month Months Months Years 5 years Total 
       $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Based on contractual 
    maturity  

Bank overdraft   311 -      -      -       -      311 
Due to related party  8,348 -      -      -       -      8,348 

 Securities sold under   
              repurchase agreements   6,175,433 5,239,265 1,380,699   1,567,143          -       14,362,540 

Payables    814,647        -               -            -                -            814,647  
 
Total financial liabilities  6,998,739 5,239,265 1,380,699 1,567,143          -       15,185,846 
Based on expected  

               maturity – 
Total financial liabilities   927,067    523,927    138,679 5,030,776  10,780,234 17,400,683 

 
Total financial assets 2,151,606 2,897,730 3,799,202 9,633,610 11,423,392 29,905,540 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):   
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

 (b) Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 

 Financial assets and liabilities cash flows (cont’d) 
 

 
                                                 The Company                                           
                                                       2019                                                    

   Within 1  Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over  
    Month Months Months Years 5 years Total 
       $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Based on contractual 
    maturity  

Bank overdraft   71,819 -      -      -       -       71,819 
Due to related party  17,572 -      -      -       -       17,572 

 Securities sold under   
              repurchase agreements   11,960,045 9,246,561 3,031,171      -                 -         24,237,777 

Payables   1,674,653         -              -              -               -           1,674,653  
 
Total financial liabilities  13,724,089 9,246,561 3,031,171         -               -         26,001,821 
Based on expected  

               maturity – 
Total financial liabilities   11,960,045 9,246,561 3,031,171         -               -         24,237,777 

 
Total financial assets 11,243,486 2,998,846 1,393,212 40,504,935 11,896,987 68,037,466 

 
                                                 The Company                                           
                                                       2018                                                    

   Within 1  Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over  
    Month Months Months Years 5 years Total 
       $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Based on contractual 
    maturity  

Bank overdraft   311 -      -      -       -      311 
Due to related party  1,407 -      -      -       -      1,407 

 Securities sold under   
              repurchase agreements   6,180,448 5,239,265 1,386,790   1,567,143          -       14,373,646 

Payables    690,023         -              -             -                 -           690,023  
 
Total financial liabilities  6,872,189 5,239,265 1,386,790   1,567,143          -       15,065,387 
Based on expected  

               maturity – 
Total financial liabilities       927,067    523,927    138,679   5,030,776  10,780,234 17,400,683 

 
Total financial assets 2,151,606 2,897,730 3,799,202 9,633,610 11,423,392 29,905,540 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements



BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. APO PROSPECTUS 2020 |  145 
 

Page 45 
BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

 (b) Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 

 Financial assets and liabilities cash flows (cont’d) 
  

Assets available to meet all of the liabilities include cash, securities purchased under 
resale agreements and marketable securities. The group and company are also able to 
meet unexpected net cash outflows by selling securities.  

 
The carrying amount for securities sold under repurchase agreement due within twelve 
months equals $23,139,000 (2018 - $12,807,000) for the group and $23,150,000 (2018 -
$12,807,000) for the company. 

 
(c) Market risk  

 
The group takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or 
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market risks mainly arise from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
interest rates. Market risk is monitored by the Risk Manager in conjunction with the 
Treasury manager, who carries out extensive research and monitors the price movement 
of financial assets on local and international markets. Generally, the group has a low to 
medium risk profile and invests primarily in Government of Jamaica securities. Market 
risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. 

 
(i)    Currency risk 

 
The group incurs foreign currency risk on transactions that are denominated in a 
currency other than Jamaican dollar.  

 
The group also has transactional currency exposure. Such exposure arises from 
having financial assets in currencies other than those in which financial liabilities are 
expected to settle. The group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable 
level by buying or selling foreign assets to address short term imbalances. 

 
The main currencies giving rise to this risk are the Canadian dollar, United States 
dollar and British pound. The group sets limits on the level of exposure by currency 
and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions which are monitored daily.  

 
 
 
 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 
(c)    Market risk (cont’d) 

  
(i)    Currency risk (cont’d) 

 
                                                   The Group                                       

  CAD US$ GBP Jamaican  Total 
  J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 
                                                2019                                             
 

Financial Assets   
Cash and bank balances   2,778 468,987 5,331 310,824 787,920 
Securities purchased under 
  resale agreements       -     3,130,683 -     11,548,291 14,678,974 
Marketable securities and 

pledged assets   -     5,951,955 80,754 15,938,298 21,971,007 
Receivables      -     -       -     748,517 748,517  
Loans receivables     -     -       -     751,846 751,846 
Due from related parties       -            -           -       1,624,584   1,624,584 
 
Total financial assets    2,778  9,551,625  86,085 30,922,360 40,562,848 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft    -     53,309 -     18,510 71,819 
Securities sold under  

repurchase agreement    -     6,895,492 71,162 17,126,156 24,092,810 
Payables   -     -       -     1,739,686 1,739,686 
Due to related parties      -            -            -           77,711       77,711 
 
Total financial liabilities       -     6,948,801 71,162 18,962,063 25,982,026 

 
Net financial position   2,778 2,602,824 14,923 11,960,297 14,580,822
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 
(c)    Market risk (cont’d) 

  
(i)    Currency risk (cont’d) 

 
                                                   The Group                                       

  CAD US$ GBP Jamaican$  Total 
  J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 
                                                2018                                             
 

Financial Assets   
Cash and bank balances   2,475   200,765 4,981 125,464 333,685 
Securities purchased under 
  resale agreements       -    579,551 -     3,355,940 3,935,491 
Marketable securities and 

pledged assets   -    3,729,509 89,559 9,567,796 13,386,864 
Receivables      -    -      -     437,019 437,019  
Loans receivables     -    -      -     403,064 403,064 
Due from related parties        -            -             -           72,096       72,096 
 
Total financial assets   2,475  4,509,825    94,540 13,961,379 18,568,219 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft    -     311 -      -        311 
Securities sold under  

repurchase agreement    1,618   1,662,131 78,118 12,620,673 14,362,540 
Payables   -     -      -     814,647 814,647 
Due to related parties       -             -            -             8,348         8,348 
 
Total financial liabilities      1,618 1,662,442   78,118 13,443,668 15,185,846 

 
Net financial position       857 2,847,383   16,422      517,711  3,382,373 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 
(c)    Market risk (cont’d) 

  
(i)    Currency risk (cont’d) 

 
                                               The Company                                      

  CAD  US$ GBP Jamaican  Total 
  J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 
                                                2019                                             
 

Financial Assets   
Cash and bank balances   2,778 366,168 5,331 278,277 652,554 
Securities purchased under 
  resale agreements   -      3,130,683 -     11,548,291 14,678,974 
Marketable securities and 

pledged assets   -      5,785,298 80,754 15,611,120 21,477,172 
Receivables   -      -       -     734,215 734,215 
Loans receivables   -      -       -     751,846 751,846 
Due from related parties      -            -            -       1,546,670   1,546,670 
 
Total financial assets   2,778 9,282,149 86,085 30,470,419 39,841,431 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft    -     53,309 -     18,510 71,819 
Securities sold under  

repurchase agreement    -     6,895,492 71,162 17,136,940 24,103,594 
Payables   -      -       -     1,674,653 1,674,653 
Due to related parties      -            -           -           17,572       17,572 
 
Total financial liabilities      -     6,948,801 71,162 18,847,675 25,867,638 

 
Net financial position   2,778 2,333,348 14,923 11,622,744 13,973,793 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 
(c)    Market risk (cont’d) 

  
(i) Currency risk (cont’d) 

       
                                               The Company                                      

  CAD  US$ GBP Jamaican  Total 
  J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 
                                                2018                                             
 

Financial Assets   
Cash and bank balances   2,475    180,342 4,981 59,691 247,489 
Securities purchased under 
  resale agreements   -      579,551 -     3,355,940 3,935,491 
Marketable securities and 

pledged assets     -      3,058,923 89,559 9,153,757 12,302,239 
Receivables   -      -      -     409,833 409,833  
Loans receivables   -      -      -     403,064 403,064 
Due from related parties       -            -           -           17,655       17,655 
 
Total financial assets   2,475   3,818,816 94,540 13,399,940 17,315,771 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft    -     311 -      -        311 
Securities sold under  

repurchase agreement    1,618    1,662,131 78,118 12,631,779 14,373,646 
Payables   -     -      -    690,023 690,023 
Due to related parties       -            -           -            1,407         1,407 
 
Total financial liabilities   1,618 1,662,442 78,118 13,323,209 15,065,387 

 
Net financial position      857 2,156,374 16,422       76,731   2,250,384 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 
(c)    Market risk (cont’d) 

  
(i)    Currency risk (cont’d) 

 
 Foreign currency sensitivity  
 

The following indicate the currencies to which the group and company had 
significant exposure on their monetary assets and liabilities and their forecast cash 
flows. The change in currency rate below represents management’s assessment of a 
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis 
represents outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts 
their translation at the year-end for a 6% devaluation and 4% revaluation in the 
value of the Jamaican dollar (JMD) (2018 – 4% devaluation and 2% revaluation). The 
sensitivity analysis includes cash and bank balances, securities purchased under 
resale agreements, marketable securities and securities sold under repurchase 
agreements.  

 
                                         The Group and Company                                                
  Effect on 
 % Change Effect on Effect on other  % Change Effect on  Other  
 In Currency Profit components of in Currency Profit components 
 Rate before Tax Equity Rate before Tax of Equity 

            2019 2019 2019 2018 2018 2018 
 Currency           $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 

CAD  
 (devaluation   
 of JMD) 6 167 -    4 34 -    

CAD  
 (revaluation 
 of JMD  4 (111) -    2 17 -       

USD  
 (devaluation   

of JMD) 6 151,967 874,300 4 113,895 65,099  
USD  
 (revaluation   

of JMD) 4 (101,311) (437,150) 2 (  56,948) ( 229,834)  
GBP  
 (devaluation   

of JMD) 6 895 -    4 657     -      
GBP 
 (revaluation   
of JMD)               4 (      597) -   2 (      328) -      

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 
(c)    Market risk (cont’d) 

 
 (ii)   Interest rate risk  

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 

 
Floating rate instruments expose the group to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed 
interest rate instruments expose the group to fair value interest risk. 

 
The group’s interest rate policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by 
maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments. The policy 
also requires the group to manage the maturities of interest bearing financial assets 
and interest bearing financial liabilities. The Board sets limits on the level of 
mismatch of interest rate re-opening that may be unknown, which is monitored 
daily by the Treasury Department. 

 
The following tables summaries the group’s and company’s exposure to interest 
rate risk. It includes financial instrument at carrying amounts, categories by the 
earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
30 SEPTEMBER 2019 

5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

 (iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
                                                                  The Group                                                                 
                                                                    2019                                                                         
   

 Immediately   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over Non-rate 
 rate sensitive   Months Months Years 5 Years sensitive  Total  
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Assets    
Cash and bank balances 787,920 -      -      -     -      -        787,920 
Securities purchased 
under resale agreements 11,230,646 2,975,849 405,000 67,479 -      -       14,678,974 

Marketable securities 
and pledged assets  -         295,795 994,531 12,858,876 7,686,644 135,161 21,971,007 

Receivables -        -      -      - -      748,517 748,517  
Loan receivables  751,846 -      -      - -      -      751,846 
Due from related parties       -          -       -       -  -      1,624,584 1,624,584   
Total financial assets  12,770,412 3,271,644 1,399,531 12,926,355 7,686,644 2,508,262 40,562,848 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft  71,819 -       -       -       -      -    71,819 
Securities sold under  
   repurchase agreements  11,884,974 9,202,900 1,981,528 1,023,408 -        -       24,092,810 
Payables  -        -      -      -       -     1,739,686 1,739,686 
Due to related parties          -        -      -        -       -     77,711 77,711 
 
Total financial liabilities  11,956,793 9,202,900 1,981,528 1,023,408 -     1,817,397 25,982,026 
Total interest repricing  
gap       813,619 (5,931,256) (   581,997) 11,902,947 7,686,644 690,865 14,580,822  

 
Cumulative gap      813,619 (5,117,637) (5,669,634) 6,203,313 13,889,957 14,580,822 -        

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
30 SEPTEMBER 2019 

5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

 (iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
                                                                  The Group                                                                 
                                                                    2018                                                                         
   

 Immediately   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over Non-rate 
 rate sensitive   Months Months Years 5 Years sensitive  Total  
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Assets    
Cash and bank balances 333,685 -      -     -     -     -         333,685  
Securities purchased 
under resale agreements 2,079,351 1,828,934 27,206 - -     -       3,935,491 

Marketable securities 
and pledged assets  50,070 33,347 2,527,030 2,711,116 8,065,301 -    13,386,864 

Receivables -         -      -     - -      437,019 437,019  
Loan receivables  403,064 -      -     - -      -       403,064 
Due from related parties      -          -        -      -  -      72,096 72,096      
Total financial assets  2,866,170 1,862,281 2,554,236 2,711,116 8,065,301 509,115 18,568,219 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft  311 -       -     -      -     -      311 
Securities sold under  
   repurchase agreements  6,169,342 5,239,265 1,386,790 1,567,143 -     -      14,362,540  
Payables  -         -      -    -      -     814,647 814,647 
Due to related parties        -                -               -             -      -     8,348 8,348 
 
Total financial liabilities  6,169,653 5,239,265 1,386,790 1,567,143     -    822,995 15,185,846 
Total interest repricing  
gap  (3,303,483) (3,376,984) 1,167,446 1,143,973 8,065,301 (  313,880) 3,382,373  

 
Cumulative gap (3,303,483) (6,680,467) (5,513,021) (4,369,048) 3,696,253 3,382,373 -     

Year ended 30 September 2019
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
30 SEPTEMBER 2019 

5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

 (iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
                                                                    The Company                                                             
                                                                      2019                                                                        

       
 Immediately   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over Non-rate 

 rate sensitive   Months Months Years 5 Years sensitive  Total  
          $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Assets    
Cash and bank balances 652,554 -      - -      -       -         652,554  
Securities purchased 
under resale agreements 11,230,646 2,975,849 405,000 67,479 -     -       14,678,974 

Marketable securities 
and pledged assets  -       7,883 942,723 13,034,085 7,492,481 -       21,477,172 

Receivables -       -    -    - -     734,215 734,215  
Loan receivables  751,846 -    -    -  -     -      751,846 
Due from related parties          -       -      -     -   -     1,546,670 1,546,670   
Total financial assets  12,635,046 2,983,732 1,347,723 13,101,564 7,492,481 2,280,885 39,841,431 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft  71,819 -     -      -       -     -  71,819 
Due to related parties  -      -    -     -       -     17,572    17,572 
Securities sold under  
  repurchase agreements  11,884,974 9,213,684 1,981,528 1,023,408 -     -     24,103,594  
Payables           -       -     -     -       -     1,674,653 1,674,653  
 
Total financial liabilities  11,956,793 9,213,684 1,981,528 1,023,408 -     1,692,225 25,867,638  
Total interest repricing  
gap       678,253 (6,229,952) (   633,805) 12,078,156 7,492,481 588,660 13,973,793  
  

Cumulative gap      678,253 (5,551,699) (6,185,504) 5,892,652 13,385,133 13,973,793 -       

Year ended 30 September 2019
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
30 SEPTEMBER 2019 

5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
  

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
                                                                    The Company                                                             
                                                                      2018                                                                        

       
 Immediately   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over Non-rate 

 rate sensitive   Months Months Years 5 Years sensitive  Total  
          $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Assets    
Cash and bank balances 247,489 - - -       -       -        247,489   
Securities purchased 
under resale agreements 2,079,351 1,828,934 27,206 - -      -      3,935,491 

Marketable securities 
and pledged assets  50,070   3,478 2,475,222 2,471,271 7,302,198 -      12,302,239 

Receivables -       -     -     - -     409,833 409,833  
Loan receivables  403,064 -     -     - -     -     403,064 
Due from related parties         -      -      -      -  -     17,655 17,655     
Total financial assets  2,779,974 1,832,412 2,502,428 2,471,271 7,302,198 427,488 17,315,771 

 
Financial Liabilities  
Bank overdraft  311 -       -     -      -     -      311 
Due to related parties  -       -     -     -      -     1,407 1,407 
Securities sold under  
Repurchase agreements  6,180,448 5,239,265 1,386,790 1,567,143  -     -     14,373,646 
Payables         -       -     -     -      -     690,023 690,023 
 
Total financial liabilities  6,180,759 5,239,265 1,386,790 1,567,143      -     691,430 15,065,387 
Total interest repricing  
gap  (3,400,785) (3,406,853) 1,115,638 904,128 7,302,198 (  263,942) 2,250,384  
  

Cumulative gap (3,400,785) (6,807,638) (5,692,000) (4,787,872) 2,514,326 2,250,384 -      

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019  
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
  

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 

Average effective yields by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates: 
 

                                                        The Group and Company                                  
                                                                     2019                                                    

       
 Immediately   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over  

 rate sensitive   Months Months Years 5 Years Average 
             % % % % % %     
 

Marketable securities  
denominated in JA$ - 2.00 3.00 6.00 10.00 5.25 
Marketable securities  
denominated in US$ - - 5.00 6.00 8.00 6.33 
Marketable securities  
denominated in GBP - - -    10.00 5.75 7.88 
Securities purchased under  
resale agreements-denominated  
in JA$ - 2.53 3.29 -   - 2.30 
Securities purchased under  
resale agreements-denominated  
in US$ - 2.57 -    2.50 - 2.30 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in JA$ - 2.13 2.68 -   - 2.00 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in US$ - 1.97 1.68 -   - 1.69 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in GBP         - 0.70 0.70 0.40 - 0.60 

 
Yields are based on book value and contractual interest rate adjusted for amortization of premium 
and discounts.  
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 

Average effective yields by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates: 
 

                                                       The Group and Company                                  
                                                                     2018                                                    

       
 Immediately   Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over  

 rate sensitive   Months Months Years 5 Years Average 
             % % % % % %     
 

Marketable securities  
denominated in JA$ - 2.00 7.00 7.00 10.00 6.50 
Marketable securities  
denominated in US$ - 2.00 9.00 7.00 7.00 6.25 
Marketable securities  
denominated in GBP - - - 10.00 6.00 8.00 
Securities purchased under  
resale agreements-denominated  
in JA$ - 2.00 3.00 5.00 - 3.33 
Securities purchased under  
resale agreements-denominated  
in US$ - 1.00 2.00 - - 1.50 
Securities purchased under  
resale agreements-denominated  
in GBP - 1.00 - 1.00 - 1.00 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in JA$ - 6.89 7.89 - - 7.39 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in US$ - 2.78 0.89 0.14 - 1.27 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in GBP               - 0.48 1.25 - - 0.87 
Securities sold under resale  
agreements-denominated  
in CAD$               - -   - 1.00 - 1.00 

 
Yields are based on book value and contractual interest rate adjusted for amortization of premium 
and discounts.  
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
  

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 

Interest rate sensitivity  
 

The following table indicate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rate, with all other variables held constant on the group’s and company’s profit or loss 
and shareholders’ equity. 

 
The sensitivity of the profit or loss for the year is the effect of the assumed changes in 
interest rates on profit before taxation based on the floating rate non-trading financial 
assets and financial liabilities. The sensitivity of shareholders’ equity is calculated by 
revaluing fixed rate fair value through OCI and FVPL financial assets for the effects of 
the assumed changes in interest rates. The change in the interest rates will impact the 
financial assets and liabilities differently. Consequently, individual analyses were 
performed. The effect on profit before taxation and other components of equity below 
is the total of the individual sensitivities done for each of the assets and liabilities.  

 
  Effect on  Effect on   
 Effect on Other  Effect on Other 
 Profit before Components Profit before Components 
 Taxation of Equity Taxation of Equity  
 2019 2019 2018 2018 
             $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

                                      The Group                              
Change in basis points  
-100/-100 (2018: -100/-100) 119,962 (23,303) 33,496 (25,423)  
+100/+100 (2018: +100/+100)00 (119,962) 23,303 (33,496) 25,423 
   
 

                                      The Company                          
Change in basis points  
-100/-100 (2018: -100/-100) 119,962 (23,226) 34,390 (26,094)  
+100/+100 (2018: +100/+100)00 (119,962) 23,226 (34,390) 26,094 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 

(c)   Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(iii)    Price risk 
 

Price risk is the risk that the value of financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in the market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to 
the individual instruments or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in 
the market. The group and the company are exposed to equity securities price risk 
because of certain equity and unit investments which they hold. 

 
The table below summarizes the impact of increases/decreases on the group’s and 
company’s net other comprehensive income (before taxation) resulting from a 
reasonably possible change in market prices. There would be no impact on profit 
before taxation as the equities are classified as fair value through other 
comprehensive income. The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity and 
unit trust prices had increased/decreased by 10% (2018 - 10%). 

 
 
 Effect on Effect on  
 Other Other 
 Comprehensive  Comprehensive  
 Income before Income before 
 Taxation Taxation  
 2019 2018 
                   $’000 $’000 
                             The Group                   
Changes in index 
  
+10% (2018: +10%) 118,463 124,105  
-10%  ( 2018: -10%)               (118,463)  (124,105)  
 
                             The Company              
Changes in index 
  
+10% (2018: +10%) 76,764 133,312  
-10%  (2018: -10%)               (76,764) (133,312)  
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  

 
(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d)  
 

(d) Capital Management   
 

The group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the equity 
on the face of the statements of financial position, are: 

 
(i) To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the markets where 

the group provides returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 
(ii) To safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can 

continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 
(iii) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.  

 
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored regulatory by the group’s 
management employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the FSC. The 
required information is filed with FSC on a monthly basis. 

 
The company and its subsidiary, BUTM are both regulated by the FSC. 

 
The FSC requires each bank or banking group to: 

 
(i) Hold the minimum level of the tier 1 capital as a percentage of total capital base. 
(ii)  Maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets. 

 
The group’s regulatory capital is managed by its Treasury Departments and Risk Manager 
and is divided into two tiers:  

 
(i)  Tier 1 capital: share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by 

appropriations of retained earnings. The book value of goodwill, if any, is deducted 
in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and 

(ii)  Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment 
allowances and unrealized gains arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments 
held as available for sale. 

 
The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five weights classified 
according to the nature of and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks 
associated with each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or 
guarantees. 

 
As at the reporting date, the group was in compliance with all of the externally imposed 
capital requirements to which it is subject.  

 
 

 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements



BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. APO PROSPECTUS 2020 |  161 
Page 61 

BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):  
 

(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(e) Fair values of financial instruments 
 

The following table presents the group’s and company’s financial assets that are 
measured at fair value. There are no liabilities that are measured at fair value at the 
year end and the group has no instruments classified in Level 3 during the year. There 
were no transfers between levels during the year.  

 
                       The Group                        
                             2019                            
 
 Level 1 Level 2 Total 
     $’000 $’000 $’000 
Investment securities fair value  
through profit or loss   
Equity securities 997,859 186,774 1,184,633 
 
Investment securities fair value  
 through other comprehensive income     
Debt securities        -      19,328,829 19,328,829 
  
 997,859 19,515,603 20,513,462 
  
  
                             2018                            
 Level 1 Level 2 Total 
     $’000 $’000 $’000  
Available-for-sale financial assets-  
Equity securities 965,715 306,060 1,271,775  
Debt securities         -     12,120,190 12,120,190 
 
 965,715 12,426,250 13,391,965 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 

 
(iv) Risk Manager (cont’d) 
 

(e) Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

                      The Company                    
                             2019                            
 Level 1 Level 2 Total 
     $’000 $’000 $’000 
Investment securities fair value  
through profit or loss   
Equity securities 697,968 69,669 767,637 
 
Investment securities fair value  
 through other comprehensive income     
Debt securities        -      19,251,988 19,251,988 
  
 697,968 19,321,657 20,019,625  
  
                             2018                            
 Level 1 Level 2 Total 
     $’000 $’000 $’000  
Available-for-sale financial assets-  
Equity securities 801,832 86,916 888,748 
Debt securities         -     11,387,870 11,387,870 
 
 801,832 11,474,786 12,276,618 

 
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in an active market for which there are no 
quoted market prices, is determined by using valuation techniques. When using valuation 
techniques, the group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market 
conditions existing at year end. The following methods and assumptions have been used.  

 
(i)    Investments securities classified as fair value through profit or loss and fair value through 

other comprehensive income are measured at fair value by reference to quoted market 
prices when available. If quoted prices are not available, then fair values estimated on the 
basis of pricing models or other recognized valuation techniques. 

 
(ii)   The fair value of liquid assets and other assets maturing within three months is assumed to 

approximate their carrying amount. The assumption is applied to liquid assets and the short 
term elements of all other financial instruments. 

 
(iii)  The fair value of variable rate financial instruments is assumed to approximate their 

carrying value. 
 
(iv)  The fair value of securities sold under agreements to repurchase is approximately their 

carrying amounts, due to short term maturity on these instruments. 
 
(v)  Equity security for which fair values cannot be measured reliably are recognized at cost less 

impairment. 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
6. SEGMENT REPORTING:   
 

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board of 
Directors that are used to make strategic decisions. The group is organized and managed in business 
segments based on its business activities which are all located in Jamaica. The designated segments 
are as follows: 

 
(a) Fixed income – this includes money market activities and securities broking  
(b) Funds management – this includes the administration of a number of unit trust funds  
(c) Other operations – this includes the operation of foreign exchange cambio, stock broking 

and any other income. 
 

The Board of Directors assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of 
adjusted profit before tax. The segment information provided to the Board of Directors for the 
reportable segments for the year is as follows: 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D):  
 

                                      The Group                              
                                 2019                                       

 Fixed Funds   
 Income Management Other Group 
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Total segment revenue  2,119,542 998,947 2,890,057 6,008,546 
Inter-segment revenue (       5,791)       -      ( 1,115,449) (1,121,240) 
Total gross external revenue  2,113,751 998,947 1,774,608 4,887,306 
  
Total expenses  (   881,155) (117,059) -     (  998,214) 
Inter-segment expense         -          5,791          -          5,791 

  
 (   881,155) (111,268)         -      (   992,423) 

Segment results  1,232,596 887,689 1,774,608 3,894,883 
 
Unallocated expenses    (1,440,559) 
 
Profit before tax     2,454,324  
Taxation     (   741,543) 
 
Net profit    1,712,781 

  
Segment assets  35,165,373 1,665,689 1,742,792 38,573,854  
Inter-segment assets           -      (   943,142)       -       (   943,142) 
 
Net-segment assets 35,165,373    722,547 1,742,792 37,630,712 
Unallocated assets       3,373,942 
 
Total assets     41,004,654 

   
    

Segment liabilities 24,103,594 368,810 -      24,472,404 
Inter- segment liabilities  (      10,784)        -             -     (       10,784) 
 
Net segment liabilities  24,092,810 368,810         -     24,461,620 
Unallocated liabilities       2,873,756 
 
Total liabilities      
Other segment items  27,335,376 

 
Depreciation (Note 18) 26,560 163 -     26,723 
Amortization (Note 19)       6,353       -           -             6,353 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D): 

                                      The Group                              
                                 2018                                       

 Fixed Funds   
 Income Management Other Group 
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Total segment revenue  1,073,035 505,210 326,075 1,904,320  
Inter-segment revenue (        1,479)         -             -      (       1,479) 
Total gross external revenue  1,071,556    505,210   326,075 1,902,841 
  
Total expenses  (    599,657) (    94,165) -      (    693,822) 
Inter-segment expense          -             1,479        -              1,479 

 (    599,657) (    92,686)        -      (    692,343) 
 

Segment results      471,899   412,524   326,075 1,210,498  
Unallocated expenses    (    666,811)  
 
Profit before tax     543,687 
Taxation     (    180,446) 
 
Net profit        363,241 

  
Segment assets  15,353,358 1,310,218 1,121,067  17,784,643 
Inter-segment assets          -        (     48,147)         -      (      48,147) 
 
Net-segment assets 15,353,358 1,262,071 1,121,067  17,736,496  
Unallocated assets       1,146,047  
 
Total assets     18,882,543 

    
Segment liabilities 14,188,714 189,308 -      14,378,022 
Inter- segment liabilities  (       11,106)        -       -      (       11,106) 
 
Net segment liabilities  14,177,608    189,308 -      14,366,916 
Unallocated liabilities       1,449,555 
 
Total liabilities     15,816,471 
Other segment items  

 
Depreciation (Note 18) 18,883 1,148 -      20,031 
Amortization (Note 19)      38,799         -            -            38,799 
  

 
Revenue between segments is recorded on the basis outlined in Note 3 (c). The accounting policies used to 
record income, assets and liabilities are consistent for all segments. There was no change in the method 
used to determine reportable segments when compared to the previous year.  
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D):  
 

Profit from the reportable segments is reconciled to the group’s profit before taxation as follows: 
 

           The Group              
  2019 2018  
    $’000 $’000  
 
Profit from reportable segments     3,894,883 1,210,498  
Unallocated costs -  
  Operating expenses    (1,440,559) (   666,811)  
  
   2,454,324    543,687 
    

Reportable segments assets are reconciled to the groups’ total assets as follows: 
 

           The Group              
  2019 2018  
    $’000 $’000  
 
Segment assets from reportable segments      37,630,712 17,732,120  
Unallocated assets -  
  Cash and bank balances    652,554 333,685  
  Receivables    734,215 437,019  
  Due from related parties    1,546,670 72,096  
  Property, plant and equipment   351,972 243,533  
  Intangible assets    33,531 9,090  
  Investments          55,000       55,000    
  
   41,004,654 18,882,543 
  

  
Reportable segments liabilities are reconciled to the group’s total liabilities as follows: 

 
           The Group              
  2019 2018  
    $’000 $’000  
 
Segment assets from reportable segments      24,461,620 14,362,540  
Unallocated liabilities -  
  Bank overdraft    71,819 311  
  Payables     1,674,653 814,647  
  Due to related parties    17,572 8,348     
Taxation payable   543,358 44,612     
Deferred tax liabilities       566,354      586,014  

  
   27,335,376 15,816,472 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
7. STAFF COSTS:  

  
 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Wages and salaries   416,477 277,415 377,377 227,924  
Commissions 46,927 35,432 46,927 35,432  
Statutory contributions 40,263 27,431 37,704 25,151  
Pension costs 20,923 13,373 19,428 12,266  
Other staff benefits    28,960   31,759   26,590   26,748  

 
 553,550 385,410 508,026 327,521  
  

8. EXPENSES BY NATURE:  
 

Total direct and administration expenses: 
 The Group         The Company 

  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Advertising and promotion   92,380 31,574 86,598 24,519  
Assets tax 43,300 36,083 40,573 33,897  
Auditor’s remuneration 9,055 6,300 5,000 3,500  
Bad debt 60,162 12,092 60,162 12,092       
Bank charges and interest 16,106 13,122 13,002 9,606  
Depreciation and amortization   
(Notes 18 and 19) 33,076 58,830 32,913 57,682  

Directors’ fees 21,850 6,485 19,825 6,485  
Donations 50,641 31,407 50,598 31,100  
Expected credit losses  123,070 -     107,442 -          
Insurance 12,121 7,890 12,121 7,890   
Office expenses 20,416 11,615 17,755 9,410  
Professional fees 50,335 47,327 42,572 44,360  
Registration and license fees 19,762 6,690 15,357 6,231  
Rent  7,601 4,495 7,601 4,041  
Management fees 255,000 -    255,000 -    
Repairs and maintenance 14,560 5,923 14,447 5,745  
Security costs  15,403 7,087 15,403 7,087  
Software maintenance  27,644 14,962 27,644 14,962  
Staff costs (Note 7) 553,550 385,410 508,026 327,521  
Utilities 11,375 10,165 7,857 7,757  
Other expenses        88,043   63,519     85,663   53,276  

 
 1,525,450 760,976 1,425,559 667,161 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
9.  TAXATION EXPENSE:  
 

(a) Income tax is computed on the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation purposes, and   
comprises income tax at 33 1/3%: 

 
 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
Current year tax charge    823,821 132,484 567,752 22,275 
Prior year over provision    (    5,525) -      (    9,014) -      
Deferred income tax (Note 22) (  76,753)   47,962 (  87,436)  36,649  
 
Tax charge 741,543 180,446 471,302 58,924 
    

(b) Reconciliation of applicable tax expense to effective tax charge. 
 

The group’s and company’s taxation expense differ from the theoretical amount that would 
arise from the profit before tax using the applicable tax rate of the group and the company 
as follows: 

 
 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

 Profit before taxation    2,454,324 543,687 2,786,518  79,342  
 

 Tax calculated at 33 1/3 % 818,108 181,229 928,839   26,447  
 Adjusted for the effects of: 

Income not subject to tax  (  107,955) (  41,631) (   448,770) (  11,045)   
Expenses not allowable for tax  
purpose 160,445 62,434  137,921 57,112  
Other charges and allowances    (   129,055) (   21,586) (   146,688) (  13,590)  
 
Tax charge    741,543 180,446    471,302   58,924 
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9.  TAXATION EXPENSE (CONT’D):  

 
(c) The gains/losses recorded in other comprehensive income and related tax charges/credits are as 

follows:  
 

                                                  The Group                                             
                   2019                                    2018        
 $’000 $’000                  
   

    Before tax Taxation After tax Before tax Taxation  After tax 
 Revaluation gains on  
    property, plant and  
    equipment net of taxes  27,500 (   9,167) 18,333 -       -      -        
 

 Unrealised losses on 
  securities at FVOCI  

   (2018: Available 
                -for-sale)  (705,401) 235,134 (470,267) (  644,797) 209,437 (435,360) 
 

ECL adjustment on  
   securities at FVOCI 122,614 (  40,871) 81,743 -       -      -      

   
  
 Realized gains on   

  securities at FVOCI  
(2018: available-for-sale   
         security)  900,303 (300,101) 600,202  1,154,438 ( 395,330)  759,108

   
  

 345,016 (115,005) 230,011    509,641 ( 185,893)  323,748
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
9.  TAXATION EXPENSE (CONT’D):  

 
(c) The gains/losses recorded in other comprehensive income and related tax charges/credits are as 

follows (cont’d): 
 
 

                                                  The Company                                        
                   2019                                    2018        
 $’000 $’000                  
   

    Before tax Taxation After tax Before tax Taxation  After tax 
 Revaluation gains on  
    property, plant and  
    equipment net of taxes  27,500 ( 9,167) 18,333 -        -      -       

 
          Unrealised losses on  

   securities at FVOCI 
 (2018: Available-for-sale  

          securities) (705,401) 235,134 (470,267) (  648,782) 216,261 (432,521) 
 
ECL Adjustment on  
       securities FVOCI 107,442 (   35,814)   71,628 -       -      -     

    
  
 Realised gains on    

  securities at FVOCI   
  (2018: available-for-sale  
            securities)  825,641 ( 275,214) 550,427 1,185,986 (  395,330) 790,656

   
 
 255,182 (   85,061) 170,121     537,204 (  179,069) 358,135
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
10.  NET PROFIT:  
 

The net profit of the group is reflected in the accounts of the company and its subsidiary as follows: 
 

 2019 2018  
    $’000 $’000  
 

Holding company       1,199,767 20,418  
Subsidiary        513,014 342,823  

 
   1,712,781 363,241  
 

11.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:  
 

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in 
hand as follows: 

 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
Cash in hand     125 119 125 80  
Cash at bank  787,795 333,566 652,429 247,409  
 
 787,920 333,685 652,554 247,489  
Bank overdraft  (   71,819) (      311) (    71,819) (      311)  
 
 716,101 333,374 580,735 247,178  
 

  
Cash at bank comprises mainly amounts held in current accounts, which attract interest at 0.5% - 
1%. 

 
The group’s overdraft facilities of $35,000,000 (2018 - $38,000,000) with First Caribbean 
International Bank Limited are secured by Government of Jamaica Investment Note with a face 
value of $35,000,000 (2018 - $37,000,000). The weighted average effective interest rate on the 
overdraft facilities is 17.85% (2018 – 17.85%). 

 
12.  SECURITIES PURCHASED UNDER RESALE AGREEMENTS:  
 

The Group and company have entered into repurchased agreements collaterised by Government of 
Jamaica (GOJ) securities. These agreements may result in credit exposure in the event that the 
counterparty to the transaction is unable to fulfill its contractual obligations. Most of these 
agreements will mature within twelve months. Included in securities purchased under resale 
agreements is accrued interest for the group and company of $14,597,180 (2018 - $13,990,479). 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
13.  INVESTMENT SECURITIES: 

 
 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Fair value through profit or loss - 
Quoted equities     1,012,220     965,715     712,331     832,553  
 

Fair value through other comprehensive 
 income -  

Government of Jamaica (GOJ) bonds 15,408,817 9,940,914 15,408,817 9,453,538  
Corporate bonds 3,700,330 1,979,587 3,623,800 1,746,777  
Unit Trust Funds       172,412      275,339       55,307      56,195  
 
 19,281,559 12,195,840 19,087,924 11,256,510 

  
 20,293,779 13,161,555 19,800,255 12,089,063  

Accured interest       219,681      199,689     219,370     187,556  
  
 20,513,460 13,361,244 20,019,625 12,276,619  

Amortised cost    
Government of Jamaica (GOJ) bonds -        25,536 -             25,536  
Accrued interest  -                     84 -                   84  
Other investment securities    1,457,547           -        1,457,547           -        
 

   1,457,547        25,620   1,457,547        25,620  
 
 21,971,007 13,386,864 21,477,172 12,302,239  
Less Pledged assets (Note 14) (10,928,445) (   9,883,136) (10,928,445) (  9,883,136)  

  
 11,042,562    3,503,728 10,548,727   2,419,103  

 
At 30 September 2019, the fair value of investment securities disclosed as amortised cost was 
$1,457,547,000 (2018 - $25,536,000) and are considered to be level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 
There is no market for GOJ bonds classified as loans and receivable. 
 
(a) Funds under management  

 
The group provides custody, investment, management and advisory services for both 
institutions and individuals which involve the group making investment allocation and 
purchase and sales decisions in relation to a range of financial instruments. Those assets 
that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included in these financial statements (off-
balance sheet). At the end of the reporting period, the group had financial assets under 
management, both on and off-balance sheet of approximately $181,766,327,000 (2018: 
$94,631,205,000). 
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 
14. PLEDGED ASSETS: 
 

Assets of the group are pledged as collateral under repurchase agreement with customers and 
financial institutions.  The group also has investment securities that are pledged as security in 
relation to overdraft and other facilities with the Bank of Jamaica (BOJ) and other financial 
institutions. 
 
                  The Group and Company 
                          Asset                        Related Liability   
    2019    2018     2019   2018
   $’000   $’000    $’000       $’000 
Investment securities (Note 13) 
  Pledged with customers 10,152,894 7,340,713 10,152,894 7,340,713 
  Pledged with BOJ and other 
   financial institutions      775,551 2,542,423      775,551 2,542,423
    
 10,928,445 9,883,136 10,928,445 9,883,136 

 
15. RECEIVABLES: 
   
    The Group        The Company 

      2019      2018      2019   2018 
      $’000     $’000     $’000        $’000 
 

           Receivable from clients 102,860 31,269 102,860 31,269  
           Prepaid expenses 23,766 5,053 22,324 4,639 
           Withholding tax  346,969 351,564 346,969 351,564 
           Other  274,922   49,133 262,062   22,361 
 
 748,517 437,019 734,215 409,833 
  

Receivables collectible within twelve months amounted to $179,717,000 (2018 - $27,204,000) for 
the group and $178,275,000 (2018 - $54,015,000) for the company. 

 
16. EARNINGS PER SHARE: 
 

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding ordinary shares 
purchased by the company and held as treasury shares (Note 23). 

Year ended 30 September 2019
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
16. EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONT’D): 
    2019    2018 
  
                Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders ($’000) 1,712,781 363,241 
                Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue ($’000) 707,294 650,754 
                Basic earnings per share ($ per share)        2.42      0.56 
  

The number of shares reflects two (2) rights issue which occurred on 5 February 2019 and 20 August 
2019. The basic earnings per share has been restated after taking into consideration the bonus 
issue. 

          
17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES: 
 

Related parties are identified below, as companies with which there are common directors and/or 
common shareholders, and key management personnel.  Key management personnel are those 
persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the group, including directors and officers and close members of the families of these individuals. 
 
(a) The following transactions were carried out with related parties during the year: 

 
      The Group                 The Company   
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Barita Unit Trusts Management 
 Company Limited - 

                           Interest paid on investments (      5,791) (  1,479) (      5,791)    (  1,479) 
                           Rental income received       582      454    582        454 
 Dividend received 1,100,000      -     1,100,000        -      
 

Barita Unit Trust Funds -   
                          Interest paid on Investments (    52,226)  (48,660) (    52,226) (48,660) 
                           

Barita Leasing Limited - 
                           Interest paid on Investments         -      (     319)         -       (     319) 
  
                     Barita Group Pension -  

Management fees 32,728   23,378 32,728 23,378  
Interest paid on Investments (         605) (  6,261) (         605) (  6,261) 
 

Directors and key management - 
Interest paid on investments (    50,028) (11,638) (    50,028)  (11,638) 
 

Cornerstone United Jamaica Holdings 
   Limited - Management fees     255,000     -         255,000       -      

                           Interest paid on investment (      3,963)     -      (      3,963)       -      
 

Cornerstone Merchant Bank  
   Limited - 

                           Preference shares investment 1,450,000     -      1,450,000       -       

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements



BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. APO PROSPECTUS 2020 |  175

Page 75 
 

BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 
17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONT’D): 
 

(b) The balances at year end were as follows: 
 

      The Group               The Company    
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Receivables – 
   Barita Unit Trusts Management Company 
      Limited  30,073 -     -       -       
   Barita Pension 32,480 17,655 32,480   17,655 

Barita Unit Trust Money Market Fund  26,792 29,541 -     -        
Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund  13,356 9,512 -     -        
Barita Multiple Portfolio Funds   7,670 15,323 -     -      
 
Cornerstone Trust and Merchant Bank Ltd.  33,938 -     33,938 -     
Cornerstone Investment Holdings Ltd. 1,480,252 -     1,480,252 -     
Key management personnel             23       65          -         -      
 

 1,624,584 72,096 1,546,670 17,655  
 
 

       The Group              The Company    
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Payables - 
Barita Unit Trusts Management  
  Company Limited     -     -    -        1,407   
Barita Unit Trust Money Market Fund  123 153 -     -         
Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund  202 49 -     -        
Barita Multiple Portfolio Funds   59,814 8,146     -        -      
Cornerstone Trust and Merchant Bank Ltd.   17,572    -     17,572    -      
 

 77,711 8,348 17,572 1,407  
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONT’D): 
 

(b) The balances at year end were as follows (cont’d): 
 

         The Group                     The Company      
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Investment securities - 
Barita Real Estate Portfolio Fund    60,560 61,628 55,306 56,195     
Multiple Portfolio Fund  96,520 213,708 -     -     
Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund     15,331     10,634      -             -       
 

 172,411    285,970 55,306     56,195   
 

Securities sold under repurchase agreement  
Barita Unit Trusts Management Company 
 Limited  -      -      (     10,784) (     11,106)     

Barita Unit Trust Money Market Fund  (   175,545) (   145,266) (   175,545)  (   145,266)  
Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund  (   514,051) (   279,261) (   514,051) (   279,261)     
Barita Multiple Portfolio Funds  (2,309,557) (1,553,659) (2,309,557) (1,553,659)  
Barita Group Pension Scheme (     68,980) (     70,285) (     68,980) (    70,285)  
Cornerstone Trust and Merchant Bank Ltd.  (   884,142) -        (   884,142) -      
Cornerstone Investment Holdings Ltd. (       1,909) -        (       1,909) -      
Directors         -       (1,508,503)        -      (1,508,503)  
 
 (3,954,184) (3,556,974) (3,964,968) (3,568,080)  
  

All amounts recorded in receivables, payables and securities sold under repurchase agreements are 
due within twelve months.  

 
(c)  Key management compensation  

 
         The Group                  The Company     
  2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

  Salaries      130,740 129,060 130,740 116,854  
  Statutory deductions   7,968 10,489 7,968 10,151  
  Pension  6,689 5,829 6,689 5,829  
  Commission    16,674    8,766   16,674     8,766   
      

 162,071 154,144 162,071 141,600 

Year ended 30 September 2019
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 
17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONT’D): 
 

(c)  Key management compensation (cont’d) 
 

 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
     Directors’ emoluments 
       Management remuneration  
      (included in staff costs)  25,872 39,338 25,872 26,684  
     Directors’ fees  21,825   6,485 19,825   6,435  
 
 47,697 45,823 45,697 33,119  

   
 Interests in unconsolidated structured entities  
 

A structured entity is an entity in which voting or similar rights are not a dominant factor in 
deciding control. Structured entities are generally created to achieve a narrow and well defined 
objective with restrictions around their ongoing activities. An interest in a structured entity is any 
form of contractual or non-contractual involvement which creates variability in returns arising from 
the performance of the equity for the company. Such interests include holdings of debt or equity 
securities and investments management agreements. Structured entities are assessed for control in 
accordance with accounting policy set out in Note 3(b). 

 
The group, through its subsidiary BUTM manages a number of Unit Trusts namely: Barita Unit Trust 
Money Market Fund, Barita Unit Trust Capital Growth Fund and Barita Multiple Portfolio Funds 
(which includes an FX Bond Portfolio Fund, Income Portfolio Fund, FX Growth Portfolio, Real Estate 
Portfolio, USD Fixed Rate Portfolio, the JMD Fixed Rate Portfolio, Premium Growth JMD and 
Premium Growth USD). These funds were established to provide customers with investment 
opportunities.  

 
The unit trusts have an independent trustee. The group, through its subsidiary BUTM, is entitled to 
receive management fees based on the assets under management. The group also holds units in the 
unit trusts.  

Year ended 30 September 2019
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONT’D): 
 

Interests in unconsolidated structured entities (cont’d) 
 
The table below shows the group’s interest and income arising from involvement with the unit 
trusts as well as the maximum exposure to loss. The maximum exposure to loss from the group’s 
interest represents the maximum loss that the group could incur as a result of its involvement with 
the unit trust regardless of the probability of the loss being incurred. The income from the group’s 
interest includes recurring and non-recurring fees and any market to market gains/losses on a net 
basis.  

 
    2019    2018 
   $’000   $’000 
            
            The group’s interest – carrying value of units held 
                (included in fair value through other comprehensive  
 Income 2018: available-for – sale investments  172,411 275,339
   
            Maximum exposure to loss  -       282,642
   

Liability to the Unit Trust in relation to investment in  
repurchase obligations (included in repurchase obligations on 
the consolidated statements of financial position)  (   2,999,153) (1,978,186)
   

Total income from the group’s interests      426,670     435,254
   
 
The group has not provided any non-contractual financial support during the period and does not 
anticipate providing non-contractual support to the Unit Trusts in the future.  
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 
 

18.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:  
 

                                                The Group                                
  Office 
  Furniture, 
  Land & Machines & Computer Motor 

 Buildings Equipment Equipment Vehicles  Total 
      $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
                                        2019                                             
 

At Cost or Valuation -   
30 September 2017  239,853 54,411 52,675 26,356 373,295 
Additions   -     2,384 1,495 -     3,879   
Adjustments (       491) (  2,458) 2,170   (     534) (    1,313)  
Disposals         -           -         -     (16,087) (  16,087) 
     
30 September 2018  239,362 54,337 56,340   9,735 359,774 
Additions   47,758 22,074 24,545 27,822 122,199   
Adjustments   -     (   3,260) 76 -     (   3,184) 
Disposals   (  12,509) (      482) (     231) -     (  13,222) 
Revaluation    27,500     -          -         -       27,500
       
30 September 2019  302,111 72,669 80,730 37,557 493,067 
 
Depreciation -  
30 September 2017  15,789  34,663 44,777 8,702 103,931 
Charge for the year   5,559 2,621    8,218 3,633    20,031  
Disposals         -        -          -      (  7,721) (   7,721) 
 
30 September 2018    21,348 37,284 52,995    4,614 116,241 
Charge for the year    6,339 4,195 10,928 5,261 26,723 
Disposals  (   3,000) (      90) (      82)      -     (    3,172) 
 
30 September 2019    24,687 41,389 63,841   9,875 139,792 
 
Net Book Value –  
30 September 2019  277,424 31,280 16,889 27,682 353,275 
 
30 September 2018  218,014 17,053   3,345   5,121 243,533
   

 

Year ended 30 September 2019
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18.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D):  
 

                                           The Company                                
  Office 
  Furniture, 
  Land & Machines & Computer Motor 

 Buildings Equipment Equipment Vehicles  Total 
      $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
                                        2019                                             
 

At Cost or Valuation -   
30 September 2017  238,768 54,482 49,114 19,218 361,582 
Additions   -     1,385 1,495 -     2,880   
Adjustments   (      524) (   2,865) 1,257 1,059 (    1,073)  
Disposals         -           -         -     (  9,684) (    9,684) 
     
30 September 2018  238,244 53,002 51,866  10,593 353,705 
Additions   47,758 22,045 24,545 27,822 122,170  
Adjustments    -     (   3,260) 76 -    (   3,184) 
Revaluation  27,500 -     -     -    27,500 
Disposals   (  12,509) (     395) (     225)      -    ( 13,129)
       
30 September 2019  300,993 71,392 76,262 38,415 487,062 
 
Depreciation -  
30 September 2017  14,671  34,830 40,397 8,598 98,496 
Charge for the year   5,559 2,540    8,218 2,566    18,883  
Disposal  -        -          -         (   5,692) (   5,692) 
 
30 September 2018    20,230 37,370 48,615    5,472 111,687   
Charge for the year    6,339 4,050 10,910 5,261 26,560 
Disposal  (   3,000) (       81) (      76)     -     (   3,157) 
 
30 September 2019    23,569 41,339 59,449 10,733 135,090 
 
Net Book Value –  
30 September 2019  277,424 30,053 16,813 27,682 351,972 
 
30 September 2018  218,014 15,632   3,251   5,121 242,018 
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 
 

18.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D):  
 

The group’s land and building were revalued as at 15 January 2019 by D C Tavares & Finson Realty 
Limited, professionally qualified property appraisers. The valuations were done on the basis of open 
market value. 

 
The property, plant and equipment that subsequent to initial recognition are measured at fair 
value, are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable. The 
levels are as follows: 

 
 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in 

active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
 

 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liability, either directly (that is 
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices); 

 
 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs from the assets or liability 

that are not based on observation of market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 
 

The items of property, plant and equipment of the group and the company shown at revalued 
amounts are included in Level 2. There were no transfers between levels for both years. 

 
The historical cost of land and building is not available. 
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19.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS:   
 The Group and Company 
  Computer  

      Software           $’000 $’000 $’000 
  

At Cost or Valuation -   
30 September 2017 118,017 
Addition   13,697 
  
at 30 September 2018  131,714  
Additions      30,794   
 
At 30 September 2019  162,508  
 

Amortisation -  
30 September 2017 83,825  
Charge for the year    38,799  
  
30 September 2018 122,624  
Charge for the year      6,353  
 
30 September 2019 128,977  
 

Net Book Value – 
30 September 2019   33,531 
  
30 September 2018     9,090  
 

 
Software development costs were capitalized as it is expected that economic benefits attributable 
to the use of the software will flow to the group. The software is expected to replace the current 
investment management system used by the group.  

 
20.  INVESTMENT:   

 
This investment is in respect of the company’s seat on the stock exchange and is carried at fair 
value. The seat has an indefinite useful life and was tested for impairment. The impairment test 
was done by comparing the recoverable amount to the carrying value. 
 
The recoverable amount is based on the market value. The market value is based on the last sale 
price for a seat on the stock exchange. This would be classified as level 2 in the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 
The carrying amount would have been $2 if the asset was carried using the cost model. 

Year ended 30 September 2019
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21.  PAYABLES:  

 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Client funds   170,871 402,176 170,871 402,176   
Statutory liabilities    12,017 9,855 11,513 9,531  
Other 659,563 139,549 595,034 15,249  
Dividend payable (note 27)    897,235 263,067    897,235 263,067  

 
  1,739,686 814,647 1,674,653 690,023  

 
22.  DEFERRED TAXATION:  

 
Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using 
a principal tax rate of 33 1/3%. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities. The amounts determined after appropriate 
offsetting are as follows: 
 

 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

  Deferred tax liabilities        622,850 586,014 566,354 568,729  
 
The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period is as follows: 
 

 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

  Net liabilities at beginning of year       586,014 358,983 568,729 353,011  
  Charged/(credited) to  
    profit or loss (Note 9)      (  76,753) 47,962 (  87,436) 36,649  
  Charged to other 
    comprehensive income (Note 9)  115,005 185,893     85,061 179,069     
  Other allowances   (    1,416) (    6,824)      -           -       
 

          Net liabilities at end of year  622,850 586,014 566,354 568,729  
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30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

22.  DEFERRED TAXATION (CONT’D):  
 

Deferred income tax liabilities have not been calculated in respect of unappropriated profits of the 
subsidiary as the amounts are not subject to tax. Such unappropriated profits totaled $515,679,000 
as at 30 September 2019 (2018- $1,040,423,000). 
 
The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same 
tax jurisdiction) during the period is as follows: 
 

 
                                      The Group                                        
  Accelerated Interest Exchange Investment 

 depreciation receivable gain securities  Total 
 Deferred tax liabilities            $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  
At 1 October 2017    52,028   66,176 115,742   268,595   502,541   
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss  1,500 1,839 35,005 -      38,344 
Charged/(credited) to other  
   comprehensive income   -         -            -     179,069 179,069 
 
At 30 September 2018 53,528 68,015 150,747 447,664 719,954 
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss  1,538 1,978 10,950 -      14,466 
Charged/(credited) to other  
   comprehensive income        -         -           -     142,943 142,943 
 
At 30 September 2019 55,066 69,993 161,697 590,607 877,363 

 
  
 
    Investment Interest  

   securities payable Total 
 Deferred tax assets              $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
 At 1 October 2017    123,153    20,405 143,558 
 Charged to profit or loss     (   5,285) (  4,333) (   9,618)  
 
 At 30 September 2018   117,868 16,072 133,940 
 Charged to profit or loss     117,015   3,558 120,573  
 
 At 30 September 2019   234,883 19,630 254,513 
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22.  DEFERRED TAXATION (CONT’D):  

 
                                      The Company                                   
  Accelerated Interest Exchange Investment 

 depreciation receivable gain securities  Total 
 Deferred tax liabilities            $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  
At 1 October 2017  52,191 63,637 112,144 268,597 496,569   
Charged to profit or loss       1,522 334 25,175 -     27,031 
Charged to other comprehensive 
     Income        -        -            -     179,069 179,069 
 
At 30 September 2018  53,713 63,971 137,319 447,666 702,669 
Charged to profit or loss       1,467 5,919 25,751 -     33,137 
Charged to other comprehensive 
     Income  -        -            -       85,061   85,061 
 
At 30 September 2019  55,180 69,890 163,070 532,727 820,867 

   
 
    Investment Interest  

   securities payable Total 
 Deferred tax assets              $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
At 1 October 2017        123,153       20,405 143,558  
Charged to profit or loss     (    5,285) (  4,333) (    9,618) 
 
At 30 September 2018       117,868 16,072 133,940          
Charged to profit or loss     117,015   3,558 120,573 
 
At 30 September 2019    243,883 19,630 254,513 
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22.  DEFERRED TAXATION (CONT’D):  
  

The amounts shown in the statement of financial position include the following to be settled or 
recovered after more than 12 months: 

 
 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Deferred tax liabilities  (877,363) (719,954) (  820,867) (702,669)   
Deferred tax assets   254,513 133,940   254,513 133,940  
 

23.  SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES:  
 

 The Group         The Company 
  
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Authorised:  
Ordinary shares 14,000,000,000   
   (2018 – 1,000,000,000)                      
Preference 1,000,000,000     
   (2018 - 500,000,000) 
Issued and fully paid   
Ordinary stock units 
825,003,263 (2018 – 445,876,824) 9,887,680 745,494 9,887,680 745,494  

Non-redeemable preference shares  1,000,000 -      1,000,000 -      
Treasury shares  
10,753,848 (2018 – 1,949,508) (     188,299) (    5,067)          -           -       
 

 10,699,381 740,427 10,887,680 745,494  
 
(a) During the financial year, the company increased its authorized share capital by the way 

of a resolution passed by the board of directors on 21 March 2019, increasing the 
Authorised Capital from One Billion Five Hundred Thousand shares to Fifteen Billion 
shares. 
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23.  SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES (CONT’D):  
 

(b) On 17 January 2019, a Board resolution was passed for a non-renounceable rights issue of 
ten (10) additional shares for every seventeen (17) shares owned by existing stockholders 
of the company at a subscription price of $15.50 per share and record date of 5 February 
2019. Ordinary shares issued through this rights issue was 262,280,484 shares. 

 
(c)   On 31 July 2019, a Board resolution was passed for a non-renounceable rights issue of 

eleven (11) additional shares for every one hundred (100) shares owned by existing 
stockholders of the company at a subscription price of $45 per share and a record date of 
20 August 2019. Ordinary shares issued through this right issue was 116,845,955 shares.  

 
(d) Preference shares of One Hundred Million (100,000,000) were issued on 3 May 2019 at a 

price of $10.00 per share at 4% per annum. 
 

(i) The holders of these shares will not have the right to vote at any general meeting 
of the company. 

(ii) In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the issuer, the 
preference shareholders are entitled to receive settlement in preference to 
ordinary shareholders. 

 
(e)  BUTM participated in Barita initial public offering on 15 January 2010 by acquiring 598,000 

ordinary shares and 45,290,000 redeemable preference shares. BUTM acquired additional 
Barita ordinary shares of 50,500 and 3,713,383 during 2014 and 2015; respectively. BUTM 
sold 462, 867 and 1,949,508 shares during 2015 and 2018 respectively. During the year 
2019, BUTM participated in the Barita rights issue and acquired additional shares, thereby 
increasing the shareholdings by 8,804,340. The ordinary shares acquired by BUTM are 
treated as treasury shares in the consolidated financial statements.  

 
24.  CAPITAL RESERVE:  

      The Group                 The Company     
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Balance at beginning of the year  93,133 93,133 154,988 154,988 
Revaluation gains on property, plant  
  and equipment   18,333      -       18,333        -     
 
  111,466 93,133 173,321 154,988 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 
 

24.  CAPITAL RESERVE (CONT’D):  
 
The consolidated revaluation reserve represents unrealized surplus on the revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment less consolidation adjustments to account for the acquisition of Barita Unit 
Trusts Management Company in the Group financial statements.  
 

25.  FAIR VALUE RESERVE:  
 
This represents the unrealized surplus or deficit on the revaluation of available-for-sale investment 
securities and stock exchange seat.  
 

26.  CAPITAL REDEMPTION RESERVE:  
 
This reserve arose on the redemption of preference shares during the 2014. 
financial year. 
 

27. DIVIDENDS:  
  2019    2018 
   $’000   $’000 
 

Distribution to ordinary stockholders: 
$0.11 per stock (2018: $0.30) 49,046 133,763 
$0.82 per stock unit (2018: $0.59)    365,619 263,067 
$1.267 per stock unit - proposed    897,235      -      
 
 1,311,900 396,830 

 
28. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES: 
  
 This note explains the impact of adoption of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments and IFRS 15, Revenue 

from Contracts with Customers on the group’s financial statements. 
 

(a) Impact on financial statements  
 

The group has adopted IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 for the financial year ended 30 September 2019 
which resulted in a change in the group’s accounting policies. As explained in note 3, IFRS 9 
and IFRS 15 were generally adopted without restating comparative information. The 
reclassifications and adjustments arising from the new impairment rules are therefore not 
reflected in the statement of financial position at 30 September 2018, but are recognized in 
the opening statement of financial position on 1 October 2018. 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
28. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):  
 

(b) IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ 
 

IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification and 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, de-recognition of financial 
instruments and impairment of financial assets.  

 
The adoption of IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’, from 1 October 2018 resulted in changes in 
accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognized in the financial statements. 
The new accounting policies are set out in note 3 above. In accordance with transitional 
provisions in IFRS 9, comparative figures have not been restated. 

 
The following table explains the original measurement categories under IAS 39 and the 
new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the group’s financial assets as at 
1 October 2018.  
 

 Impairment of financial assets  
 
 Debt securities  
 

The group applies the IFRS 9 general approach to measuring expected credit losses 
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for debt securities. This resulted in an 
adjustment of $164,198,000 for the group to the opening retained earnings.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
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    BARITA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

 
28. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 

 
(b) IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (cont’d) 
   

 New IAS 39 carrying   IFRS 9 carrying 
 classification amount at 30   amount at  

Original Original under September Re-   1 October 
 Classification Measurement IFRS 9 2018 measurement    2018 
    $’000  $’000  
Financial assets 
 
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables  Amortised cost Amortised cost  333,374  - 333,374  
 
Due from related party Loans and receivables  Amortised cost  Amortised cost   63,748  - 63,748 
 
  Fair value through 
Investments at fair value  other comprehensive Fair value through 
through profit or loss Available-for-sale income profit or loss  965,715  - 965,715 
 
Investments at fair value   Fair value through Fair value through 
through other comprehensive   other comprehensive  other comprehensive 
Income  Available-for-sale income income  16,356,610         -        16,356,610 
 
    17,719,447         -        17,719,447 
 
 
(c) The adoption of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers did not impact the timing or amount of fees and commission income  

 from contracts with customers and the related assets and liabilities recognized by disclosure requirements. 

Year ended 30 September 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements



BARITA INVESTMENTS LTD. APO PROSPECTUS 2020 |  191

A P P E N D I X  3

U N A U D I T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  F O R  T H E  6  M O N T H S  E N D E D 
M A R C H  3 1 ,  2 0 2 0

C O N S O L I D A T E D

Profit And Loss Statement As At March 31, 2020
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C O N S O L I D A T E D

Statement of Financial Position as at March 31, 2020
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C O N S O L I D A T E D

S T A T E M E N T  O F
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N O T E S  T O  T H E  U N A U D I T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S 

M A R C H  3 1 ,  2 0 2 0

1 .  S T A T E M E N T  O F  C O M P L I A N C E  A N D  B A S I S  O F  P R E PA R A T I O N

The condensed consolidated interim financial statements (interim financial statements) for the quarter ended March 
31, 2020 have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34, ‘Interim financial reporting’. The interim financial statements 
should be read in conjunction with the annual financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2019, which have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). They are also prepared in accordance with requirements of the Jamaican 
Companies Act. 

The Group has adopted the following standards and amendments to standards, which became effective during the 
current financial year:

I F R I C  2 3 ,  ‘ U N C E R T A I N T Y  O V E R  I N C O M E  T A X  T R E A T M E N T S 

The interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurements requirements in IAS 12 when there is 
uncertainty over tax treatments. In such a circumstance, an entity must consider whether it is probable that the relevant 
authority will accept each tax treatment, or group of tax treatments, that is used or plans to use in its income tax filing.

If the entity concludes that it is probable that a tax treatment is accepted, the entity must determine taxable profit 
consistent with the tax treatment included in its income tax filings. Additionally, if the entity concludes that it is not 
probable that a tax treatment is accepted, the entity must use the most likely amount or the expected value of the tax 
treatment when determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates. 
The decision should be based on which method provides better predictions of the outcome of the uncertainty.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of this amendment on the 2020 financial statements.

I F R S  1 6 ,  ‘ L E A S E S ’

The standard primarily addresses the accounting for leases by lessees. The standard will result in almost all leases 
being recognised on the statement of financial position, as it removes the current distinction between operating 
and finance leases and requires recognition of an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to 
pay rentals for virtually all lease contracts. An optional exemption exists for short term and low-value leases. The 
accounting by lessors will not significantly change. 
 For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. However, as the IASB has updated the guidance on the definition 

I N T E R I M  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T I N G
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of a lease (as well as the guidance on the combination and separation of contracts), lessors will also be affected by 
the new standard.

The Group’s earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
$1,012,424,000 by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period of 818,878,000 shares.

2 .  G A I N S / ( L O S S E S )  O N  I N V E S T M E N T  A C T I V I T I E S

3 .  E A R N I N G  P E R  S H A R E
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A P P E N D I X  4

L I S T  O F  L O C A T I O N S  F O R  L E A D  B R O K E R  A N D  S E L L I N G  A G E N T S

B A R I T A  I N V E S T M E N T S  L I M I T E D  –  L E A D  B R O K E R

B R A N C H L O C A T I O N

Barita Investments Limited – Head Office 15 St. Lucia Way
Kingston 5

Shop 2A, Manchester Shopping Centre 
17 Caledonia Road,
Mandeville, Manchester

Suite S304, Baywest Shopping Centre 
Harbour Street
Montego Bay, St. James

Barita Investments - Manchester

Barita Investments – Montego Bay
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S A G I C O R  I N V E S T M E N T S  J A M A I C A  L I M I T E D  –  S E L L I N G  A G E N T

B R A N C H L O C A T I O N

Sagicor Investments – Hope Road (Head Office) 85 Hope Road
Kingston 6

17 Dominica Drive
Kingston 5

Shop B8, 21B Fairview Shopping Centre, Bogues Estates,
Montego Bay, St. James

Shop #1, Sagicor Commercial Centre
Howard Cooke Boulevard, Montego Bay, St. James

17a Duke Street,
Kingston

6C Constant Spring Road
Kingston 8

106 Hope Road
Kingston 6

Shop #25, 12 1⁄2 & 14 Constant Spring Road Kingston 8

Units 5&6, Eight Rivers Town Centre, Buckfield, 
Ocho Rios, St. Ann

5-7 Ward Avenue
Mandeville, Manchester

6B Manchester Avenue
May Pen, Clarendon

Great George St.
Savanna-La-Mar, Westmoreland

Corner High and School Streets
Black River, St. Elizabeth

Shop #34, Portmore Pines Plaza
Portmore, St. Catherine

Sagicor Investments – Dominica Drive

Sagicor Investments – Montego Bay

Sagicor Investments – Montego Bay

Sagicor Investments – Duke and Tower Street

Sagicor Investments – Half Way Tree

Sagicor Investments – Liguanea

Sagicor Investments – Tropical Plaza

Sagicor Investments – Ocho Rios

Sagicor Investments – Mandeville

Sagicor Investments – May Pen

Sagicor Investments – Savanna-La-Mar

Sagicor Investments – Black River

Sagicor Investments – Portmore
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S C O T I A  I N V E S T M E N T S  J A M A I C A  L I M I T E D  –  S E L L I N G  A G E N T

B R A N C H L O C A T I O N

Scotia Investments – Head Office 7 Holborn Road
Kingston 10

Shop 26, Oasis Shopping Centre, 6 March Pen Road
Spanish Town, St. Catherine

132-132A Constant Spring Road 
Kingston 8

82-84 Half-Way-Tree Road, 
Kingston 10

1a Caledonia Road, 
Mandeville, Manchester

Main Street,
Ocho Rios, St. Ann

19 Great Georges Street 
Savanna-La-Mar, Westmoreland

125-127 Old Hope Road,
Kingston 6

2 Knutsford Boulevard, 
New Kingston, Kingston 5

86 Slipe Road
Cross Roads, Kingston 5

Lot 2, Cookson Pen
Bushy Park, Greater Portmore. St. Catherine

1 Port Avenue
Bogue, Montego Bay, St. James

Corner Duke & Port Royal Streets 
Kingston

Scotiabank - Spanish Town

Constant Spring Financial Centre

Scotiabank – Half-Way Tree

Scotiabank - Mandeville

Scotiabank - Ocho Rios

Scotiabank – Savanna-La-Mar

Scotiabank - Liguanea

Scotiabank – New Kingston

Scotiabank - Cross Roads

Scotiabank - Portmore

Fairview Financial Centre

Scotiabank Centre
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J A M A I C A  M O N E Y  M A R K E T  B R O K E R S  L I M I T E D  ( J M M B )  –  S E L L I N G  A G E N T

B R A N C H L O C A T I O N

JMMB – Haughton 5 Haughton Avenue
Kingston 10

11 Knutsford Boulevard 
Kingston 5

Shop 2, Roye’s Plaza
Main Street, Junction, St. Elizabeth

23 Ward Avenue
Mandeville, Manchester

Suite 1, Fairview Office Park, Alice Eldermire Drive,
Montego Bay, St. James

Shop 28B, Bargain Village Plaza 
35 Main Street, Clarendon

Guardian Life Building
2 Graham Street. Ocho Rios, St. Ann

47-48 West Trade Way, Portmore Town Centre 
Portmore, St. Catherine

Shop No. 2, Oasis Plaza
Coke Drive, Santa Cruz, St. Elizabeth

JMMB – New Kingston

JMMB – Junction Agency

JMMB - Mandeville

JMMB – Montego Bay

JMMB – May Pen

JMMB– Ocho Rios

JMMB - Portmore

JMMB – Santa Cruz
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J N  F U N D  M A N A G E R S  L I M I T E D  –  S E L L I N G  A G E N T

B R A N C H L O C A T I O N

JN Fund Managers – New Kingston 2 Belmont Road
Kingston 5

Lot 2-5 Megamart Complex 
Montego Bay, St. James

Mandeville Plaza 
Mandeville, Manchester

JN Fund Managers - Montego Bay

JN Fund Managers - Manchester
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A P P E N D I X  5 : 

A U D I T O R ’ S  C O N S E N T
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